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1. Company Profile

The Company, the earliest brewery in China, can trace its root
back to 1903 when its predecessor, the State-owned Tsingtao
Brewery Factory, was established. The Company was registered
and established on 16 June 1993, and then issued H-shares
in Hong Kong which were listed on the Stock Exchange on
15 July 1993, being the first domestic enterprise listed on an
overseas stock exchange. In July 1993, the Company issued
A-shares in Mainland China, which were listed on SSE on 27
August 1993.

The Company’s business scope is production and sales of beer,
and other related business. At present, the Company occupies
leading position in the domestic beer industry in terms of
size and market share with 57 wholly-owned and controlling
breweries, and 2 associated and joint-investment breweries in
20 provinces, municipalities and autonomous regions in China.
The Company produces Tsingtao Beer, which is the most well-
known Chinese brand in the international market. Products
from Tsingtao Brewery has been sold in 120 countries and

regions around the world.
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2. Core Competitiveness Analysis

(II) Core Competitiveness Analysis during the Reporting
Period

The brand “Tsingtao Beer”, owned by the Company is one of
the first batches of China’s ten well-known trademarks and has
strong influence and high visibility in local and international
markets. In 2023, “Tsingtao Beer” remained the top brand
value in the Chinese beer industry with a brand value of
RMB240.689 billion. The overall worth of brands such as
“Tsingtao Beer”, “Laoshan Beer”, and “Hans Brewery” owned
by the Company has surpassed RMB380 billion (Data resource:
World Brand Laboratory).

As a beer manufacturer with the longest history in China,
the Company prioritizes product quality. Tsingtao Beer
products have won several championships in domestic and
foreign quality competitions as well as domestic and foreign
customer recognition. The Company has boosted its major
production equipment to the advanced international level
through continuous improvement in recent years. Furthermore,
by strengthening management and control of raw materials,
production process, technologies, and operation procedures, the
Company has ensured food safety and excellent product quality
and maintained the consistency of product taste.

The Company spent RMB600 million on building the Tsingtao
Beer Science and Technology Research and Development
Center* (5 5" AL B 3 .0, an innovative platform with
leading technology R&D capabilities in the global brewery
industry. The Company accelerated the development of a
new high ground for beer brewing technology research with
global influence, a new high ground for training high-calibre
international talents for beer brewing, a new high ground
for multi-disciplinary international academic exchanges in
beer brewing, and a new high ground for global beer culture
communication and consumer experience. The Company
possesses the State Key Laboratory of Biological Fermentation
Engineering of Beer* (Wi £E ) 3§ I |0 X 1 B B 58 %), the
only national key laboratory in the beer industry in China. It
also has China’s first-class R&D platform, a high-caliber R&D
team, and a domestic leading capability for basic research. The
Company has also developed a number of core technologies
with proprietary intellectual property and maintained its
technologically leading position in the domestic beer market.
In recent years, the Company has launched a series of Tsingtao
Beer products, such as “Century Legend”, “Tsingtao Centennial

LIS

Journey”, “Amber Lager”, “Augerta”, “Hong Yun Dang Tou”,
“Classic 1903”7, “Keg Original Beer”, “Pearson” and “Tsingtao
IPA”, being innovative products with distinctive characteristics
that fit market needs, which led the consumption trend for high-
end beer products and further improved the Company’s brand

image.
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Industrial tourism and consumer experience bases such as The
World of Tsingtao* (7 & Wt ¥ 1 4 ) and TSINGTAO1903,
provide consumers with an immersive experience of Tsingtao
Brewery’s history, culture, and attractive quality, thereby
substantially improving the brand influence and product
reputation of Tsingtao.

The Company has production bases across China, a
comprehensive supply chain system, and a network that covers
the major markets in China with a global reach. Its business has
expanded to more than 120 countries and regions globally. The
Company has continued to strengthen promotion and deepen
the construction of market network, promote collaborative
operations between manufacturers, and optimise the division
of labor in the marketing chain. It has steadily strengthened
its ability to maintain and serve end customers, consolidated
its competitive edge in the base market and expanded market
share in the emerging markets, raised its growing market share,
and pushed for continual improvement in its market operation
capacity and profitability.
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Prepared in accordance with the China
Accounting Stardards for Business
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Enterprises(“CAS”)

1. The Group’s financial information for the year ended

31 December 2023

(Bifr : N\RW¥TFT) (Unit: RMB’000)
N Operating profit 5,736,826
I A A Total profit 5,746,407
S5 B P B 2 ] B R 3 ) T Net profit attributable to shareholders of the
Company 4,267,851
1 AR A T B BR A 1 R JE AR P 4B 25 AR A Y Net profit attributable to shareholders of the
Company after deduction of non-recurring profit
or loss 3,720,724
RENBEE N SRR TR Net cash flows from operating activities 2,777,567
A JRRE A EE A Note: Non-recurring profit or loss items include:
FeI B B R B A Profit or loss on disposal of non-current assets 178,577
PRELIE 3 R EBEYVIMM - FEBRBERBE - %  Except for government grants that are closely
PR S8 PR A ~ BN ) B A A AR R R AL related to normal business operations, comply
FHNE R 25 B BOR # B with national policies and regulations, determine
according to established standards and have a
continuous impact on the Company’s profit and
loss, government grants recognised in profits 391,134
gk [ 1B 288 SR A B A B WIRIE 2 B54h » #5 Except for effective hedging operations related
4 7 T 4 R A M LA B R A DL K to normal business operations, the fair value
i T 4 P < AR A Y AE AR changes arising from holding financial assets
and financial liabilities, and gains or losses
from disposing of financial assets and financial
liabilities 148,604
o I a5 TE 2 AP At 28 SE M SE 1Y Other non-operating income and expenses other
than aforesaid items 9,643
/NEE Subtotal 727,958
PR 2 Impact of income tax expense (159,058)
A SR SRR 25 R B (BLAR) Impact on the non-controlling interest, net of tax (21,773)
frat Total 547,127
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Summarised accounting data and financial indicators

(Unit: RMB’000)

FEATER Summarised accounting information 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
BERA Revenue 33,936,523 32,171,566 30,166,805 27,759,711 27,983,760
i as Total profit 5,746,407 5,006,141 4,478,975 3,239,549 2,726,911
S B A Net profit attributable to shareholders of the Company 4,267,851 3,710,629 3155456 2,201,324 1,852,103
SEMEATREMMRELRE  Netprofit attributable to shareholders of the Company

A 1 after deduction of non-recurring profit or loss 3,720,724 3,209,052 2,206,584 1,815,585 1,346,981
R R Basic carnings per share 3.139 2.736 2.328 1629 1371
izt e Diluted earnings per share 313 2.728 2324 1.627 1371
MBREEHBRENEASHR  Basic carnings per share after deduction of

s non-recurring profit or loss 2736 2365 1.626 1.344 0.997
MBEBEEREOHEER  Diluted earnings per share after deduction of

s non-recurring profit or loss 21731 2359 1.625 1.342 0.997
2HEEFE RN R (%) Fully diluted return on net assets (%) 1555 14.55 13.72 10.67 9.66
TIRET 3 AR R (%) Weighted average return on net assets (%) 16.12 15.30 14.47 11.13 9.97
MBEEEHERELWEEF  Fully diluted return on net assets after deduction of

BERER(%) non-recurring profit or loss (%) 13.55 12.59 9.59 8.80 7.03
MBS ZIMETFY  Weighted average return on net assets after deduction

FEENRER(%) of non-recurring profit or loss (%) 14.06 1323 10.12 9.18 725
RASTEE A B AT T Net cash flows from operating activities 2,771,567 4878771 6,043,111 4953422 4,016,553
BREETRHELMBEAREF  Net cash flows from operating activities per share

#i#) (Note 1) 2.04 358 44 3.63 2.97
Foyag Total assets 49,256,011 50,311,700 46,563,004 41,514,186 37,312,384
we g Total liabilities 21,001,264 24,039,387 22,769,313 20,146,134 17,399,013
S B ) IR 5 Total equity attributable to shareholders of the

Company 27,449,478 25,494,822 23,001,845 20,621,961 19,171,583

HEREATRANERBELE  Netassets per share attributable to shareholders of the

(it2) Company (Note 2) 20.12 18.69 16.86 15.12 14.19
FEL - B AR TE W A M BL & i R T SRR - T Note I:  In the calculation process of net cash flows from

FREIE B E A MBI SRS - S B RARNBRE
i AR it BH P 4435 B PR ek e 2 P HBE S

s ORRR A F BRI E AR R TR

T B A BRI BT B RS - A B R R IR R
i A AR i SR P 443 B R ek M 2 A BBEAS

Note 2:

operating activities per share, the numerator is
net cash flows from operating activities, and the
denominator is the total share capital including 4.43
million restricted shares that have not been vested as
of the end of the Reporting Period.

In the calculation process of net assets per share
attributable to shareholders of the Company, the
numerator is the equity attributable to sharcholders of
the Company, and the denominator is the total share
capital including 4.43 million restricted shares that
have not been vested as of the end of the Reporting
Period.
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3. Changes in shareholders’ equity in Reporting Period

(Unit: RMB’000)

RS A
PR Total

RERBAARRER Non-controlling ~ shareholders’
Attributable to shareholders of the Company interests equity
Jelbgr s
oA Other —REEEE KRN
Tk AR Less:  comprehensive BRAR General  Undistributed

HH Item Share capital - Capital surplus Treasury stock income  Surplus reserve reserve profits

o Opening balance 1,364,233 4154077 (171,855) (75,800) 1,400,704 295,012 18,528,391 177491 26272313

ARE R Increase in the current year - 54,106 (5,261) - 6,089 4267851 83,110 4,406,495

AEp Decrease in the current year (36) (127) 94,211 - - - (2,462,177) (55330)  (2424,061)

R Ending balance 1,364,197 4207456 (77,644) (81,061) 1,400,704 301,761 20,334,065 805,009 2854747

(1) JBeAR < A BB 2 I s G A B A B R R (1)  Share capital: Decrease represents the repurchase
A L o) ke JBE S BT 3K o and cancellation of restricted shares held by

resigned incentive participants.

(2)  EARART - B a2 T R B R B (2) Capital surplus: Increase mainly represents the
JBh st 5 T B > WA DB 2 T S R N grant of the restricted shares under Incentive
SR 0 B e PR S T B o Plan. Decrease represents the repurchase and

cancellation of restricted shares held by resigned
incentive participants.

(3)  JEAFIBE ¢ WA B A YO ) R ) ke B S ARG (3)  Treasury stock: Decrease represents the unlocking
B AR R W] R PR R B R A E LB & of restricted shares under the Incentive Plan,
JBE ) DA B Dol i e S R 350 D S % R A R ) e distribution of cash dividends to shareholders of
R RTE - restricted shares expected to be vested in the future

and the repurchase and cancellation of restricted
shares held by resigned incentive participants.

4) HfhsgEauks - HmEEFEREHEENITERE (4)  Other comprehensive income: Increase is mainly
ZiErHF AN MM B RE A E due to the changes arising from remeasurement
HRTEL of defined benefit plan liabilities and currency

translation differences;

(5) )R B A < 0k AR AR B B A — R B (5) General reserve: Increase represents the general

Hef

reserve appropriated in the current year;
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Undistributed profits: Increase represents net profit
attributable to shareholders of the Company in the
current year. Decrease represents the appropriation
of general reserve and distribution of dividends in
the current year;

Non-controlling interests: Increase is mainly
due to profit of certain subsidiaries with non-
controlling interests in the current year. Decrease
represents the distribution of dividends in the
current year.
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Dear shareholders,

In 2023, the domestic beer market presented a status of volatile
consumption. Enterprises above designated size in the beer
industry produced a total of 35.555 million kiloliters of beer, up
0.3% year-on-year (Data source: National Bureau of Statistics
of China; statistic caliber: all industrial corporate enterprises
with a principal business revenue of over RMB20 million per

year).

During the Reporting Period, the Company continued to
implement the high-quality development strategy. Driven
by scientific and technological innovation, the Company
accelerated digital transformation, enhanced innovative
management on all fronts, and promoted high-end, intelligent,
green, and whole-value chain development.

11
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The Company leveraged the brand and quality advantages of
Tsingtao Beer* (& ") to proactively expand the market, deeply
cultivated the strategic belt of “One Vertical and Two Horizontal”
markets, and consolidated and enhanced its advantaged position
of the base market. The Company took active steps to expand the
emerging markets, facilitated regional balanced development,
strengthened regional network construction, and continuously
optimised and improved management operation efficiency and cost
management effectiveness. Meanwhile, the Company developed
more sources of income and reduce expenditure, cut costs and
increase efficiency, and took a combination of measures to achieve
sustainable and sound growth of Company’s revenue. During the
Reporting Period, the Company achieved sale of 8.007 million
kiloliters of products, which generated revenue of RMB33.94
billion, up 5.5% year-on-year. The Company achieved realisation
of RMB4.27 billion in net profit attributable to shareholders of the
listed Company up 15% year-on-year.

During the Reporting Period, the Company continued to
implement the brand strategy of “Tsingtao Beer as Core Brand
+ Laoshan Beer as Second Brand”. In celebration of the
120th anniversary of Tsingtao Beer, the Company focused on
strengthening communication and promotion through resources,
carrying out of a series of marketing activities primarily
focusing on the sports, music, and experience, creatively
facilitated brand promotion and consumer experience, deepened
and broadened connections between the brand and consumers,
and upgraded the immersive brand experience model in all
aspects to continuously increase the brand influence.

The Company expedited the “1+1+1+2+N” product mix
development of Tsingtao Beer as the core brand, optimised
upgrading of the product structure, and sped up the
development of major single products, high-end fresh products,
and ultra-high-end star products, thereby enabling a full
spectrum of products to cover multiple channels, consolidating
and boosting the Company’s competitive edge in mid-to-
high-end markets. During the Reporting Period, there was
continuous rapid growth in beer products such as Tsingtao
Classic* (& & #8 J) and Tsingtao White Beer* (& & H ).
The Company launched new high-end fresh products, including
Tsingtao Original Beer (1L)* (& & M #1745 & JB %%) and
Tsingtao Draft (1L)* (& &M 8 1 FH/K f4li4:), and the “Fresh
and Direct Delivery” mode satisfied consumers’ demand for
fresh beer and propelled the continuous improvement of the
Company’s product structure. During the Reporting Period,
the Company achieved sale of a total of 4.56 million kiloliters
of Tsingtao Beer, up 2.7% year-on-year. In particular, the
sales volume of products above mid-to-high-end reached 3.24
million kiloliters, up 10.5% year-on-year, and the Company’s
revenue per kiloliter increased by 6.4% year-on-year.
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In the international market, the Company adhered to the
positioning of high quality, high prices, and high visibility.
It consolidated and improved its position in the overseas
traditional advantaged markets, built a global strategic map
that covers countries along the “Belt and Road” promoted
international communication, and expanded distribution
coverage in the global market. The Company’s products have
been marketed in 120 countries and regions, continuously
boosting the international influence of brand of Tsingtao Beer.

During the Reporting Period, the Company fully implemented
digital solutions, with digital transformation as an important
driver for high-quality development, oriented by demand,
driven by data, and empowered by all forces. The Company
made breakthroughs in the digitization of marketing and
continuously improved management and operation efficiency
by taking measures, including increasing the digital coverage
depth for channels and upgrading the supply chain and the
distributors’ network model.

During the Reporting Period, the Company persisted in being
driven by innovation, accelerated the conversion of old and
new growth drivers, and promoted high-quality development
through high-quality projects. The Company focused on
giving play to the demonstration role of the world’s first
industrial internet “Lighthouse Brewery” in the beer industry
and sped up the construction of large-scale, intelligent, and
green plants. Projects have been commenced one after one,
including a high-end and characteristic beer production base
with an annual production capacity of 1 million kiloliters, a
draft beer production base with an annual production capacity
of 1 million kiloliters, and a high-end malt raw material base
with an annual production capacity of 250,000 tons providing a
solid foundation for the allure of quality.

Chairman

HUANG Ke Xing

Qingdao, the People’s Republic of China
26 March 2024

13






HHFH L Report of the Directors

M8 Mr. JIANG Zong Xiang

—. SRR

A T W TSR A A S B VL o R 4 R R I A T
BB P A - S RN 5 o AR BB
R T-50 2 p A 7 e Y R WAL A

20234F 24\ 3L H B 8 B E800.7E T T > EBIEERA
N B339 44850 » B B R L i A 7 B A RN R
Wra2 74870 » BJE b7 20 =] B SR A 40 R IR AR R 1R 25 4R 1Y
FHE A R 37 24850 -

TR =4 ANNUAL REPORT 2023

[. Operations of the Company

The Company is mainly engaged in the production and sales
of beer, while its subsidiaries and associated companies are
mainly engaged in the production, sales and domestic trade
of beer. The turnover and profits of the Group are mainly
generated from the production and sales of beer.

In 2023, the Company realized 8.007 million kl of sales
volume of beer in total, realized RMB33.94 billion of revenue;
and realized RMB4.27 billion of net profits attributable to
shareholders of the Company, including RMB3.72 billion of
net profits attributable to shareholders of the Company after
deducting non-recurring gains and losses.

15
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1.

T BB A ) 0 SR R UL (5 B A 3R sk U5 1. Operation situation of main subsidiaries (calculated
in accordance with CAS)
B T BHARE
Unit: RMB'000 Currency: RMB
BT AL i WHE A BEAW
R4 Principal products or Registered Bk HHR gk ] BEBA Operating
Name of Subsidiary service capital ~ Total asset Net asset Net profit Revenue profit
TR SR A AR W BRREE 26977 275028 1,537,840 463346 2,974,142 618,211
Tsingtao Brewery Xi’an Hans Manufacturing, wholesale
Group Company Limited and retail business
A () S B AR AT i GIES LY 5,000 655,203 482,078 468492 2,383,638 624,636
Tsingtao Brewery (Pingdu) Wholesale and retail business
Sales Company Limited
WEMN B EME PR 2. Information of main suppliers and clients during the

(1) 20234F & A 1. 4 Bt B8 7% 7 W %8 £9300,164% 5T
(20224 B = 2854378 J6 ) > 4 4F & % W 4 8
18.33%(20224F & : 18.66%) ©

(2) 20234 JERIH AR F 8B R £1263,043H 58 (2022
A 2476248 70 ) > A 4R JE 8B BHT.T5%
(20224E % = 7.81%) ©

BN > AARAES - BFRIE G N ST T HF
AT B 2 T 5% 2 I SN S AT bl 2 3k £ v
B T RERR -

Reporting Period

(1)  The total amount of the Company’s purchase from
its top 5 suppliers in 2023 was approximately
RMB3,001.64 million (2022: RMB2,854.37
million), which accounted for 18.33% of its annual
purchase amount in aggregate (2022: 18.66%).

(2)  The total amount of the Company’s sales of its top
5 clients in 2023 was approximately RMB2,630.43
million (2022: RMB2,476.24 million), which
accounted for 7.75% of its annual sales amount in
aggregate (2022: 7.81%).

During the Reporting Period, none of the Company’s
directors, supervisors or their associates or any
shareholders holding more than 5% of shares in the
Company possessed any interests in the aforesaid
suppliers and distributors.
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A7 T 2 ) K S IO AR AR AR 98 B 100 H [ T2
H]-

A ISR 2 7 SEAF R A TR BR BB - DAT MOl AT
SEIR SR AR 12 BRORIBOR > B[ 3 200 e B O PR
A B IR AK - RO A WK AU > TBLBLR A AW
A IR BRI BE A > B S BRI B R AR - W
HARE IR BT > IR R BT I S S TR - B
SARAEA > ) SR A A 2K A B AR R SO P i AL -
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II. Profit Distribution and Dividend
Payout Policy

The Board proposed a final dividend of RMB2.00 per share
(tax included) for the year ended 31 December 2023, and
carried forward the remaining distributable profits to the next
year. The proposed preliminary distribution scheme of final
dividend, which is expected to be payable to the shareholders
on 9 August 2024 or around the date, will be subject to the
consideration and approval at the Company’s 2023 Annual
General Meeting. The period for closure of register of members
for H-share would be set out in the separate notice of Annual
General Meeting to be published by the Company.

According to the Articles of Association, the Company
implements a continuous and stable profit distribution policy.
On the premise that the Company makes profits with positive
accumulated undistributed profits for the current year, cash
dividends shall be paid. In the annual profit distribution plan
formulated by the Board of Directors, the profit distributed
in cash shall be no less than 30% of the distributable profits
realized in the current year. The cash dividend plan of the
Company is deliberated by the Board of Directors and approved
at the Annual General Meeting. The independent non-executive
directors and minority shareholders can fully express their
opinions, and the procedure is legal and complete.

III. Business Review

A review of the business of the Company within the year and a
discussion and analysis of the Company’s future development,
and the discussion of principal risks and uncertainties faced
by the Company are set out in “Management Discussion and
Analysis” on pages 71 to 89 of this Annual Report. An analysis
of the Group’s performance during the year by using the key
financial indicators is set out in “Financial Highlights” on page
6 of this Annual Report. Significant events occurred during the
Reporting Period are set out in “Significant Events” on pages
98 to 100 of this Annual Report.

The Company sticks to the environmental concept of “building
a better word”, the environmental vision of “being a model
of green development in the beer industry” and keeps to the
environmental mission of “promoting sustainable development
of the Company and achieving harmony with nature through
environmental protection, low-carbon management and
circular economy”. The Company constantly improves the
environmental management system, attaches great importance
to the reasonable utilization of resources, builds leading
factories through lean management, and proactively addresses
climate change in a bid to strike a balance between productivity
and ecological civilization.

17



18

HOE W K A BR A A TSINGTAO BREWERY CO., LTD.

HHEFME  Report of the Directors

AR EATRR TSRS - TRERRA B R L o
A MERT e T A RO B - Fedfi 7 AH B R AR T A4
#e o [l SR R AR R B AR DT B - AE A A W i A R ALk
AR > A R BEOR > R MR BN
PRI A o 2 R ks B e 2 S AR v BR DR S B A7 15
LR AT S PR UL > HEARTS S BB AR > BRIRAK
FHHRTE -

202348 1 > ACHE ) O 28~ S AR AR B8 A TR B AR B

AAFHRBRMOEE - F 5 REMERB LB AT 5 5% R
HIRRSE o ARG ECH SR B B BV KRB Z BR - B&EF
PROCEERE G > WoiR AT G Z B A o
A B A 2y W) BRBE B AL AT D T A 2 BN UL 2 B 4 "R
AW ZE 5 P A ol AR R W 2023 R 35 Ak R AT iR i
e

. fi

55 B P9 AR 2 T B 4 Rk £ 5 Bl R B 6 O B S R (3%
o £ 28 g T R AR L) R RE Y (34)(36)(37)(38)(39) ©

The Company assigns environmental management to
dedicated personnel who must have the required certificate
to perform their duties. The Company has amended and
improved the environmental management policy and
published relevant technical standards. Centered on its annual
targets and work guidelines, the Company has identified
management risks, quickly implemented requirements for
environment management and promoted the accountability
and appraisal mechanism for achieving the environmental
targets. The Company has strictly monitored the operations
of environmental facilities and pollutant discharge during
production to ensure stable and up-to-standard discharge and
continuous improvement in environmental performance.

In 2023, the Group has complied with the relevant laws and
regulations that have significant impacts on the operations of
the Group.

The Company confirms that its employees, customers and
cooperation partners are the key to its sustainable development.
The Group is committed to establishing a close and caring
relationship with its employees, providing quality products
to the customers and strengthening the cooperation with our
business partners. For details of the environmental and social
responsibilities performed by the Company, please refer to
Tsingtao Brewery 2023 Environmental, Social and Governance
Report published by the Company on the website of the Stock
Exchange.

IV. Reserve

Details of changes of reserve of the Company and the Group
during the Reporting Period are set out in Note 4(34)(36)(37)
(38)(39) to Consolidated Financial Statements (prepared in
accordance with CAS).
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202345 H 26 H > AR W08h 51 B 5% 8 04 TE B 4% 3 PR A
FBe S 455 — i £k 5% L 55 01 S8 1 R o e e S BRSO i
o MR BRBR B R TR - 55 A 0033 BB B 4
F£5196,667 1 P ) 42k Jie 57 Ak Bk BB o

20234F7H 24 H > A UEh 51 30 5% % 0B R 3% T IR 4
JBe S 255 — I ik 55 L 55 01 S M 1 R ) ek Pt S B B B0 i
o RERRRE G TR - BT AR 6122 R B 4
35t4,328,702 5 B ] 1 B 5 A B LA o

2023412210 » ARIEP B HELERGREE
AT WSy A W HFELSE IR T A U w8 b 7 42 SOsh
RFEH W O 352 T 1 SR A7 Bk KR 5 14936,002 /% PR itk
B 5% W T B B A o

il

iii

Changes of Share Capital and
Information of Shareholders

On 26 May 2023, the first locking period under the
reserved grant under the Incentive Plan was expired and
the corresponding conditions for unlocking the restricted
shares under the Incentive Plan have been fulfilled. It
is therefore agreed that the Company shall deal with
the unlocking matters in relation to the 33 qualified
participants with a total of 96,667 restricted shares.

On 24 July 2023, the first locking period under the first
grant under the Incentive Plan was expired and the
corresponding conditions for unlocking the restricted
shares under the Incentive Plan have been fulfilled. It
is therefore agreed that the Company shall deal with
the relevant matters in relation to the 612 qualified
participants with a total of 4,328,702 restricted shares.

On 21 December 2023, the Company completed the
repurchase and cancellation of 36,002 restricted shares
granted but not yet unlocked by the 7 participants
under the Incentive Plan in Shanghai Branch of China
Securities Depository and Clearing Corporation Limited.
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A% 23 9 A1 4 8 0 0 4 B W AT 0 T DA 74
e P07 0 0 B RO AR R - A G
28 5 R EL AR 2 LR DR ER o 24 R
ey B LB A F

Based on the public information which could be known
on the latest practical date before the Annual Report was
published, which was also known by the directors of
the Company, the number of the Company’s shares held
by the public had satisfied the requirements in Listing
Rules. Changes in the Company’s ordinary shares are
listed as follows:

Wi g
Unit: Share
ARE W AREHHH( 1+ -) AKE %
Before the change Change (+,-) After the change
PRE R
Rhes)  BHK %8 Capitalizing (%)
¥&  Proportion New shares Bonus  of common HAb Y Y& Proportion
Quantity (%) issued shares reserves Others Subtotal Quantity (%)
= ARERERS 8,890,567 0.65 0 0 0 -4,461,371 -4,461,371 4,429,196 0.32
L. Restricted shares
I~ EEER 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
1. State-owned shares
1 BERBEARR 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
2. State-owned corporate
shares
3+ MbRERR 8,890,567 0.65 0 0 0 4461371 4461371 4,429,196 0.32
3. Other domestic shares
He o SRFEEA 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
BEARR
Of which: non-state-
owned
corporate
shares
BERERA 8,890,567 0.65 0 0 0 -4,461,371 -4,461,371 4,429,196 0.32
il
Shares held
by domestic
natural
persons
4 AR 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
4. Foreign shares
e BAMEA 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
ke
Of which: foreign
corporate
shares
U LINEEIN 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
il
Shares held
by foreign
natural

persons
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B
Unit: Share
Ak ARSI+ -) AREI
Before the change Change (+,-) After the change
AN
HSM(%) BT B Capitalizing [tm(%)
¥&  Proportion New shares Bonus  of common v it &  Proportion
Quantity (%) issued shares reserves Others Subtotal Quantity (%)
- ERERERE 1,355,342,223 99.35 0 0 0 4425369 4425369 1,359,767,592 99.68
et
1. Unrestricted tradable
shares
I NG 700,273,045 5133 0 0 0 4425369 4425369 704,698,414 51.66
1. RMB-denominated
ordinary shares
2 HiW RSN 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
2. Overseas listed foreign
shares
I+ S EAME R 655,069,178 48.02 0 0 0 0 0 655,069,178 48.02
3. Overseas listed foreign
shares
b 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Others
= BERRhAY 1,364,232,790 100 0 0 0 236,002 236,002 1,364,196,788 100

Total number of ordinary

shares

21
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2

Insurance Product - 00SL-CTO01HU

B R 1. Shareholders
WAEBIR A B R AR 64,4515 o Hp 0 AB64,208 (1)  As at the end of the Reporting Period, the total number
F > Hit243%4 - of shareholders of the Company was 64,451 including
64,208 holders of A-share, and 243 holders of H-share.
AN > A R R AR A i 2 ] B A T R During the Reporting Period, none of the shareholders
B HERT DL © of the Company gave up or agreed to give up the
arrangements of any dividends.
A AR AR 2 ] T 44 B (R 2 R A e 1 3 e At (2)  As at the end of the Reporting Period, the shareholding
W) FEBeAE B of top 10 shareholders (and holders of listed tradable
shares without sales restriction) of the Company is as
follows
LY
Unit: Share
R R BASR R s
Increase/Decrease Shares held at the R (%) WaiH
iy during the  end of the Reporting Shareholding Guaranteed or BfrEn
Shareholder’s name Reporting Period Period percentage (%) frozen shares Class of share
BRI (REA)VHRAR Wik 64,100 613,993,719 4501 A il
HKSCC Nominees Limited (Note 1) Unknown H-share
FEMIEEARAT (W) 0 443,467,655 33l b ARFHE
Tsingtao Brewery Group Company Limited (Note 2) Nil  A-share and H-share
BEPAEIARAR 5,561,485 20942,776 154 f AR
Hong Kong Securities Clearing Company Limited Nil A-share
R SR SR AT 0 16,015,045 117 f AR
China Securities Finance Corporation Company Nil A-share
R RERT RO AIRAT - AN R R R R R AR 0 13,569,000 0.99 & AR
4
Agricultural Bank of China Co., Ltd. - E Fund Consumer Industry Nil A-share
Equity Securities Investment Fund
MERRRORAAMAT - REFRLER A HRFRE 2,013,494 12,239,569 0.90 E AR
4
China Construction Bank Corporation - Yinhua Wealth Theme Nil A-share
Hybrid Securities Investment Fund
R AR RO AR A - A - SRR - 005L - 6,956,631 8957587 0.66 E AR
CTO001#
China Life Insurance Company Limited-Traditional-General Nil A-share
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7y
Unit: Share
RN RSB Reb B
Increase/Decrease Shares held at the BRI (%) WhiHN
g ¢4 during the  end of the Reporting Shareholding Guaranteed or BBEH
Shareholder’s name Reporting Period Period percentage (%) frozen shares Class of share
SRR AT R O AR - B R R 2,109,836 5,142,062 038 i AR
FtES

China Construction Bank Co., Ltd. - Penghua China Securities Nil A-share
Liquor Trading ETF

PR AR ARAT - ERENR IR A TR AR K 4,800,074 035 ﬁ& Al
4

China Construction Bank Co., Ltd. - CUAM Consumer Industry Nil A-share
Mixed Securities [nvestment Fund

RERTROHRAT - SRNEEER A 1976353 4,399,167 032 ﬂat Al

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd - Fullgoal Consumption Theme Nil A-share
Hybrid Securities Investment Fund

Wak - Notes:

1. WP I T RN ) A A v R 75 ¥ b Je 45 1. Both HKSCC Nominees Limited and Hong Kong
HAHMRAF R FHER 5 BRI WA A Securities Clearing Company Limited are wholly-
2ETFAHE > FHEPTREFREN)GRAA owned subsidiaries of Hong Kong Exchanges
FrEMEBRRD IR ELZME R RS - em and Clearing Limited. The H-shares are held by
Wi 7 ML ) R AT M ELRE B 4 R © A HKSCC Nominees Limited on behalf of different
W R IR A TR R R AR B A 75 2 AR clients excluding the H-shares held by Tsingtao
ZEEFHH - Group and Xinhaisheng, while the A-shares are

held by Hong Kong Securities Clearing Company
Limited also on behalf of different clients.
2. HHAEBRREEABETEREASD S 2. Tsingtao Group holds 38,335,600 shares of

B W ) EE R R R AR A FIHB B A
#138,335,600/8t » H A B £ H A A w AR BB
405,132,055 o

B LBt > A4y v 3l A 1B T - 45 e R T R
A7 B Wt B PR R I — BUAT B

H-share in the Company by itself and through
the wholly-owned subsidiary Xinhaisheng, and
405,132,055 shares of A-share in the Company by
itself.

Save as disclosed above, the Company is unaware

if there are any associations among these top ten

shareholders or if they are of the parties acting in

concert.
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H R BB

20234212 H31H > B Falk A4b > ARA R W
HEWARAMBHEMARAFRMES BF - &
FATBON B A B g5 A DLAMI A > AR
25 R W B AR R e 4 B RE AR Bk o T
ZERE RS SR B RAR R GRZ BO BkB) (s
BBIEEST1R) (TGN B MR ]) 5336 m

3

Substantial Shareholders of H-share

Save as disclosed below, the directors of the
Company are not aware of any persons other than
a director or supervisor or chief executive of the
Company or his/her respective associate(s) who,
as at 31 December 2023, had an interest or short
position in the shares or underlying shares of the

A7 R B e 1 BT e - Company which was recorded in the register to be
kept under Section 336 of Securities and Futures
Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) (“SFO”):
L0 O TS )
UH o BAZAAR fiZHHk
Number of  As a percentage ZHA
AR 344 T kg i Related of the entire  As a percentage
Name Nature Class of Share  Shareholder Identity Note Shares issued capital ~ of all H Shares
HENHES 51 Al B 405,132,055 29.70% by i
SASACQ Long position ~ A-Share Corporate Interests NA
Ly} Hit ZA I 38,335,600 281% 5.85%
Long position ~ H-Share Interest of controlled corporation
FEROELERRAMAT  HR Hif TREAA 38,335,600 281% 5.85%
Hong Kong Xinhaisheng Long position ~ H-Share Beneficial Owner
Investment Limited
Citigroup Inc. A Hik SUHEIELS /A R Y 47,203,173 3.46% 7.20%
A/ BREEI/TREN
Long position ~ H-Share Interest of controlled corporation/
person having security interest
in shares/[nvestment Managet/
Custodian
"R Hif T e 2 1220,153 0.09% 0.18%
Short position  H-Share Interest of controlled corporation
ARG Hb 2 45,084,487 332% 691%
Shares available  H-Share
for lending
BlackRock, Inc. itA ik U R R 3 39451813 2.89% 6.02%
Long position ~ H-Share Interest of controlled corporation
FMRLLC i) Hif T 4 33,067499 243% 5.05%
Long position ~ H-Share Interest of controlled corporation
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(3)

)

(5)

2. BRI

B oh 5 T I 23 A 25 1938,335,600 /8
HJB R 75 30 75 it 4 ) 0 2 T WO 4 R W R
BREBRARA TG o MIBERW RS
25 B o TR T I 25 A 38,335,600/ HIB: A
25 o

Bt Z Citigroup Inc. Z=A R Y A R 1B 1B 2 5K
i FCH ) o 2 B R A W R o

Bt ZsBlackRock, Tnc. 5 HERG BBy RIB B %
BT Y 2 Y A R FE AT

BB AFMR LLCEEA Rl 28 1 A0 R 7B 38 2 K ih
FoAe il i A WIS A WA o

A EBERAHE MR EES R H2HE
W3 5 B A5 BB A B2 W) 48 3 (www.hkex.com.
hk) BT S FEHE R 1R 4 -

A T BERR Yl v B 5 e ol S A AR 0 e R TR AR A L
B A ) a5 S 45 Bo A 1 BUAT B SRR BRI
SR > Ay wl ZEE ST b T A B IR 4 ST IR R A L

Notes:

(1

(2)

3)

4

%)
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The 38,335,600 H-Shares which were deemed
to be interested by SASACQ were held by
Hong Kong Xinhaisheng Investment Limited, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Tsingtao Brewery
Group Company Limited, which is controlled
by SASACQ. According to the latest disclosure
of interests filings, SASACQ was interested in
38,335,600 H-Shares.

The shares in which Citigroup Inc. was deemed to
be interested were held through various controlled
wholly-owned subsidiaries of Citigroup Inc.

The shares in which BlackRock, Inc. was
deemed to be interested were held through
various controlled wholly-owned subsidiaries of
BlackRock, Inc.

The shares in which FMR LLC was deemed to be
interested were held through various controlled
wholly-owned subsidiaries of FMR LLC.

For the latest disclosure of interests filings for the
Company’s substantial shareholders, please refer
to the “Disclosure of Interests” section on the
website of Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing
Limited (www.hkexnews.hk).

Pre-emptive Right

There are no provisions concerning pre-emptive rights

in the Articles of Association or any of laws in China,

which require the Company to firstly offer new shares

on pro-rata basis to its existing shareholders. However,

the Company has to abide by the rules concerning pre-

emptive right in the Listing Rules.
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N EBHF B BHEHEABMBET VI. Directors, Supervisors, Senior
TE U Management Officers and Employees
1. 2 H) H P T 0 R PR R A B 1. Restricted shares granted to directors of the Company
e Long positions:
LY
Unit: Share
Hikhd
UHfilA  BEMR
ERRE O WCEE O BAEAR O BREREN  WARY
Rt ARRAY () Rb%E Wt
Bonde  BAEAR  Approximate Number 8 tlRE
Number of (%) percentagein  ofunlocked  Numberof  (ARMI)
restricted ~ Approximate the issued shares restricted (1)
fils B shares held at  percentage of  share capital duringthe  sharesheld Considerations CHE
4 Wit Shareholder the beginning ~ total issued of the Reporting attheend received (RMB) Total number
Name Position Identity of the year A Shares (%) Company (%) Period  of the period (Note 1) of shares held
HB(i) EHR - BEE BHER AR 100,000 00141 00073 50,000 50,000 3,177,000 136,400
[ 4
HUANG Ke Xing Chairman and Secretary of the ~ Beneficial owner
(Note 2) Party Committee and spouse’s
interest
ERM(ED) WES  BEAE et PN 73,334 00103 00054 36,667 36,667 2,329,800 102,900
EE
JIANG Zong Xiang ~ Executive Director, Vice Secretary  Beneficial Owner
(Note 3) of the Party Committee, CEO
k(i) AnES - EZ%R et PN 73,334 00103 00054 36,667 36,667 2,329,800 110,000
e
WANG Rui Yong Executive Director, Member of ~ Beneficial Owner
(Note 4) the Party Committee,
Vice President
fdk (i) AnES - EZ%R BHER AR 40,000 0.0056 00029 20,000 20,000 1,270,800 76,000
e [ 4
HOU Qiu Yan Executive Director, Member of ~ Beneficial Owner
(Note 3) the Party Committee, CFO and spouse’s

interest
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AE 1~ TR R AR R TR s A RME21.1850 -

2~ BT B W B H A 136,400 > A A A AR
it B 13 86,3008 e A M B il 1t JBt 5250,000/8% > il #y
FCABF A AL B B4 100/ -

3 FFEFERAFER 102,900/ - A F A AR T B B
66,233 5 B A BB B ) 1 gt 536,66 7 I ©

4~ ERK A FEH 110,000 > 35 75 A AR 3 8 B4
73,333/ B AR B o B 5 36,66 7B ©

5~ BREKTR o AR B FE 76,0008 > flA N A AR
I8 A 40,0008 B P il 1 BB 5220,0008 - il iy T 48 ¢
HABRIB AT 10,666/8 B B 4tk B 52 5,334 )8 ©
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Notes 1. The grant price per restricted share is RMB21.18.

2. Mr. HUANG Ke Xing is deemed to hold 136,400
shares, including 86,300 tradable A-shares and 50,000
restricted shares held by himself and 100 tradable
A-shares held by his spouse.

3. Mr. JIANG Zong Xiang is hold 102,900 shares,
including 66,233 tradable A-shares and 36,667
restricted shares.

4. Mr. WANG Rui Yong is hold 110,000 shares, including
73,333 tradable A-shares and 36,667 restricted shares.

5. Mr. HOU Qiu Yan is deemed to hold 76,000 shares,
including 40,000 tradable A-shares and 20,000
restricted shares held by himself and 10,666 tradable
A-shares and 5,334 restricted shares held by his spouse.

B 2. The shareholding of supervisors
A Long positions:
B :
Unit: Share
BA BB
AERHE IR B Shares held at
Esi e gl Shares held at the end of
%4 L7 Shareholder  the beginning of  the Reporting JBe 4y P 25
Name Position Identity the year Period Class of share
HHAT R £t 2 DN 12,900 12,900  ARFEERS
HUANG Zu Jiang Supervisor as Employees’ Beneficial Owner Tradable
Representative A shares

BE20234E12H31H 1k > Br Lak A B REBA > ARA T
BRE S B R AU N B SR AE AR ] i R
2 (R 28 AR 25 BT B 5 1) ) 58 XV I T 41 1 A 0B 42
) W By ~ R By T £ i b B R AT A 2 IR
B W% R R R IR IR EGE 5 R B R )
35245 S8 T i 1 10 26 S T i i 1) ek A e < B )3
SAR L H] B B U AL BT

A F) B ACRESE Y QA B A O W T 9S4 Rl o
o e A BN B O A B A B L 5 ) A L
B oy T S AT 8 25 5 S AT S R AL o AR ]
O 7 A7 3 5 B o A A e Al > A0S A B R R
H A Z A R R R R AT 2
U A S T AR A A O 2 P R 0 A8 B PR o

As at 31 December 2023, save as disclosed above, none
of the directors, supervisors or senior management
officers of the Company had any interests or short
positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company or any associated corporations (as
defined in Part XV of SFO), and such interests or short
positions were recorded in the register required to be
kept under section 352 of SFO or otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code.

The Company has used the Model Code and its “Rules
for Managing the Shares of the Company Held by
its Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management
Personnel and the Changes” as the code of standard
conduct for securities trading by directors. The Company
has conducted inquires on all directors and supervisors,
affirmed that they had followed the standards for
securities trading by directors as specified in the Model
Code and their code of conduct in all available periods
during the Reporting Period.
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HPR TR

MR ARS8 13.5 1Bk Z B 35 & Bl 5 W03 At i
T

3.1 AFEFHERELEINT

(1) AFESLIERTESHIK - BENEIR
B PR A B 202348104 11 H B B 92023
R R R G R A B EF
5 A 55 1 4 B TE 75 WS W <2 P AT LB 4
FHz AR - BAFEFEINBLRER S
B 7l > @ RR15000333 ©

g~ BA - ST BN AR B DL

HAFRPATES R MRS AL > FOH TR A A
B AT A L A D R A6 28 A L T 500D 40 T
Bl > 355 Rk A S TN A A SAF S o R T AR 4 R A A
N BB AL T ~ IR PRAFHESE o AURRAE 7 IR 2
FAE AR SR - R TARR B SSG UL - B R A
BN B4 B8 A 5 R A5 e o S B

3eb oy w08 S FE BUAT 9 R S B S R B RO P
(RE DL E

Changes of information of directors

The changes of information of directors pursuant to Rule
13.51B (1) of Listing Rules are as follows:

3.1 Updates on the profiles of the Company’s
Directors include the following:

(1)  Mr. XIAO Geng, an independent non-
executive director of the Company, was
elected by Midea Group Co., Ltd. as an
independent director at the 3rd extraordinary
general meeting of 2023 on 11 October
2023 which shall be effective from the date
of the H-shares of Midea Group being listed
on the Stock Exchange. Such company is
a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange with stock code 000333.

Annual remuneration of directors, supervisors and
senior management officers

For the executive directors and other senior management
officers, the Company adopts the annual performance
appraisal focusing on the working position and the
administration of target responsibilities, and the
remuneration incentive program including basic salary
and annual performance remuneration. The basic salary
is determined in accordance with the senior management
officers’ position and responsibilities, years of service,
and etc., while the annual performance remuneration
is determined and distributed in accordance with the
Company’s annual operating results, the progress of
annual work plan, the results of annual appraisal towards
the senior management officers, etc.

The annual remuneration of the independent non-
executive directors and independent supervisors is paid
pursuant to the resolution passed at the general meeting.
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8045 390 R oo 3 o 4 it
(BEwG » A oRom

AR B AR A I
BB AR A (N R 8E0)
Total Remuneration
(Pre-tax, including social
security and provident

b BB sk fund paid by the Company)
Name Position Note (RMB0°000)
i EHRE - BMEER BUL 174.06
HUANG Ke Xing Chairman and Secretary of Current
the Party Committee
e s PTES - LR BUL 158.06
HE
JIANG Zong Xiang  Executive Director, Vice Current
Secretary of the Party
Committee, CEO
ERi K WTES  #ERH - BT 154.37
USRS
WANG Rui Yong Executive Director, Member  Current
of the Party Committee,
Vice President
ke PiTHESE - BERH - BUE 79.47
I B Ha i
HOU Qiu Yan Executive Director, Member  Current
of the Party Committee,
CFO
HEk B R AT E S BUE 12
XIAO Geng Independent non-executive Current
Director
B B R iTE S BUE 12
SHENG Lei Ming Independent non-executive Current
Director
By B R iTE S BUE 12
JIANG Xing Lu Independent non-executive Current
Director
AR B R AT E S BUE 12
Rania ZHANG Independent non-executive Current
Director
RET B R AT E S BUE 12
SONG Xue Bao Independent non-executive Current

Director
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8045 390 R oo 3 o 4 it
(BEwG » A oRom
AR B AR A I

BB AR A (N R 8E0)
Total Remuneration
(Pre-tax, including social
security and provident

b BB sk fund paid by the Company)
Name Position Note (RMB0°000)
e BHalRNEEAN BUE 8
LI Yan Tentative convener of the Current

Board of Supervisors
EECHE LA Bt 8
WANG Ya Ping Independent Supervisor Current
AL BT BUL 73.52
HUANG Zu Jiang Supervisor as Employees’ Current

Representative
REAL BT BUL 69.89
SUN Li Hong Supervisor as Employees’ Current

Representative
i B BT BUL 70.61
MENG Qing Shang Supervisor as Employees’ Current

Representative
b B AR BUL 467.75
CAI Zhi Wei President of Marketing Center Current
PRAE AR - SEHR BUL 149.97

AT R
XU Nan Vice President, President of  Current

Manufacturing and Chief

Winemaker
2o RlEE BUL 73.92
LI Hui Vice President Current
Bk GRS 3k BUL 73.92
YUN Shui Yuan Vice President, President of  Current

Supply Chain
TR F EHERE BUL 81.12
ZHANG Rui Xiang Board Secretary Current
&t
Total 1,702.66
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1 AR EFERBEANB20234EHW AT B IKERE Notes: 1. The remunerations of the executive directors and
FURE 450 o executives senior management officers of the
Company for 2023 include the amount of post-
retirement benefits.
~ A ) ER Ay AT B S N B AR B R b 2552020 2. The remuneration of some executive directors
R F2022FEHRMB A - and senior management officers of the Company
includes incentive salary for their terms from
2020 to 2022.
s 5. Employees
5. BTN ploy
5.1 As at the end of the Reporting Period, the
51 WRERENK AL (TR T AR ) porine

BT 35130,687 AN « B THEMB LB FHLEN

Company (including the subsidiaries) had a total
of 30,687 full-time employees. The composition of

e employees in terms of profession and educational
background is as follows:

LSS 47
Profession

MERRRRA B
ERR R Class of Profession Number (person)
HEANE Production personnel 13,716
HEAER Sales personnel 9,714
His AR Technical personnel 2,368
M#NE Financial personnel 1,287
TBRAR Administrative personnel 3,602
ARl Total 30,687
R
Educational Background

P (A)

BERERN Educational level Number (person)
YL Master’s degree and above 494
AR A Undergraduate 7,171
HEpA: 2-year college 9,858
g g Secondary specialized school 5,735
HEIT Under secondary specialized school 7,429
GRl Total 30,687
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5.2

5.3

Remuneration policy

During the Reporting Period, the Company strictly
implemented national and local policies on the
management of total salaries. In line with the macro
policy requirements for income distribution, the
Company gave comprehensive consideration to a number
of factors, including its development strategy, annual
production and operation targets, economic returns,
human resource allocation, total labor productivity,
personnel cost rate and the market alignment of staff
salary level. Based on the indicative salaries published
by functional departments of the government, the
Company exercised budget management of total salaries,
determined the increase of total staff salaries in a
reasonable manner, and implemented the differentiated
appraisal and distribution mechanism that links total
salaries with performance.

In 2023, the Company continued to improve its
performance appraisal and incentive mechanism based
on its high-quality development strategy and adherence
to the guiding ideology of target-oriented resource
allocation, ability-oriented recruitment, and performance-
oriented incentives and restraints. The Company refined
the multi-level pension insurance system and launched
the enterprise annuity program. By enhancing the link
between total salaries and business performance, the
Company continuously increased staff salaries to support
the sustainable and sound development of its business
performance.

Training plan

In 2023, the Company accelerated the development of
digital capabilities and specified the ability requirements
and development paths for three types of talents in
digitization. With key personnel in digitization at its
core, the Company reshaped the digital abilities of all
staff through monographic and practical projects.

The proportion of highly skilled talents continued to
increase. The Company won more than 70 skill awards
at national, provincial, and municipal levels. The multi-
dimensional skill competition network was refined
constantly. Staff proactivity for skill improvements was
promoted. In 2023, the Company participated in 11
national, provincial, and municipal skill competitions
and 89 competitions organized by business units.

The Company continued to promote its distinctive
practical research model and focused on key and difficult
points in business. A total of 109 practical research
projects were organized throughout the year, and marked
achievements were made.
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VII.Directors’ and Supervisors’ Right of
Purchasing Shares

Save as disclosed herein, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries participated in any arrangements in any time of the
year which could enable its directors and supervisors to obtain
interests from purchasing shares or debentures of the Company
or that of any other organizations.

VIIL.Contracted Rights of Director or
Supervisor and Director’s Service
Contract

All directors and supervisors appointed by the Company had
entered into service contracts with the Company, but did not
enter into any service contract with the Company that the
Company and its subsidiaries should make compensation to the
director or supervisor when it terminates the contract within
1 year after the contract has been entered into by both parties
(excluding statutory compensation). Save as disclosed herein,
neither directors nor supervisors obtained material interests
from any contracts entered into with the Company or its
subsidiaries within the year.

IX. Confirmation of Independence by
Independent Non-executive Directors

The Company has received an annual confirmation letter from
each of the existing independent non-executive director on their
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of Listing Rules, and still
believes that, the aforesaid independent non-executive directors
are persons of independence.

X. Buy-back, Sales and Redemption of
Shares

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
sold, or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during
the Reporting Period, with the exception of the repurchase and
cancellation of restricted shares as described in the section
headed, “Significant Events” of this Annual Report..

During the Reporting Period, neither the Company nor any
of its subsidiaries issued or provided any options or any
other similar rights, nor exercised any rights of conversion or
subscription.
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XI. Principal Subsidiaries and Associated
Companies

Details of the subsidiaries and associated companies of the
Company are set out in the attached Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements.

XII.Fixed Assets

Any changes of fixed assets during the Reporting Period are set
out in the attached Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

XIII.Bank Loans

Details of bank loans as at 31 December 2023 are set out in the
attached Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

XIV.Permitted Indemnity Provision

As approved at the 2020 Annual General Meeting of the
Company, the Company has purchased appropriate liabilities
insurance for all directors.

XV. Equity-linked Agreements

Save as disclosed herein, no equity-linked agreements were
entered into during the year or subsisted at the end of the year.

XVIRestricted A Share Incentive Plan

(I)  Unlocking and Listing of Restricted Shares under the
Incentive Plan

1. At the second extraordinary meeting of 2023
of the tenth session of the Board and the first
extraordinary meeting of 2023 of the tenth
session of the Board of Supervisors held by
the Company on 5 May 2023, the “Proposal on
Fulfillment of the Unlocking Conditions for the
First Unlocking Period under the Reserved Grant
of the Restricted Shares under the Restricted A
Share Incentive Plan” was reviewed and approved.
The first unlocking period under the reserved
grant under the Incentive Plan has expired and
the corresponding conditions for unlocking the
restricted shares have been fulfilled. It is therefore
agreed that the Company shall deal with the
unlocking matters in relation to the 33 qualified
participants with a total of 96,667 restricted
shares. The listing and circulation time of the
unlocked shares is 26 May 2023.
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At the fifth extraordinary meeting of 2023 of
the tenth session of the Board and the second
extraordinary meeting of 2023 of the tenth session
of the Board of Supervisors held by the Company
on 10 July 2023, the “Proposal on Fulfillment
of the Unlocking Conditions for the Second
Unlocking Period under the First Grant of the
Restricted Shares under the Restricted A Share
Incentive Plan” was reviewed and approved.
The second unlocking period under the first
grant under the Incentive Plan has expired and
the corresponding conditions for unlocking the
restricted shares have been fulfilled. It is therefore
agreed that the Company shall deal with the
relevant matters in relation to the 612 qualified
participants with a total of 4,328,702 restricted
shares. The listing and circulation time of the
unlocked shares is 24 July 2023. The directors
and senior management of the Company, among
the incentive participants, shall abide by the
relevant regulations when holding and trading
the Company’s shares upon this release of the
restricted shares.

For more details of the unlocking and listing
of restricted shares under the Incentive Plan,
please refer to the relevant announcements of the
Company published on 5 May, 22 May, 10 July
and 18 July 2023.
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Repurchase and Cancellation of Some Restricted
Shares

The Board considered and approved the “Proposal
on the Company’s Repurchase and Cancellation of
Some Restricted A Shares under the Incentive Plan”
on 17 October 2023 as 7 Company participants had
terminated their labor relationship with the Company
upon negotiation, resigned due to personal reasons,
died of illness or failure in performance assessment,
causing changes to the individual circumstances as
the participants of the Company, it was proposed to
repurchase or cancel some or all of the Company’s
restricted A shares that have been granted to the 7
participants but have not yet been released from lockup
in accordance with relevant provisions of the Incentive
Plan. There were a total of 36,002 shares. Registration
procedures for the aforementioned repurchase and
cancellation were completed on 21 December 2023.
The Company’s total share capital was reduced from
1,364,232,790 to 1,364,196,788.

For additional information, please refer to the relevant
announcements of Company published on 17 October
2023 and 18 December 2023.

Disclosures made according to Chapter 17 Share
Schemes of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited

The shareholders of the Company adopted the Restricted
A Share Incentive Plan (the “Incentive Plan”) on 8
June 2020 (the “Adoption Date”). The purpose of
the Incentive Plan is to promote the establishment
and improvement of the incentive mechanism of the
Company and to fully mobilize the enthusiasm, sense of
responsibility and mission of the Company’s Directors,
senior management personnel, other core management
personnel, middle management personnel and core
personnel of the Company. The participants of the
Incentive Plan include (1) the Directors and senior
management personnel of the Company (excluding non-
executive Directors, independent non-executive Directors
and supervisors); (2) other core management personnel
of the Company; and (3) middle management personnel
and core personnel of the Company. According to the
Incentive Plan, the maximum number of Shares to be
awarded under the Incentive Plan is 13,494,000 Shares,
representing approximately 0.9993% and 0.9896% of
the total issued share capital of the Company as at the
Adoption Date and the date of this report, respectively.
The number of restricted shares granted to each
participant under the Incentive Plan shall not exceed
1% of the total share capital of the Company as at the
Adoption Date. As at 1 January 2023 and 31 December
2023, there is no outstanding restricted shares available
for grant under the Incentive Plan.
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out in the table below:

1178 s R 5 I )
Unlocking Time

The unlocking period and unlocking schedule of each period
for the restricted shares granted under the Incentive Plan are set

T 7 B R

Al BT A 2 B LR )
Proportion of
unlocking shares in the
total shares granted

SR — 18] ¢ B B 5 201
First Unlocking Period

S8 A8l ik B 400
Second Unlocking Period

SR = A8 A7 Bk B A 300
Third Unlocking Period

HAHER TR RS H 24 A R G 832 5 BB B2 ER T8
RUSEIZ H 36 A MR ER — R 5 H & H Ik

Commencing from the first trading day after expiry of the 24-month
period from the date of completion of registration of certain
corresponding restricted shares and ending on the last trading day of
the 36-month period from the date of completion of registration of
certain corresponding restricted shares

HHERT &R H3eff H RN E MRS HE EMERTE
FUSERZ H 48 A AR — 63 5 H & H 1L

Commencing from the first trading day after expiry of the 36-month
period from the date of completion of registration of certain
corresponding restricted shares and ending on the last trading day of
the 48-month period from the date of completion of registration of
certain corresponding restricted shares

AR TR SE 2 Hlt48Mf A R E R 5 B 2 ER T8
RLSE L H R 60MH A N B — MR 2 5 H & H ik

Commencing from the first trading day after expiry of the 48-month
period from the date of completion of registration of certain
corresponding restricted shares and ending on the last trading day of
the 60-month period from the date of completion of registration of
certain corresponding restricted shares

1/3

1/3

1/3
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After the expiry of the lock-up period, the Company will
handle the unlocking arrangements for the participants who
have satisfied the unlocking conditions. The restricted shares
held by the participants who fail to satisfy the unlocking
conditions shall be repurchased and cancelled by the Company.
Notwithstanding the aforementioned stipulations, at the last
unlocking of restricted shares of the Incentive Plan, 20% of the
total restricted shares (and the dividends distributed to those
shares (if any)) held by the Directors or senior management
personnel shall be locked up until the expiry of his/her term
of office and the unlocking of which would be subject to his/
her performance appraisal or the results of economic duty audit
during his/her term of office.

The grant price of the restricted shares under the first grant
and reserved grant shall be RMB21.18 per share. Upon
fulfilment of grant conditions, each participant is entitled to
subscribe the restricted shares newly issued to the participants
by the Company at the price of RMB21.18 per share. As
prescribed by the relevant requirements of the State-owned
Assets Supervision and Administration Commission of the
State Council and CSRC, the grant price shall be determined
according to principle of fair market. Please refer to the circular
and announcement of the Company dated 29 April 2020 and 29
June 2020 respectively for details on the determination of the
grant price. The validity period of the Incentive Plan shall be
calculated from the date of registration of the restricted shares
at the first grant and the maximum period shall not exceed 6

years.
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Details of movement of the restricted shares under the

Incentive Plan during the year are as follows:

By ¥
Number of shares
il 0
120234 #2023 AR
i1 ENRY/ 1A (Hit1)
ABRA Bl HH BN WA FRRE ERNEE XM wWAGE  (AR®)
Fair value
Outstanding Cancelled/ Outstanding  as at date
as at Granted Vested lapsed as at of grant
1January  duringthe  duringthe  duringthe 31 December (Note 1)
Grantees Date of grant Vesting date 2023 year year year 2023 (RMB)
#E
Director
HrH 202046 H29H 202347H24H 100,000 - 50,000 - 50,000 5,455,800
HUANG Ke Xing 29 June 2020 24 July 2023
EFid 202046 H29H 2023%7H24H 73,334 — 36,667 — 36,667 4,000,920
JIANG Zong Xiang 29 June 2020 24 July 2023
Ehik 202046 29H 2023%7H24H 73,334 — 36,667 — 36,667 4,000,920
WANG Rui Yong 29 June 2020 24 July 2023
(3¢ 202046329 H 202347 H24H 40,000 - 20,000 — 20,000 3,045,600
HOU Qiu Yan 29 June 2020 24 July 2023
A R 202046329 H 202347 H24H 317,334 — 158,666 — 158,668 17,313,072
LAMA(EL)
(MFEES)
Five highest paid 29 June 2020 24 July 2023
individuals (total)
(excluding Directors)
Jof iR B 202046 H29H R 202345 H26H K 8,286,565 — 4123369 36,002 4,127,194 637,230,420
20214:3H22H 20234:7H24H
Others Employees 29 June 2020 and 26 May 2023 and
22 March 2021 24 July 2023
o 8,890,567 — 4425369 36,002 4,429,196 671,046,732
Total
Mt Note:

AR E DRE RS TR T B e L OB R A R
T R e e S A S A o i Lo ke PR S 4 T
# ks NRME21.187T ©

FEE AR T MR H YR AR S 4 0
T NRMET2. 2070 R N R¥E79.7270 3 B REAH B2 7 e
S50 1 AR B S W 43 T s AR 101,208 R
#96.947C ©

The Group determines the fair value of restricted
shares on the basis of the single-day closing price
of the circulating shares on the date when the equity
instruments are granted. The grant price per restricted
share is RMB21.18.

The closing prices of A shares immediately before
the dates of the first grant and reserved grant were
RMB72.20 and RMB79.72 respectively; the closing price
of the A shares immediately before the vesting date of the
relevant shares granted is RMB101.20 and RMB96.94,
respectively.
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XVII. Continuing Connected
Transactions Defined by the
Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

Set out below is the information in relation to the continuing
connected transactions that existed during the year ended 31
December 2023 which are required to be disclosed in this
Annual Report in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

(I) Continuing connected transactions with Tsingtao
Group and its subsidiaries

Tsingtao Group is a controlling shareholder of the
Company. Youjia Health and Zhilian Shunda are
indirectly wholly-owned subsidiaries of Tsingtao Group
and associates of Tsingtao Group. Therefore, Tsingtao
Group, Youjia Health and Zhilian Shunda are connected
persons of the Company. On 19 January 2023, the
Company entered into (i) the Comprehensive Services
Framework Agreement with Tsingtao Group; (ii) the
Entrusted Production and Product Purchase Framework
Agreement with Youjia Health; and (iii) the Supply Chain
Services Framework Agreement with Zhilian Shunda.
For more details, please refer to the text below and the
announcement of the Company dated 19 January 2023.
The three agreements and the transactions contemplated
thereunder constitute continuing connected transactions
of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
which were subject to the reporting, announcement and
annual review requirements but were exempt from the
independent shareholders’approval requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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the 2023 Comprehensive Services Framework
Agreement

On 19 January 2023, the Company and
Tsingtao Group entered into an agreement
(the “Comprehensive Services Framework
Agreement”) pursuant to which the Company shall
provide health beverage product development
services, quality examination services, information
network services and human resources services
for Tsingtao Group and its subsidiaries. Tsingtao
Brewery Group and its subsidiaries shall provide
property leasing services to the Company. The
Comprehensive Services Framework Agreement
was for a term commenced from 1 January 2023 to
31 December 2023. The actual transaction amount
under the Comprehensive Services Framework
Agreement for the year ended 31 December 2023
was RMB14,144,091, which has not exceeded the
annual cap amount of RMB20,000,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

the 2023 Entrusted Production and Product
Purchase Framework Agreement

On 19 January 2023, the Company and Youjia
Health entered into an agreement (the “Entrusted
Production and Product Purchase Framework
Agreement”) pursuant to which (i) Youjia Health
Group shall entrust the Group with producing
packaged drinking water products and other
beverage products of the brand series of “Nestlé
Pure Life”, “Pure Life” and “BIHK"; (ii)
Youjia Health Group shall purchase the Group’s
products for the purposes of providing employee
benefits, etc. The Entrusted Production and
Product Purchase Framework Agreement was for
a term commenced from 1 January 2023 to 31
December 2023. The actual transaction amount
under the Entrusted Production and Product
Purchase Framework Agreement for the year
ended 31 December 2023 was RMB966,454,
which has not exceeded the annual cap amount of
RMB37,020,000 for the year ended 31 December
2023.
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the 2023 Supply Chain Services Framework
Agreement

On 19 January 2023, the Company and Zhilian
Shunda entered into an agreement (the “Supply
Chain Services Framework Agreement”) pursuant
to which Zhilian Shunda Group shall provide the
Group with (i) logistics and transportation services
(transportation services for the Group’s products
and materials for the product ecological chain such
as raw materials, packaging etc.) (“Logistics and
Transportation Services”); and (ii) warehousing
services such as distribution centres and regional
distribution centres and value-added services
such as secondary packaging and express delivery
(“Warehousing and Value-added Services”).
Zhilian Shunda Group shall lease part of the
idle warehouses in the factories of the Group
for operation purposes (“Warehouse Leasing
Services”) and purchase the Group’s beer products
(“Product Purchase”) simultaneously.

The Supply Chain Services Framework Agreement
was for a term commenced from 1 January 2023
to 31 December 2023. The actual transaction
amount for (i) the Logistics and Transportation
Services and Warehousing and Value-added
Services; (ii) the Warehouse Leasing Services;
and (iii) Product Purchase under the Supply Chain
Services Framework Agreement for the year
ended 31 December 2023 was RMB498,657,225,
which has not exceeded the annual cap amount
of RMB508,000,000 for the Logistics and
Transportation Services and Warehousing and
Value-added Services; and the Warehouse Leasing
Services respectively and Product Purchase for the
year ended 31 December 2023.
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(II)  The independent non-executive directors of the Company
had reviewed and confirmed that the aforementioned
continuing connected transactions for the year ended 31
December 2023 were entered into:

(i)  in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Group;

(i)  on normal commercial terms; and

(iii) according to the agreements governing the terms
that are fair and reasonable and in the interest of
the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

The Board also considers that the transactions had been
conducted in accordance with the pricing policies under
the relevant agreements and the Company’s internal
control procedures are adequate and effective.

(IIT) The Company’s auditor has reviewed the aforementioned
continuing connected transactions and confirmed to the
Board that in respect of such transactions, no matter has
attracted attention of the auditor that caused the auditor
to believe that the continuing connected transactions:

. have not been approved by the Board;

. were not, in all material respects, in accordance
with the pricing policies of the Group if the
transactions involved the provision of goods or
services by the Group;

. were not entered into, in all material respects, in
accordance with the relevant agreement governing
the transactions; and

. have exceeded the relevant annual cap.

Details of the related party transactions undertaken by the
Group in the ordinary and usual course of business are set out
in Note 8 to the Consolidated Financial Statements and all
these related parties transactions, other than the continuing
connected transactions set out above, do not fall under the
definition of “connected transaction” or “continuing connected
transaction” under the Listing Rules. The Company has
complied with the disclosure requirements prescribed under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules with respect to the continuing
connected transactions conducted by the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2023.
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XVIIIL. Directors’ and Supervisors’
Interests in Transactions,
Arrangements and Contracts of
Significance

Save as disclosed herein, no transaction, arrangement
or contract of significance, in relation to the Company’s
business to which the Company, its holding companies, or its
subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party and in which a
director or a supervisor or any entity connected with them was
materially interested, directly or indirectly, subsisted during the
Reporting Period.

XIX. Donations

The amount of charitable and other donations made by the
Group during the year is set out in Note 4(54) to Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Save as disclosed above, no charitable and other donations
have been made by the Group during the year.

XX. Tax Relief

The shareholders of the Company paid relevant taxes according
to the tax regulations currently valid and updated from time
to time, enjoyed possible tax deductions as the case may be,
and shall consult its professional tax and legal consultants
for specific payment matters. For details of the withheld and
payment of the income tax, please refer to the poll results
announcement of the 2023 Annual General Meeting to be
issued by the Company.

HUANG Ke Xing

Chairman

Qingdao, the People’s Republic of China
26 March 2024
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I hereby present the 2023 Report of Board of Supervisors of
Tsingtao Brewery Company Limited for the kind review by all
shareholders.

During the Reporting Period, the Board of Supervisors
prudentially and seriously performed its duties and
responsibilities by strictly abiding by the related provisions
in the laws and regulations and Articles of Association for the
target of practically protecting the legal rights and interests of
the Company and its shareholders. It supervised the proposals
including the Company’s financial statements and significant
events. It legally exercised its powers to ensure the operations
of the Company are in compliance.

[.  Work of Board of Supervisors during
the Reporting Period

(I) Meetings held by Board of Supervisors

During the Reporting Period, the Board of Supervisors
held totally 9 meetings, including 6 regular meetings
and 3 unscheduled meetings, with a total of 39 different
resolutions considered, mainly including the following:

1. Considering regular reports:

(1) considered the Company’s 2022 Annual
Financial Report;

(2) considered the Company’s 2023 First
Quarterly Report;

(3) considered the Company’s 2023 Interim
Report;

(4) considered the Company’s 2023 Third
Quarterly Report.
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2. Other issues:

During the Reporting Period, the Company
maintained its governance completeness and
effective operations by revising the “Order
of Meeting for the Supervisory Committee”
according to the securities regulations and the
Company’s actual situation. By holding meetings,
the Company reviewed and approved a total of
35 proposals, including proposals on continuing
connected transactions, the unlocking and listing
of restricted shares during the unlocking period,
and the repurchase and cancellation of some
restricted shares.

Surveys conducted by Board of Supervisors

During the Reporting Period, to further understand the
business performance of Tsingtao Brewery in China
and to deepen the Board of Supervisor’s understanding
of the Company, the Board of Supervisors conducted
site surveys at the southwest market. The surveys and
communication allowed the Board of Supervisors to
get first-hand information, providing strong support for
it to make scientific decisions and perform effective
supervision.

Independent Comments made by
Board of Supervisors to the related
issues in 2023

Compliance operation

The Board of Supervisors is of the view that, the
Company carried out various work strictly in compliance
with the requirements in the laws, regulations, Articles
of Association, and other regulatory regulations, the
decision-making process was legal and the operation was
standardized.

The Board of Supervisors is of the view that, all
directors and senior management officers fulfilled
their duties with diligence in accordance with the
laws, regulations and related provisions in Articles of
Association. During the Reporting Period, none of the
directors and senior management officers was found to
have any behavior violating any laws, regulations and
Articles of Association, or damaging any interests of the
Company or its shareholders in performing their duties
and exercising their authorities.
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Review of the financial situations

After having supervised and audited the financial
situation and results of the Company for the year
2023, the Board of Supervisors is of the view that, the
Company’s financial system is sound and complete, the
financial operation is compliant, the financial situation
is satisfactory, and the financial statements truly and
objectively reflect the Company’s financial situation and
operation.

Latest use of proceeds received

During the Reporting Period, the Company did not have
any newly received or remaining proceeds received
from financing activities, and there was no situation of
violation of regulations in the management and use of
proceeds received from financing activities.

Continuing connected transactions

The Board of Supervisors is of the view that, the
consideration procedures have complied with laws,
regulations and the Articles of Association, as the
related directors avoided voting on the matters when
the Company considered the regular related transaction
(continuing connected transaction) matters of 2023
between the Company and Tsingtao Group as well as its
affiliates; the terms of related agreements have complied
with normal commercial terms and been fair and
reasonable, and the pricing in the connected transactions
has been fair and in the interests of the Company and its
shareholders as a whole.

Internal control work report

The Board of Supervisors is of the view that, the
Company has established a sound and effective
internal control system in accordance with its own
actual situation and the requirements of the laws and
regulations, which is effectively implemented. The 2023
Internal Control Evaluation Report presented by the
Board and the internal control audit report presented by
the auditor truly and objectively reflects the construction
and operation of the Company’s internal control system.
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(VD) Information on the establishment and implementation

of administrative policies on the information insiders

As inspected, during the Reporting Period, the Company
did not have the situation of being investigated or
rectified by the regulatory authorities for the release
of inside information. The administrative regulation of
information insiders has been improved, and strictly
abided by and implemented.

In conclusion, the Board of Supervisors conscientiously
performed its duties specified by laws, regulations, and
the Articles of Association during the Reporting Period
and played a functional role of the Board of Supervisors.
We take this opportunity to extend our heartfelt thanks to
all supervisors for their contributions to the work of the
Board of Supervisors during the Reporting Period.

Board of Supervisors
25 March 2024




— & T~ Z & £ # ANNUAL REPORT 2023

®FEH MY Corporate Governance Report

Ao W] H 199348 1 A W I 22 Bt & 32 Bt BT DA > R R
PAh B AR A R - R B SE % A RING BLASHE - BLEE A
FEAME o AVIBCHRKRE - WA - BRGNP
3 MERIE - AR EFEIL TR NIRRT -
SR ¥ 2 B A5 S 2% B = e SN o (R
TIPATER) A EMRNE LR T > BREERTHR
SRR BIRRAE L - R T 2 FR BT A ROEAE

WA o AN TR AR 8k C 1R Z (348
AP RIDBSF RIS = A BBk AR SR IE N T

i 3%

RSN - A AT S5 B ALAE P
SERCAEL (6~ OORD SRS P - AT
RN R - STHIA T AT - AT
SO B RIBCL B 1 E 3 (g
T <

B BB R HEE

R
HEEE
BT
TRE

Since the Company was listed on the Stock Exchange and
SSE in 1993, it has been improving its corporate governance
structure and regulating the operation of the Company pursuant
to the domestic and overseas listing rules and regulatory
requirements. The Company’s general meetings, the Board and
Board of Supervisors exercise their respective duties that they
make decisions independently but supervise each other, which
maintain the balance of power among them. The Board sets
up three professional committees, namely, Audit & Internal
Control Committee, Strategy & Investment Committee and
Nomination & Remuneration Committee, which are mainly
comprised of external directors (including independent non-
executive directors) who play a positive role in improving the
efficiency of decision-making of the Board and promote the
effective operation of corporate governance of the Company.

During the Reporting Period, the Company had complied with
the provisions of the Corporate Governance Code contained in
Appendix C1 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing
Rules”), measures taken by the Company for corporate
governance are as follows:

Corporate culture

Corporate culture is the soul of an enterprise. The Company
gives full play to the guiding, motivating, leading and unifying
roles of corporate culture in the process of high-quality
development. By establishing a high-standard corporate
culture system, it comprehensively promotes the level of
the Company’s operations and management and constantly
enhances its innovation, cohesion and core competitiveness.
For the strategy pie chart of Tsingtao Brewery’s corporate
culture, as shown below.

Corporate culture and strategy

Spirit
Strategy

Operation
Execution

Behaviour
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Corporate Governance Report

The Board

Duties and division of labour

Under the leadership of the Chairman, the Board
exercises its administrative decision-making power
concerning the Company’s development strategy,
management structure, investment and financing,
financial supervision and control, and dedicates to realize
the maximization of its shareholders’ value. It has been
stated in details in the Company’s newly revised Articles
of Association and its appendix - Order of Meeting
for Board of Directors, the Board’s authorities in the
Company’s development strategies and management,
and its power of supervision and inspection over the
Company’s development and operation. At the same
time, the Board implements its duty of corporate
governance by monitoring, evaluating and ensuring
the effectiveness and efficiency of the Company’s
internal control system, and situation of the Company’s
compliance with the laws and regulations. The Board
is responsible for the implementation of the duties and
responsibilities of corporate governance set out in the
function scope of Code Provision A.2.1 of the Corporate
Governance Code. The Board has performed the relevant
duties during the year.

The division of duties between the Company’s chairman
and president has been clearly defined and stated in
Articles of Association and its appendices. The chairman
is responsible for deciding the agenda of each board
meeting, including contacting other directors before
each meeting for any proposals to be considered at
the meeting, and considering whether to include such
proposals of other directors into the agenda according
to the actual circumstances. Besides, the chairman
should also be responsible for leading and working
out the Company’s overall development strategy, and
supervising the implementation of resolutions approved
by the Board.

The president is responsible for arranging the
implementation of resolutions approved by the Board,
yearly budget and investment plan of the Company, and
reporting to the Board about the Company’s operation,
signing and implementation of significant contracts;
exercising the right of the use of funds and assets of
the Company within the scope authorized by the Board,
and signing the contracts on behalf of the Company. At
the same time, the Company clarifies the specific duties
and responsibilities, and the division of labour of senior
management officers, so as to ensure the undertaking
of obligations of integrity and diligence of their own
responsibilities.
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Composition

As at 31 December 2023, the tenth session of the Board
comprises 4 executive directors and 5 independent non-
executive directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. HUANG Ke Xing (Chairman)
Mr. JIANG Zong Xiang (President)
Mr. WANG Rui Yong

Mr. HOU Qiu Yan

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. XIAO Geng

Mr. SHENG Lei Ming

Mr. JIANG Xing Lu

Ms. Rania ZHANG

Mr. SONG Xue Bao

The above directors shall serve for a term of three years,
with immediate effect following their appointment
during the annual general meeting, until the expiration of
the term of the tenth session of the Company’s Board of
Directors.

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy in
order to enhance the effectiveness of the Board. When
determining the composition of the members of the
Board, the Company considered the diversity of the
members of the Board from different aspects including
but not limited to age, gender, ethnicity, cultural and
educational background, professional experience, skills
and knowledge. The Board focused on the candidates’
qualification for all appointments, and took into account
the benefits of the diversity of the members of the Board
based on the objective conditions when choosing the
candidates. The Board reviews the implementation and
effectiveness of the diversity policy, as appropriate, or at
least on an annual basis.

The current Board comprises eight male members and
one female member and the female representation is
about 27.17% at workforce level, achieving gender
diversity in respect of the Board and across the
workforce. The Nomination & Remuneration Committee
will review annually the need for achieving higher
gender diversity in the Company.

The Board holds the above policy is effective enough to
ensure diversity on the Board.
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The members of the Board have backgrounds of various
industries and possess different professional knowledge,
among which one of the independent non-executive
directors has the qualification on accounting or related
financial management required by the regulatory
authorities. All directors have substantial experience in
their respective professional fields. The profile of the
directors is set out in “Profile of Directors, Supervisors
and Senior Management Officers” in this Annual Report.

There are 5 independent non-executive directors in the
this session of the Board, accounting for over 1/2 of the
total numbers of the Board. The current independent
non-executive directors have various professional
backgrounds with substantial professional experience
in law, accounting, financial investment, marketing
and others. Such composition is helpful to the Board in
the discussion and analysis of the issues from different
aspects to ensure the reasonable decision made by the
Board. Since 2005, the independent non-executive
directors have been submitting their annual performance
review reports for reporting to the shareholders at the
annual general meetings.

Board meeting

In 2023, the Company held 2 on-site meetings, 1 on-site
meeting with video conference and 9 meetings of written
resolutions held by means of communication voting in
total to consider the Company’s operation and financial
performance, management structure and investment plan
mainly including:

3.1 Considering and approving the reports of annual,
interim and quarterly results;

3.2 Considering and approving the proposal on
amendments to the Article of Association;

3.3 Considering and approving the proposal on matters
related to the second unlocking period under
the first grant of the restricted shares under the
restricted A share Incentive Plan of the Company
and the repurchase of part of the restricted shares;

3.4 Considering and approving matters such as the
convening of extraordinary general meetings and
the annual general meeting;

3.5 Considering and approving the feasibility report
for the relocation of new construction projects,
new production capacity projects, and land
purchase and storage projects of subsidiaries.
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The meeting notices and materials of proposals are sent
to all directors within a reasonable time, so as to ensure
that they can have a fruitful discussion, and make quick
and prudential decisions at the board meetings. Details of
all directors’ attendance of board meetings and general
meetings in the year are as follows:

SBR

At

Information of

SmEHFARHN attending

Information of attending board meetings general meeting
RFHE K
VS EVEN ARAS MR

RS SMKY If not attend i) YE N

HHARY Number that — ZHCHHKY in person Mk Y%

Number that B Rk attend in Number that ol k¥ for two Number of

f it should attend Number that formof  being attended Number of consecutive attending

Name of the director in the year  attend in person  communications by proxy absence meetings  general meeting

Hois 12 1 9 0 0 & 1
HUANG Ke Xing No

e 12 12 9 0 0 & 1
JIANG Zong Xiang No

EHik 12 12 9 0 0 & 1
WANG Rui Yong No

Rtk 12 12 9 0 0 # 1
HOU Qiu Yan No

LS 12 12 9 0 0 & 1
XIAO Geng No

HEEB 12 12 9 0 0 & 1
SHENG Lei Ming No

LH% 12 12 9 0 0 & 1
JIANG Xing Lu No

e 12 12 9 0 0 & 1
Rania ZHANG No

KRBT 12 12 9 0 0 & 1
SONG Xue Bao No

AFERENASE - A HBAR IR B - (EF
T FHADRBE - EFFTHRBEFREFHMN
75 0 B AR IR B AR R Ak b
grafim > WHRBRETREL R - AEF GG
B RAE R A PART 14K B - WA EFHAHEAR
FE HH RS > T P I 2 A B AR
R ATREFR UL > W S IR AT B o T T R T
SEIEIATH S A

The convening and holding of board meetings are strictly
subject to the provisions of the Articles of Association
and Order of Meeting for Board of Directors. The
meetings are hosted by the chairman, and are held on
time after the delivery of meeting notice. All proposals
are discussed fully and completely at the meetings and
voted in sequence. The notices of regular meetings are
dispatched 14 days before convening the meetings.
Should any director be unable to attend the meeting due
to other business, he/she could authorize another director
in writing to attend and vote on his/her behalf, and the
independent non-executive directors could authorize
another independent non-executive director to attend and
vote on his/her behalf.
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The Company’s management team is responsible for
providing the Board with all related materials and
information needed for considering the proposals, and
reporting their related work at board meetings. The
independent non-executive directors may, pursuant to
the provisions of the Articles of Association, appoint
independent professional organizations to serve them
when exercising their duties, performing their powers
and responsibilities or when being needed by the
business, and the reasonable expenses occurred will be
borne by the Company.

The Board has adopted effective mechanisms to ensure
independent views and inputs are available to the
Board. Subject to approval of the Chairman of the
Board, directors may seek, at the Company’s expense,
independent legal, financial or other professional advice
from advisors independent to the Company’s advisors
as and when necessary in appropriate circumstances to
enable them to perform their responsibilities effectively.
The Board will review the implementation and
effectiveness of such mechanisms on an annual basis.

The Board holds that the above mechanisms are effective
enough to ensure that independent views and input are
provided to the Board.



TR =4 ANNUAL REPORT 2023

®EF MY Corporate Governance Report

—_—

1~

CHF

AR A AR Z A

MR A SR T > R S BT E R
ISR A B fE - AARICAE R (BIEATHS
R (ERR) - LRMESLE - ERREE K
RR#eSe k> AR JE AT B H K A - BRI
& LEERE - RAL L RREE g A K&
FERRARAR > A5 (1) 2 B AL Z R BB R A (3
FFA) 2 (2) 7 W P BUFR BN I S L B R o

202341 A1TH ZI2ASIHBME  RAR 2@ ES
EMEZERAEEEY BERCEERF AN
OB BT o W oI AR 3L R A A I 5 T TR ik
B AR A1) o T T I S B o A W AR —
WAERELETHERIESBCRNBIRAE B BRAE
FoEBERMEEANE - BENN > ARA R BT
HHRBE WS 2 T A8 B SR i 8 o 3 B4R R
Wl > 202349 A DAAKR » ARAF B rIEPATHERIRE
BB ERGTELEREBETE A A EB RS
HEEHL - MBI -

II.

Directors

Training for the Directors and the Company
Secretary

Pursuant to the Corporate Governance Code, all directors
are obliged to take part in the continuing professional
development to update their knowledge and skills.
The Company has provided to the directors (including
Executive Directors, being Mr. HUANG Ke Xing
(Chairman), Mr. JIANG Zong Xiang, Mr. WANG Rui
Yong and Mr. HOU Qiu Yan as well as Independent Non-
Executive Directors, being Mr. XIAO Geng, Mr. SHENG
Lei Ming, Mr. JIANG Xing Lu, Ms. Rania ZHANG and
Mr. SONG Xue Bao) with trainings and development
courses, including (1) induction training (director’s
manual) for the newly appointed directors; (2) continuing
trainings and professional development courses for the
directors.

During the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 December
2023, all of the Company’s directors received regular
briefings and updates for the matters relating to the
Group’s business, operation and corporate governance.
They were also provided with the newly published
important laws and rules, or changes in the important
laws and rules which were applicable to the Group.
The Company prepared and distributed to the directors,
supervisors and senior management officers a weekly
newsletter about the development in stock market and
updated information of regulatory policies. During the
Reporting Period, Mr. SHENG Lei Ming, an independent
non-executive director of the Company, attended the
follow-up training for independent directors held by
the SSE. Since September 2023, all independent non-
executive directors of the Company have also learned
securities laws and regulations as well as relevant
business rules etc. by themselves through the Shanghai
Stock Exchange’s independent director performance
learning platform.
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Mr. ZHANG Rui Xiang (Board Secretary and Director
of the Secretarial Office of the Board of the Company) is
the Company Secretary of the Company. He has satisfied
the requirements for professional training as stipulated
in Rule 3.29 of Listing Rules and has attended no less
than 15 hours of related professional training, including
subsequent training and governance courses organized by
SSE and The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute
respectively.

Independence of independent non-executive directors

The Company has appointed sufficient number of
independent non-executive directors, from all of whom
the Company has received the written confirmation on
their independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of Listing
Rules.

Securities transaction by directors

The Company formulated the “Regulations on Holding
and Changes of Shares in the Company by Directors,
Supervisors and Senior Management Officers” by
applying Model Code set out in Appendix C3 of Listing
Rules. The Company confirms that, after having made
specific enquiries to all directors, all directors of the
Company have been in compliance with the required
standards set out in Listing Rules regarding the securities
transactions by directors during the Reporting Period.

Liability insurance of directors, supervisors and
senior management officers

As approved at the general meeting, the Company has
purchased appropriate liability insurance for all directors,
supervisors and senior management officers.

Financial reporting and responsibilities taken by
directors on financial statements

The Board conducts annual review over reports of the
annual, interim and quarterly results in accordance
with the sufficient financial information provided
by the management team and approves for public
disclosure. The directors are responsible for arranging
relevant departments and personnel to prepare financial
statements for each fiscal year, and ensure to apply
appropriate accounting policies and abide by China’s
accounting standards and policies when preparing the
financial statements consistently, so as to truly and fairly
report the financial situation and operating results of the
Company.
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III. Specific Committees of the Board

The following disclosure on the members of the
committees is about the status as of the end of 2023.

Audit & Internal Control Committee (“Audit
Committee”)

The duty scope of Audit Committee is determined
pursuant to Corporate Governance Code set out in
Appendix C1 of Listing Rules and Guidelines for
Corporate Governance of China Listing Companies
published by China Securities Regulatory Commission,
and is revised subject to the latest supervisory changes.
Its main duties include: to review the completeness and
effectiveness of the Company’s risk management as well
as internal control system and regulations, to review the
annual, interim and quarterly financial statements, to
be in charge of the appointment, the work coordination,
and the review of work efficiency and quality of external
auditor, and to review and supervise the quality and
procedures of the financial reporting of the Company.

Members of the Audit Committee of the tenth session
of the Board of Directors include: Ms. Rania ZHANG,
Independent Non-executive Director (Chairman of the
Audit Committee), Mr. XIAO Geng, Mr. SHENG Lei
Ming, Mr. JIANG Xing Lu and Mr. SONG Xue Bao.
Among them, Ms. Rania ZHANG has experience and
ability in finance and accounting, and she holds PhD and
Professorship in Accounting. The 2023 Audit Committee
held 6 meetings in total. To ensure the independence of
the report, the Chairman of the meeting has arranged
for the external auditor to conduct separate meetings
with the members of the Audit Committee. After each
meeting, the committee would submit recommendations
to the Board of Directors on the important matters
discussed. The attendance of each member is as follows:
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M 1 ik ()
W% €% (K)  Number of meetings R R (%)
Number of meetings  should be attended Attendance rate
ZREA Name of member attended (time) (time) (%)
A Rania ZHANG

(BHZEGER) (Chairman of the Audit Committee) 6 6 100
4 Bk XIAO Geng 6 6 100
P SHENG Lei Ming 6 6 100
LHH JIANG Xing Lu 6 6 100
REL T SONG Xue Bao 6 6 100

BRI BEOEASEE L E TG - Major work of Audit Committee in the year includes:

o HRIARAF AR - AR R T SRR A
T

o BB A R I o R

o HREE O ED JE B B R P S 4 ) R R A
Rtk > 36 % I8 A T AR T B I i 8k R D T B4
BUARRENBERE - RBETRRE - M
ANB B RA AR B R -

W LB RE % B o (T Z R & )

R 2 o A SR B A A A A 2 A G g
Ji 1) > HET 4 B R > DA% 308 IR R 2 A ) B e
R

. Reviewing the Company’s annual, interim and
quarterly results reports, and financial statements;

. Making proposals to the Board on the re-
appointment of auditor of the Company;

. Reviewing the effectiveness of the Company’s risk
management internal control systems and policies,
including whether the resource of the financial
reporting, and the qualification and experience of
the employees were sufficient or not, and whether
the training to the related personnel and the related
budgets were sufficient or not.

Strategy & Investment Committee (“Strategy
Committee”)

The main duties and responsibilities of Strategy
Committee are: to supervise and review the Company’s
Direction of strategic development, to work out the
Company’s strategic plan, and to make timely adjustment
for the Company’s strategic and governance structure.
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Members of the Strategy Committee of the tenth session
of the Board of Directors include: Mr. HUANG Ke Xing
(Chairman of the Strategy Committee), Mr. JIANG
Zong Xiang, and Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. SHENG Lei Ming, Ms. Rania ZHANG and Mr.
SONG Xue Bao. 6 meetings were held by the Strategy
Committee in 2023 in total. The attendance of each
member was as follows:

R fridk (%) HE e B (2K

Number of Number of W (%)

meetings  meetings should be Attending Rate

ZRMA Name of member attended (time) attended (time) (%)
Lign ] HUANG Ke Xing

(BiWZE &) (Chairman of the Strategy Committee) 6 6 100

FORHE JIANG Zong Xiang 6 6 100

DEHI SHENG Lei Ming 6 6 100

TRAR Rania ZHANG 6 6 100

REH SONG Xue Bao 6 6 100

Wk B AR AGE B B TR B4 - kT vl
R - T A AR S R A B PR H A AT AT MR > DL
Be -l fitt B H AT AT PSR

RABFMERS

A BLHE B o0 K A IR A A
o S AN B T BRSO B - T R
#e 2 BFSE N A W IR BILATHE Y 7 58 Bent Rl S JE AT
HERE L > RO B BATE S RRAE AR
I A S o AT v B P o

B R IEGME R &R R G Bk
PITERRAREEFAZTRETEN) - kA
BRI - RRL L RRBREA: -

The main work of the Strategy Committee in the year
includes: reviewing the feasibility report on relocation
and new construction, and new production capacity,
and integration and closure projects of subsidiaries and
the feasibility report on the land purchase and storage
projects.

Nomination & Remuneration Committee

The main duties and responsibilities of Nomination &
Remuneration Committee are: to study and consider the
remuneration policies and incentive mechanism of the
Company’s directors and senior management officers,
to work out evaluation standards, to study the schemes
of improving corporate governance, to appraise the
independence of independent non-executive directors
and to make proposals to the Board for the remuneration
packages of individual executive directors and senior
management and for the appointment of directors.

Members of the Nomination and Remuneration
Committee of the tenth session of the Board of Directors
include Independent Non-Executive directors Mr. JIANG
Xing Lu (Chairman of the Nomination Committee), Mr.
XIAO Geng, Mr. SHENG Lei Ming, Ms. Rania ZHANG
and Mr. SONG Xue Bao.
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20234 JE IR L HH R B BT TARE K > £ TREE In 2023, the Nomination & Remuneration Committee
FEEENERNT - held 4 meetings, the attendance of each member is as
follows:

R fridk (%) HE 21 5 i (K)

Number of Number of (%)
meetings  meetings should be Attending Rate
ZHIH Name of member attended (time) attended (time) (%)
EHR(IBEZAT  JIANG Xing Lu (Chairman of the
EY Y] Nomination Committee) 4 4 100
4 3k XIAO Geng 4 4 100
BRI SHENG Lei Ming 4 4 100
AR Rania ZHANG 4 4 100
REP SONG Xue Bao 4 4 100
RLHEFNE B GAEARFEN EE T/ - Major work of the Nomination & Remuneration
Committee in the year includes:
ARG BEOES - BFMEE A B ER R ER Where they reviewed the remuneration information of
2 W TE R N RS M AT T % - W BB S the directors, supervisors and executives as disclosed
T 4 PR 2 A8 T A R 6 L S0 A0 1 R A o T in the Annual Report. Furthermore, they also reviewed
TEY  EmEERFRIER - the qualifications of the candidates for independent non-

executive directors to be proposed and recommended
their appointment at the annual general meeting.
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Emoluments bands (Except for share-based payment):

The Nomination & Remuneration Committee is
responsible for searching, nominating and selecting
Board members. According to the nomination policy
established by the Company, potential candidates
for executive directors may be searched and selected
among senior management personnel and those for
independent non-executive directors may be selected
across the country. In accordance with the provisions
of Articles of Association and relevant regulations,
the shareholders are also allowed to nominate anyone
(excluding resigned directors) for the election of
directors (including non-executive directors) at general
meetings. The Nomination and Remuneration Committee
may appoint external consultants to assist the recruitment
of suitable candidates when necessary. The appointment
of Board members shall be considered and approved by
shareholders at general meetings.

A

Number of individuals

0T — 1,000,0007C
(FTE NERHEZI0TC — 890,0007T)

HKDO - 1,000,000

W1 1,500,0017% - 2,000,00070
(Fr & N #91,360,0007C — 1,810,0007T)

HKD1,500,001 - 2,000,000

W15,000,0017% - 5,500,00070
(F7 & N #14,530,0007C — 4,980,0007C)

HKD5,000,001 - 5,500,000

MR ¢ bl BT 45 v R AR BN H S R o B o DAL I
B o

LB _E i AR B SR D2 T BRI - B R A T
4 DA 4% d5 e 7 T L A B 25 R B A

B e pe il IV.
Edeg 1.

#1E20234E12H31H » AEE+EEFH G d24 kK
REEFAZHTREEFAR - BUEEFHMEAMG
BB > IR AREERETEFR - B mREHRA
B -

(equivalent to approximately RMBO0 — 890,000)

(equivalent to approximately RMB1,360,000 — 1,810,000)

(equivalent to approximately RMB4,530,000 — 4,980,000)

Note: The members of the senior management officers disclosed
above refer to the employees other than directors and
supervisors.

Further particulars regarding the directors, supervisors
and senior management’s emoluments and the five
highest paid employees as required to be disclosed
pursuant to Appendix D2 of the Listing Rules are set out
in Note 8 to the financial statements.

Supervisory Mechanism
Board of Supervisors

As at 31 December 2023, the tenth session of Board
of Supervisors of the Company is comprised of 2
supervisors as shareholders’ representative and 3
supervisors as employees’ representative. The profile
of the current supervisors is set out in “Profiles of
Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management Officers”
in this Annual Report.
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The Board of Supervisors legally exercises the
Company’s supervision power to prevent the legal
rights and interests of shareholders, the Company and
its employees from being infringed. In 2023, the Board
of Supervisors totally held 9 meetings to supervise on
behalf of shareholders over the Company’s finance,
legality and compliance of directors and senior
management officers on performing their duties and
responsibilities, and attended all on-site board meetings
and general meetings. Details of the work of Board of
Supervisors are set out in “Report of the Supervisors” in
this Annual Report.

Internal control and risk management

2.1  According to Internal Control Guide to Listing
Companies of Shanghai Stock Exchange published
by SSE, Listing Rules, and the requirements of
the specific regulations of internal control and
risk management, the Company formulated a
series of internal control and risk management
regulations which played corresponding roles in
the Company’s production and operating activities,
and promoted the Company’s normalized
operation. Pursuant to the requirements of the
internal control and risk management regulatory
systems, it is the responsibilities of the Board to
establish sound and effectively implement the
internal control and risk management systems and
assess their effectiveness, and truly disclose the
internal control and risk management evaluation
report. The Board of Supervisors supervises the
establishment and implementation of internal
control and risk management of the Board, while
the management is responsible for organizing and
leading the ordinary operation of the enterprise’s
internal control and risk management. Such risks
would include, among others, material risks
relating to environmental, social and governance
(“ESG”).

The target of the Company’s internal control and
risk management systems is to reasonably ensure
the lawful and compliant operating management,
the assets safety, the authenticity and completeness
of financial report and related information, the
improvement of operating efficiency and its effects,
and the promotion and realization of development
strategy. However, due to the existing limitation to
the internal control and risk management systems,
such systems are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable
and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.
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The Internal Audit Department of the Company
conducts annual identification and evaluation
of risks (including ESG risks) existing in the
Company’s production, operation and internal
control activities, and improve the Company’s
internal control system based on the results of risks
evaluation by ways of internal control evaluation,
etc. According to the Company’s internal
control system and standards, the Internal Audit
Department and other functional departments
carry out the internal control evaluation and
management inspection from the two aspects of the
effectiveness of the design and the implementation
of internal control to promote the improvement
and upgrade of the Company’s internal control
system. The Internal Audit Department reports to
the Audit Committee about the effectiveness and
problems existing in the internal control systems
every year.

After having conducted a review of the
effectiveness of the risk management (including
ESG risks) and internal control systems, the Board
has reached the conclusion that the Company’s
risk management and internal control systems
were in place, effective and adequate.

Evaluation of the effectiveness of internal control

and risk management operation

The Company establishes the 3-tier internal
control and risk management (including ESG
risks) evaluation mechanism which combines the
independent internal control and risk management
(including ESG risks) evaluation of head office,
self-evaluation of functional departments of
head office, and the self-evaluation of branches/
subsidiaries. The Company arranges the annual
internal control and risk management (including
ESG risks) evaluation to audit and evaluate the
effectiveness of the design and the implementation
of internal control and risk management, and
issues an independent internal control and risk
management evaluation report. The functional
departments of the Company and the branches/
subsidiaries also carry out the regular self-
evaluation as required and rectify the problems
found.
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The Company appointed an external auditor to
inspect the Company’s internal control system
from a professional perspective, which effectively
promoted the improvement of the establishment
of the Company’s internal control system.
The Company had also established a separate
communication mechanism between the external
auditor and the Company’s Audit Committee to
guarantee the external auditor’s independence and
right to be informed and give full play to its role.

(1) The Board’s self-evaluation of internal
control system

The Company’s 2023 internal control
evaluation report was considered and
approved at the fifteenth meeting of the
tenth session of the Board. According to
the criteria for identifying internal control
defects worked out by the Company. During
the Reporting Period, the Company did not
have any material weakness or significant
weakness of internal control in the financial

reporting, nor in the non-financial reporting.

(2) Evaluation by the Company’s domestic
certified public accountant to the internal
control in financial reporting

PwC Zhong Tian was appointed by
the Company to audit and appraise the
effectiveness of the internal control of
financial reporting, who was of the view
that, as at 31 December 2023, the Company
had maintained effective internal control of
financial reporting in all material aspects
according to “Basic Standards of Corporate
Internal Control” and related regulations.

The full text of the evaluation report to the
Company’s 2023 internal control and the
auditing report of the internal control of
financial reporting presented by PwC Zhong
Tian are published on the websites of SSE,
the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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2.3 In terms of the handling and releasing inside
information, the Company has revised the internal
systems such as “Administrative Policies for the
Registration of Information Insiders” in October
2021, further specifying the range, reporting
process, registration and record-keeping, and
prohibitive behaviors for inside information and
information insiders to strictly control the scope
of insiders and prevent the risk of leaking inside
information.

2.4 The Company has adopted an anti-corruption
policy to govern acceptance of advantages by
employees and a whistleblowing policy to provide
guidance to employees and external stakeholders
to report concerns about any suspected or actual
improprieties relating to the Group.

External auditor and its remuneration

The financial statements included in this Annual Report
are prepared in accordance with CAS and have been
audited by PwC Zhong Tian who has provided auditing
service to the Company for 22 consecutive years. In
2023, the Company should pay RMB6.6 million to
PwC Zhong Tian for its annual work of auditing the
financial statements, and RMB1.98 million for its work
of auditing the internal control, as remuneration, of
which the Company does not bear the tax, traveling
expenses and miscellaneous expenses. The auditor’s
responsibilities for auditing the financial statements
on the account are set out in the disclosed content in
“Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial
Statements” of this Annual Report.
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V.

Shareholders and other Interest-
related Parties

Shareholders’ Communication Policy

In October 2021, the Board considered and approved
“The Company’s Investor Relation Management
Policy” and adopted the Shareholders’ Communication
Policy. The policies set out the Group’s commitment
of maintaining an effective ongoing dialogue with
shareholders. In summary, the Company has established
different communication channels with shareholders and
stakeholders including: (i) providing printed or electronic
copies of corporate communications; (ii) providing
timely corporate information on the Company’s website;
(iii) holding annual general meetings to provide a
platform for shareholders to make comments and
exchange views with the Board; and (iv) providing
service arrangements for the shareholders in respect
of all share registration matters. The Board reviewed
the validity of the implementation of the Shareholders’
Communication Policy during the year and held that
it remained effective in enhancing timely, transparent,
accurate and open communication between the Company
and the shareholders.

General meeting

The Company has been devoting to protecting the legal
rights and interests of all shareholders. The convening
and holding of general meetings are strictly pursuant
to the provisions of the Articles of Association and
Order of Meeting For Shareholders’ General Meeting.
The Company’s general meetings are convened by the
Board and hosted by the Chairperson of the Board.
The executive directors make reports over proposals
at the general meetings, while the representatives of
shareholders, representatives of supervisors, witness
lawyers, profession accountant from Hong Kong
(scrutineers for the vote-taking) jointly inspect and count
the votes to the proposals, and have the chairperson
of the meeting (Chairman of the Board) announce the
voting results and work out the resolution of the meetings
formally. The lawyer appointed by the Company would
witness the meetings and issue letter of legal opinion.
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The general meeting is the highest authority of the
Company, which legally exercises its authorities to
determine the significant events for the Company.
Every year’s annual general meeting provides a
channel of direct communication between the Board
and the shareholders of the Company. Therefore, the
Company pays high regards to the general meetings
by dispatching the meeting notice prior to the meeting
date in accordance with the requirements of the Articles
of Association, and the Chairman and other attending
executive directors make extensive and intensive
communications and interpretation over the issues
concerned by the shareholders at the annual general
meetings.

On 16 June 2023, the Company held the annual general
meeting for year of 2022 by way of combining on-site
meeting and online voting in Qingdao. At the annual
general meeting, six proposals were considered and
approved, including the Company’s 2022 Report of the
Board of Directors, Report of the Board of Supervisors,
Financial Report (audited), Profit Distribution Plan, re-
appointment of auditor for financial reports and internal
audit, and the work report of the independent non-
executive directors of 2022 was briefed. At the annual
general meeting, the Proposal on Amendments to the
Articles of Association was considered and approved
in the form of special resolution at the annual general
meeting.

For the above resolutions of the general meetings, please
refer to the related announcements published by the
Company on the newspapers nominated for domestic
information disclosure, and the websites of SSE and the
Stock Exchange.

67



68

HOE W K A BR A A TSINGTAO BREWERY CO., LTD.

®EF MY Corporate Governance Report

JBe A

A Ty DR I Je SROREE 2 % R ) — TG - AR A W) 4% TR
R IEAE I O B3 BB Pk > DA R R i e %
5o JTA I e ROK 4 2 A e il 3 DA B O SRR o
PSP fo TN R 3R JBe R i 18 A 7 8 1 22 P A
i ~ LA B A v A o

S B DR A A W B AT ARSI AT 3 A R B T
A2+ E(EESZ ) BB R 7 SRR
AT DLt T T X R B B R RO o B
R ZH 1 AR T W B T R RN A > B /A
HIaE SR ABE > WA EE A ERMA A A ERE -
JBe ROME FAG 2 R T AR )BT AT B B I O R SRR 8 Y
WU PR o

JBe A HE SR 2 R B TR YA IO - =458 (30) TE B
AR BORZ SN B R AN A EFIEE
BB R A 17 H B AR B (secretary@tsingtao.
com.cn) 3 ) A F R 5 R o BRI A A A S
R SRR R o R A SO - AR RO
BT LR o

3.

Shareholders’ rights

As one of the measures that secure the interests and
rights of the shareholders, the Company makes a single
resolution at the general meetings for each significant
issue for the shareholders’ consideration and voting. All
resolutions submitted to the general meetings are voted
by way of polls. The voting result will be published
on the websites of the Stock Exchange, SSE and the
Company after the corresponding general meeting.

Shareholders who solely or collectively hold more than
10% (10% inclusive) of shares with voting right issued
by the Company externally may request in writing the
convening of extraordinary general meeting pursuant to
Rule 75 of the Articles of Association. Such request must
be clearly stated to the general meeting the issues needed
to be considered with the signature of the person who
makes the request and notifies in writing to the Board.
The shareholders should follow the relevant rules and
procedures for convening extraordinary general meeting
set out in Articles of Association.

Shareholders have the right to inquire the information
set out in Rule 43(5) of Articles of Association, and can
make inquiry or request for such rights by sending mail
to the Company’s Secretarial Office of the Board or
emailing to the Company’s email address of “Investor
Relations” (secretary@tsingtao.com.cn). Shareholder
who inquires for the related information should provide
corresponding written verification document and
will be provided with such information after his/her
identification as shareholder has been verified by the
Company.
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Amendments to the Articles of Association

On 16 June 2023, the proposal on the amendments to the
Articles of Association was considered and approved at
the annual general meeting for the year of 2022 held by
the Company.

The aforementioned amendments took effect starting
from the date when the resolution was made on 16 June
2023.

For the details of the aforementioned amendments to
the Articles of Association, please refer to the relevant
announcements published by the Company on the
website of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and
the website of the SSE (www.sse.com.cn).

Investor relations and communications

The Company pays high regards to the management
of investor relations, strives to strengthen the
communications and interactions with the investors
through various channels and forms, and makes timely
response to the hot issues concerned by the investors.
At the same time, the Company has been devoted to
improving its transparency to help investors have a better
understanding of the business situation and prospects of
the Company, and carefully listen to the comments and
proposals made by investors to improve the Company’s
corporate governance and operating management
consistently.

In 2023, the Company continued to strengthen
communications and interactions with investors by
taking flexible measures, such as teleconferencing and
online meetings. The Company held more than 100
meetings with investors in 2023, making its stocks gain
broad recognition from the capital market. In addition,
as a response to the call of the Qingdao Securities
Regulatory Bureau and the China Association for Public
Companies Qingdao for strengthening the education
and protection of investors, the Company participated
in interaction activities with investors, such as the 2023
“Online Collective Investor Reception Day” of listed
companies in Qingdao in November. The Company’s
CFO and Board Secretary took part in the activity and
communicated with investors online regarding issues
concerned by the investors such as the Company’s
development strategies and operating conditions.
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6.

Other stakeholders

The Company is of the view that, it should insist on the
operation with integrity and serious fulfillment of social
responsibilities, and establishing a harmonic, win-win
and long-term cooperation relationship with stakeholders
of the Company to ensure its long-lasting existence and
continuous operation. For years, the Company has been
insisting on making full payment of taxes in accordance
with the law, operating with integrity, rewarding the
society and actively participating in the social charity
activities and environmental protection with the steady
growth of its operating results.

Good corporate governance is helpful to the sound
development of the Company and in raising the investors’
confidence, while the effectiveness of the Board is the
key to the good corporate governance. Therefore, the
Board will be dedicated to the continuous improvement
of efficiency and quality of decision-making, so as to
promote the steady development of the Company and
improve shareholders’ value.
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Analysis of Principal Financial Data during the Reporting Period (calculated in

accordance with CAS)
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Analysis of main business and operating situation of the Company

1>
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Analysis of changes in related items in income statement and cash flow statement

Bfr: Too R AR
Unit: RMB’000 Currency: RMB

AR
7 3 % Amount of FRH (%)
Amount of corresponding Increase/
this Reporting  period in prior (Decrease)
#H Item Period year (%)
CE LN Revenue 33,936,523 32,171,566 5.49
BHEA Cost of sales 20,816,890 20,317,935 2.46
HEEH Selling and distribution
expenses 4,708,403 4,199,503 12.12
EHEMN General and administrative
expenses 1,519,063 1,473,368 3.10
up 54l Finance expenses -457,125 -420,806
wEEEN Research and development
expenses 100,637 62,955 59.86
A FEAE S B W e Profits arising from changes
in fair value 230,255 164,354 40.10
5 AR R Credit impairment losses
(BRI - 155551 (Losses are listed with “-”) -14,306 11,145 -228.37
B I R R Asset impairment losses
(BRDAT - 155551 (Losses are listed with “-”") -82,854 -26,124
B i WA Gains on disposals of assets
(BT - 155571 (Losses are listed with “-”) 178,577 29,518
BEmEEENBIEIE  Net cash flows from operating
A activities 2,777,567 4,878,771 -43.07
WHEGEHELENBLSME  Net cash flows from investing
B activities 3,462,971 2,199,108
EEWEBEENBIEIRE  Net cash flows from financing
ez i activities -2,868,066 -1,675,713
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Revenue

1) EHRHRSNE

Output and sales volume analysis statement

i BT

Unit: ten million litre

LY AN Rifeit b
LR (%) WL LAERR(%)
Increase/  LAEWM(%) Increase/

(Decrease) Increase/  (Decrease) in
in output  (Decrease) in inventory
EEEM Bt i volume  sales volume  volume from
Main L1¥id Apht B Inventory from prior from prior prior year
product Unit Output  Sales volume volume year (%) year (%) (%)
W ETH
Beer ten million litre 741 801 51 -5.24 -0.82 -29.78
BB W Explanation of the information of output

BOE I - A B RS A E A AT H B
L A A SR A E i P A

and sales volume

During the Reporting Period, the output
volume of the Company excludes that of the
outsourcing products from the associated
plants and joint ventures of the Company.



— & T~ =44 ANNUAL REPORT 2023

HH g m B 2 Management Discussion and Analysis

2% S
Costs
JRAR S} B e
Cost analysis statement
i T A ARH
Unit: RMB’000  Currency: RMB
SRR
By industries
ANEH
ARSI B LAERM
BEALH  ZHH%)
A (%) Increase/
JRAR WA (%) Percentage in (Decrease)
Percentage in the total cost as compared
AYI2H  thetotalcost  LAERBIZH in the with the
Amount during this Amount of  corresponding  corresponding
during this Reporting  corresponding period in period in
Mi% BB H Reporting Period period in prior year prior year fotaim
By industries Items in the costs Period (%) prior year (%) (%) Explanation
T HARAB
Sales of beer Dig}t\ rgéuerials 13,686,118 66.63 13,323,364 66.49 27
Sales of beer Direct labor 1,002,716 4.88 919,323 4.59 9.07
I PER MBI
Sales of beer Overhead and others 4,716,143 22.96 4,547,034 22.69 372
ML 4 SN EE I A
Sales of beer Finished goods
purchased from
outside 1,135,640 5.53 1,248,300 6.23 -9.03
it
Total 20,540,617 100.00 20,038,521 100.00 251
SRR A
By products
ANEH
LR
HAERBGAE  RBIH(%)
AW AW (%) Increase/
JAR WA (%) Percentage in (Decrease)
Percentage in the total cost as compared
AM4A&®  thetotalcost  HAERBIAH in the with the
Amount during this Amount of  corresponding  corresponding
for this Reporting  corresponding period in period in
SRR BB H Reporting Period period in prior year prior year fotaim
By products Items in the costs Period (%) prior year (%) (%) Explanation
L Hih
Sales of beer Direct materials 13,686,118 66.63 13,323,864 66.49 272
Sales of beer Direct labor 1,002,716 4.88 919,323 4.59 9.07
ML 5 PER M R
Sa!es of beer Overhead and others 4,716,143 22.96 4,547,034 22.69 372
ML 4 fi
Sales of beer Finished goods
purchased from
outside 1,135,640 5.53 1,248,300 6.23 -9.03
it
Total 20,540,617 100.00 20,038,521 100.00 251
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Composition of production costs

15.17%

17.48%

5.69%

51.05%
O%F @Kk OWE @Kk OHBE
Malt Rice Hops Water  Auxiliary
materials
4~ %R
Expenses
m  BEERA
Revenue

(2)

20234F 4 W ] Ee 38 fms.49% > LR
PRI A 455 R TR it T A A - 00 8 3
WA TR He s i 2

In 2023, revenue increased by 5.49% from
the corresponding period in prior year. This
was mainly because the current revenue
increased from the corresponding period in
prior year due to the improvement of the
product structure in the year.

BRI

Cost of sales

20234F 8 FE A [ e B n2.46% »
PRI A 45 R TR J b IR A e i A6
AR 6 90 5 S B A [ b 334 P 3
In 2023, cost of sales increased by 2.46%
from the corresponding period in prior year.
This was mainly because the current cost
of sales increased from the corresponding
period in prior year due to the increase of
the raw material price and the improvement
of the product structure in the year.

17.03%

5.36%

12.44%

53.82%

OfE @8RY OHZAT OWEEH

Energy

Packaging  Direct labor ~ Overhead
materials costs
3 SR

O

Selling and distribution expenses

202347 & 2 FH 7] Eb 3 12.12% > 2R
PRI A 4 B A v K i AR g B A R Bk
TSI ] Lo 3 hn i 2

In 2023, selling and distribution expenses
increased by 12.12% from the corresponding
period in prior year. This was mainly because
the Company intensified promotional effort
in the year and staff remuneration increased
from the corresponding period in prior year..

N

General and administrative expenses

20234F- 4 B2 Y [F] bb 3 n3.10% » FE ZER
PRI A 45 Lk 585 P I L 334 o T 3

In 2023, general and administrative
expenses increased by 3.10% from the
corresponding period in prior year. This was
mainly because staff remuneration increased
from the corresponding period in prior year.
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Finance expenses

20234 4 785 # FH I\ lb i 4236,319F 78 - &
B2t PRI AR ) B MR W] BB B I Fr 3 -
In 2023, finance expenses decreased by
RMB36.319 million from the corresponding
period in prior year. This was mainly
because the interest income for the year
increased from the corresponding period in
prior year.

wrEE
R&D expenditures

20234F B 38 B A IR LE 3 n59.86% > R
R R A A JEE T 28 o5t F 38 St 4 ) B B
FrE o

In 2023, R&D expenditures increased by
59.86% from the corresponding period in
prior year. This was mainly because the
R&D expenditures on new products in the
year increased from the corresponding
period in prior year.

O Fe el 5% B W 2

Profits arising from changes in fair value

20234F 2 S fE A S B AR W L B
40.10% > REJFFRAGEEAA T Z 2 HE
T W B A SRAT B AT 5 P
o

In 2023, profits arising from changes in
fair value increased by 40.10% from the
corresponding period in prior year. This was
mainly because Tsingtao Finance Company,
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
purchased bonds from the bank in the year.

®

®

A7 WAL B 2K (RUR BAT - 15% e5)

Credit impairment loss (losses are listed
with “_n)

20234 5 FH A 48 2K [7] Bo 34 n228.37% »

g PR R A AR A 3 2 ] IR T
FHR S AR I 2% ) L3 B 3 -

In 2023, credit impairment losses increased
by 228.37% from the corresponding period
in prior year. This was mainly because some
subsidiaries’ accrual of credit impairment
losses for accounts receivable increased
from the corresponding period in prior year.

REAE WA B R (UK BAT - 15% e50)

Asset impairment losses (losses are listed
With “_”)

20234 ¥ & I 1 48 2K [ Bb 36 Imse6,730T
6 > EFE PR R AR BE AR B 4 F G
I 2 7 A £ 2 [ B 3 o 3

In 2023, asset impairment losses
increased by RMB56.73 million from the
corresponding period in prior year. This
was mainly because some subsidiaries’
calculation of fixed asset impairment losses
in the year increased from the corresponding
period in prior year.

75



76

HOE W K A BR A A TSINGTAO BREWERY CO., LTD.

HH g m B 2 Management Discussion and Analysis

(10)

1)

6 7 i LB (BUK DAT - 158 63

Gains on disposals of assets (losses are
listed with “-)

20234 ¥ 7 BE W Ak ] BG 3 hn188,095T
TG » g PR R AR JE A B 2 W R Y
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In 2023, gains on disposals of assets
increased by RMB 188.095 million from
the corresponding period in prior year. This
was mainly because the income from the
disposal of long-term assets such as land use
rights as recognized by some subsidiaries in
the year increased from the corresponding
period in prior year.

SRS ) A W B U B VS )

Net cash flows from operating activities

20234F 5878 15 By 78 A 1 Bl 4 il B AR L
WA 43.07% > FEZJF R AL BEA L 7]
KRR S S > ARSI B &IH
i 2 [F] bb 3 fm B 2 -

In 2023, net cash flows from operating
activities decreased by 43.07% from the
corresponding period in prior year. This
was mainly because the Company beefed up
brand promotion and marketing activities in
the year and the taxes paid increased from
the corresponding period in prior year.

12)

13)
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Net cash flows from investing activities

202347 4% ¥ I ) 7 2k 1 B 4 i B Y A Ll
1,263,863 T 70 » T PR AR FEA
AB 2 B E T AR BB A R SR AR
Lo 3 m B 8 -

In 2023, net cash flows from investing
activities decreased by RMB1,263.863
million from the corresponding period in
prior year. This was mainly because the
net investment in wealth management by
the Finance Company, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, decreased from
the corresponding period in prior year.

R A 0 B A A R R )

Net cash flows from financing activities

202345 55 Y I ) 2 A 1 B 4 A O 4 I L
WA 1,192,353 F 70 » 2 J5 PR RL AR 4)
T JBe ) 32 A o B 4 (] b 3 > DA K% A 3
A FEER RS SR A E AR TR

In 2023, net cash flows from financing
activities decreased by RMB1,192.353
million from the corresponding period in
prior year. This was mainly because the
cash paid for distributing share dividends in
the year increased from the corresponding
period in prior year and some subsidiaries
repaid borrowings due and did not renew
the borrowings.
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5+ BEEHA

Research and development expenses

5.1

5.2

UE & N RV E S

Information of Research and development expenses

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

Hpr : T
Unit: RMB’000

A 2 FALBE B4 A
B EALHFERA

Uk 2 IN=Fi}
R BB A BB 2 S (%)
WP A B ALY LT (%)

R YNGR RV E S

Information of R&D personnel

AFTIEAN R EE
R INEE e LA YN oA ]
(%)

R&D expenditures of the Reporting Period

R&D expenditures of the Reporting Period
capitalised

Total R&D expenditures

Percentage of total R&D expenditures in revenue (%)
Percentage of R&D expenditures capitalized(%)

Number of R&D personnel

Percentage of number of R&D personnel in total
number of employees of the Company (%)

LR YN s

Educational background of R&D personnel

BLR AR SUN
SRS
[ERRT S
A
oA
AR

AR IR A RN

308 A T (A E30%)
30-405% (305K > A& 405%)
40-505% (& 405% > AE506%)
50-605% (& 505K > A& 605K)
60k K& VA |E

Educational background
PhD

Postgraduate
Undergraduate

2-year college

High school and below

WEEE A BAR B AN
Age groups of R&D personnel

Age group

Below 30 (not inclusive of 30)

30-40 (inclusive of 30, not inclusive of 40)
40-50 (inclusive of 40, not inclusive of 50)
50-60 (inclusive of 50, not inclusive of 60)
60 and above

100,637

0
100,637
0.30
0.00

788

2.49

L S YN
Number of
persons

13

89

290

167

229

SRR B
Number of
persons

34

202

262

288

2
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(Z) ¥ - AR

Analysis of assets and liabilities

1~ HEAMENRIIE
Analysis of assets and liabilities
By F W ARE
Unit: RMB'000  Currency: RMB
IR FIPS-
Amount at NP
AWMAY AHEAY  the end of the LEmAY  ®EWNAZH
Amount at the fHERER  corresponding AL T (%)
end of this LAl (%) reporting (%) Increase/
Reporting  Percentage of periodin  Percentage of (Decrease)
HHAR Ttem Period total assets (%) prior year  total assets (%) (%)
Jdes Notes receivable - 4,500 0.01 -100.00
Hopl sk Other receivables 184,368 0.37 682,770 136 -73.00
—ERBIMNERHE  Non-current assets due within one year
i3 28,432 0.06 - - -
HibisgE Other current assets 4.341,748 8.81 6,222,810 1237 -30.23
Rk RsomeE Other non-current financial assets 1,425,486 2.89 600 237,480.93
REMF b E Tnvestment property 44,165 0.09 29,056 0.06 52.00
BN R B )1 Other non-current assets 108,728 0.22 74,235 0.15 46.46
R Short-term borrowings - - 225411 0.45 -100.00
BB Taxes payable 343,504 0.70 771,895 153 -35.50
HEAH Lease liabilities 63,393 0.13 98,401 020 -35.58
1) FE W B OAR AR B R L A WA 2) Ll BE WeskoAR 4R B K e T A R A

100.00% > 3 B2 J5 PR g AR 45 BE A 24 W] i 2]
0 SRAT R L B 5238 L R AT B -
Notes receivable at the end of the Reporting
Period decreased by 100.00% from the
amount at the beginning of the Reporting
Period. This was mainly because the
banker’s acceptance bills received by the
Company were all endorsed and transferred
during the year.

73.00% > B J5 PR AR BEAS 4w Wi [T
H01 R . i D R O M MR WK
FrE o

Other receivables at the end of the Reporting
Period decreased by 73.00% from the
amount at the beginning of the Reporting
Period. This was mainly because the
Company recovered the accounts receivable
on long-term assets during the year, such as
the previous disposal of land use rights.
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3)

4)

5)

6)

O ft 3 By A A AR R I8 R b 39 A e A
30.23% > BEFHEEAREEARFZ 2H
T2 T B 25 2 ] <l ) S A7 B3 5 B W
EIE

Other current assets at the end of the
Reporting Period decreased by 30.23% from
the amount at the beginning of the Reporting
Period. This was mainly because Finance
Company, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, recovered inter-bank deposits due
during the year.

At e 37 T < v Y A A 0D K L 401 A0 g
n1,424,886F 76 » £ BLJ5 B R AR BE AR 2
Al 2 AT A T B o F O SRAT 3R AT
R o

Other non-current financial assets at the
end of the Reporting Period increased by
RMB1,424,886,000 from the amount at the
beginning of the Reporting Period. This
was mainly because Finance Company, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
purchased bonds from the bank during the
year.

% 5 Hb R A AR BB K L 39T A 1 o
52.00% > EZJF FRAERER S 1A w H
i o 7 W W LB E T B -

Investment property at the end of the
Reporting Period increased by 52.00%
from the amount at the beginning of the
Reporting Period. This was mainly because
some subsidiaries’ self-use properties were
changed to leased properties during the year.

A i 5 ) A AR AR 0 K LR 391 40 34
46.46% > )5 PR AR BEER 43 1 v Wl TH
Ak TR B A R S 3 P 2

Other non-current assets at the end of the
Reporting Period increased by 46.46%
from the amount at the beginning of the
Reporting Period. This was mainly because
some subsidiaries’ advance payment for
projects and equipment purchases increased
during the year.

7)

8)

9)

IR N I N A
100.00% - = %2 J5 PR AR 45 B Rl 31l 1 2 Wl
R ORISR -

Short-term borrowings at the end of the
Reporting Period decreased by 100.00%
from the amount at the beginning of the
Reporting Period. This was mainly because
some subsidiaries repaid borrowings due
during the year.

B 22 58 B A A BE ST AR He S 038 4 55.50% >
BT PRI A A BE R AR T e Bt - 1 (B
BB A B -

Taxes payable at the end of the Reporting
Period decreased by 55.50% from the
amount at the beginning of the Reporting
Period. This was mainly because taxes
(such as consumption taxes and value-added
taxes) payable decreased during the year.

L £ AR BE IR LI B3804 35.58%
S5 PR R AR A B 43 1 AR S A AR B A
ARE A N B P IER B R -
Lease liabilities at the end of the Reporting
Period decreased by 35.58% from the
amount at the beginning of the Reporting
Period. This was mainly because some lease
payments yet to be made were transferred to
non-current liabilities due within one year
during the year.
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(2) Jefb 1ot at 4. HARPEBRIX

Interpretation of other operating situations Capital expenses

e85 ¥ AR
Debt/Capital Ratio

AR E20234E12 731 H BE B E AR E % 0%(2022
FE12H31H : 0%) o EHERRWFH TS5
T 391 sk 40 B/ (IR 39 5 3k A 70 B R 0 A W R
HHEDS)

As at 31 December 2023, the Company’s debt/
capital ratio was 0% (31 December 2022: 0%).The
calculation of debt/capital ratio is: total amount
of long-term borrowings/(total amount of long-
term borrowings + interests attributable to the
Shareholders of the Company).

YE A A

Assets mortgage

2023412 H31H > A2 W) 8 B A HLAH (2022
H12H31H : )

As at 31 December 2023, the Company did not
have any mortgages (31 December 2022: Nil).

FE 4 3 ) &2

Risk of exchange rate fluctuations

197 NN N E R e Sy e Y- ) VR SN
AR O > PRI 0 R A 53 T S A A
] Y J5ARHER B A 5 28 A o AR 2 ] S 43 ML
FE AN - MER M E) o BB AR AR
B i I VWO 5 DL ST A A ) Y R
hEEE— B -

As the Company currently relies on imported
barley among the raw materials for the production
of its core brand products, the fluctuation of
exchange rate would indirectly affect the purchase
cost of raw materials of the Company; besides,
the fluctuation of exchange rate would also
directly affect the product export income of the
Company as some beer products of the Company
are exported for sale; these matters would have
impacts on the profitability of the Company in
certain extent.

20234F A A ) A MR - 9 R i
H IR A K 16,1848 50 o KA H BT E &M
MEBFERD - ARREW A E SRR
BEREFRAMREAAEAREAMEEFHK -

In 2023, the Company invested in approximately
RMB1.618 billion in aggregate for the capital
projects of new construction, relocation,
reconstruction and expansion. Based on the
Company’s present fund situation and profitability,
there are sufficient self-owned funds and
continuous net operating cash in-flow to satisfy the
Company’s needs for funds for its capital projects.

#¥
Investments
FE 202348 B B 75 R R B RE: o

Refer to the Notes to the Financial Statements of
2023 for details.

DR NN

Contingent liabilities
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LSS AT SRR AT B T

Analysis of operational information in brewing industry

A B ERR UL 1 The existing production capacity of the Company
AR BAE TRGRETERRL4A2E T I - EBRAER46HE The designed production capacity of the existing plants
TFH o AR BEBRERRAR G T 5 Hh i 55 85 B U it 2= of the Company is 14.32 million kl, of which the actual
R BEMBA - K& A¥EGEE - IHRESTEER production capacity is 9.46 million kl. The Company’s
1% > EEAERIER R E A AR actual production capacity is the actual annual
production capacity that the brewing plants can reach
after combining and leveraging the factors including the
indicators of peak season and low season in different
markets, holidays and festivals, overhaul, routine
maintenance and cleaning of equipment.
2 EMBIRMEAE R
Inventory at the end of the Reporting Period
By FETT
Unit: million litre
I I 2 i (F5 R0 )
Finished beer product Semi-finished beer product (including base beer)
513 505
3 EMNR
Product information
oy Fr W ARE
Unit: RMB’000  Currency: RMB
1 (%) K (%) 1 (%)
Increase/ Increase/ Increase/
(Decrease) (Decrease) (Decrease) ER
from the from the from the Rk
BER  corresponding #%  corresponding BEH% (%) corresponding ol
(T period in (F94) periodin  Sales-output period in Main
Production prior year  Sales volume prior year Percentage LT ON prior year representative
FER AR Product class (k) (%) (k) (%) (%)  Sales income (%) brand
FEMM Tsingtao Brand 4358 213 4568 267 10480 23,262,985 8.62 L)
4.35 million 4.56 million Tsingtao
Al Other brands 3068 932 345 -5.08 1271 10,142,810 -134 Al
3.06 million 3.45 million Laoshan
Gl Total 7418 -5.04 8017 -0.82 10807 33,405,795 539 HE -
741 million 8.01 million Tsingtao and

Laoshan
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A i R K o B

Product classification criteria:

O]

(2)

2

[ 5 ML 5 R R A R R
— > £ B PI AN T 5 EL A RO A R B D R
TR P45 > O TR i o T S e g L
W B G AT R A g - R TR A
Hh v i T 35 M SR SB HAE 5 DLW Ly R A AR R Y
Al T b S ORI BTG A - B
Jo it Sk TR A, T B R A B 35 M S8 I
A AR -

The “Tsingtao Beer” brand owned by the
Company is one of China’s first top 10 well-known
trademarks, which has strong brand impact and
high popularity in domestic and overseas markets.
Tsingtao Beer products are mainly promoted and
sold in the mid-and-high-end beer consumption
markets, and maintain a leading position in the
domestic mid-and-high-end markets; products
of other brands represented by Laoshan Beer are
mainly promotes the sales in mass consumption
markets, which jointly builds an improved brand
and product mix system covering the markets in
the whole country with the core brand products.

e 2 ) A R TR BT 3 B RS B A AR R
BRAEBEAEENEER o
The aforesaid output and comparison data of the
Company of the corresponding period exclude
the output of the associated and joint investment
brewing plants of the Company.

M B

Purchase amount

JEORHR JE 15 DL

Information of purchase of raw materials

a

F IR 4
Purchase amount Purchase amount of
of the Reporting

B

Purchasing mode

2 2 B R S B 2 B JE0bE Rt 3 T O AR
A bR IE MRt 45 > e WL s B A R
B R 2 1 R 0 AR U DA A T A 2 > Rl
PIERINE o o] AR T IR OR 0 2 il A
B - HAT S W R BB - B A R
TR - [ BEHTAT 3 A B AT I R
BIRWE o AR AR RBHEER > BETHE
MR ER I - BB - ML - RRUE B o
The main raw materials purchased by the
Company include raw materials for brewing,
packaging materials and other materials. Among
the raw materials, barley, the main raw material
in brewing beer, is mainly imported from abroad,
while the packaging materials are purchased at
home. The Company purchases bulk materials in
centralized manner through the unified bidding
by the head office, of which most materials are
purchased through annual bidding, and some
through quarterly bidding. At the same time, the
Company makes timely adjustment by keeping
an eye on the industry to determine the industry
situation. The Company also expands the bidding
model and establishes the Tsingtao Procurement
Mall platform to exercise transparent, standardized
and highly efficient management.

By T R AR
Unit: RMB’000 Currency: RMB

AV H ) AR Y

W (%)

EWRIEAH Percentage in total
purchase amount

the corresponding of the Reporting

BRI Class of raw materials Period period in prior year Period (%)
T2 95 5 ) Raw materials for brewing 3,852,016 4,943,595 27.81
(agsy vy Packaging materials 9,132,647 9,621,494 65.92
HER Energy 868,863 96,015 6.27



TR =4 ANNUAL REPORT 2023

HH g m B 2 Management Discussion and Analysis

5

SR L

Information of sales

a

A BB

Sales mode

AN B BOLE B A S 0 o BT IR
B - NS E R BRI SR T
B S MAT R - BT R BURE - Al
- WU RRAE M o M AF R
HLBI 5T 2 S A7 R B S A IR B AT o
The Company has established Tsingtao Brewery
Marketing Center to perform such business
functions as marketing and management, product
sales and after-sales services. It consists of a
number of specialized functional departments,
including Brand Management, Sales Management,
Modern Channels, Innovation Business and Market
Research, to formulate and implement marketing
strategies and annual marketing plans according to
the Company’s development planning.

Ao v A 1 A T 355 A S I A R R 4 9 R Y
BE b o B ADHT B AR AR T Sr AL 2 g 3R
B e o i 30 IR A0 S0 A0 o A AT O
MW GEE BREHAHE AT - HE -
R SR 3 S B 1 AL A B B T A I 3
BB IR o 4 W) BR R A R S g - R
TR - BREN 1+1 ] i it B e > % 7 A0 8% e )
BEM  RHETHGMEBES - AT E
T 255 5K ) D R G SRR A A M - S BT B R [ IR i
GiHI o BRE ) - B AR P 5 R ) A
BHELEED > B AR ERSE - AF Al
R SR > MRS B4 R B A IR
F oo IR R R AL - AERORTE
J7 THE MG+ 7 T A R R T B R
Sr AL TR 7 R B R S L > MR B SR
=0T E R A - AUk E S B > K
020 ~ B2B ~ Ak [ B 5538 0 > 2 S0 i A2 TGk
AR IR AT 2 2 P S SR S LR, o

On the basis of a deep region-based distribution
model in the domestic market, the Company
continues to expand business on multiple chains
both online and offline. It carries out product sales
and exercises market management by market

region and sub-divided channel, developing and
maintaining regional market sales channels through
business branches, including sales branches,
province-based regional branches and province-
based offices. The Company upholds a high-quality
development strategy, holds fast to the “1+1"
brand strategy through brand orientation, and
fosters star products to improve its brand influence
on all fronts. The Company makes active steps
to cultivate professional distributors on multiple
channels. By taking a suite of measures, including
network-based collaboration, professional market
planning and promotional support, the Company
continues to improve its distribution capacity on
regional markets, strengthen its management of
end customers and expand its brand influence
among consumers in a bid to boost product sales.
The Company develops new sales models and
builds up the “Internet+’ channel system. By
setting up professional e-commerce channels,
the Company continues to amplify the leading
edge of a multi-dimensional e-commerce channel
system that combines “Official Flagship Store
+ Official Mall + Online Retailers + Franchised
Store”. On top of that, it collaborates with third-
party platforms to quickly create new marketing
models. By vigorously promoting such business
activities as 020, B2B and community group
purchase, the Company satisfies the buying needs
and consumption experience of consumers in the
internet era through multiple channels.
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A BT B AL R B IR - A B R BT
g > )L RE G ~ A T A A B T A 5 3R
B NE B WEREAS  ITEEHERTES
SeHupr o

The Company promotes the digital transformation
of marketing on all fronts and adopts new digital
technologies to drive the upgrading of its supply chain
and distributor network model in all aspects. It seeks
to be an industrial leader for marketing models by
accelerating the connectivity of channels, personnel,
costs and consumers.

NV ARG A T 855 4 8 T BE A A ) A AR B 7
HEAT - IR ER 12010 B R Kl > A5 ) RSB A L

HH g m B 2 Management Discussion and Analysis

U Bl @ B E B PR R BETE
TSP F i R ot R B o R o L R A O -
FT3E A R T o MO A D i 5 e B R

The Company realizes sales in overseas markets through
overseas subsidiaries and local agents, with products sold
to 120 countries and regions. Through distributors and
other local resources, the Company attempts to establish
localized business development teams to fully exert the
brand equity of Tsingtao Brewery, implement brand
promotion and build and enhance the upmarket brand
image of Tsingtao Brewery in international market.

Q) BERFH
Regional information
BT W ARE
Unit: RMB'000  Currency: RMB
IR:F
IREEION ()
Sales Income Al AWGER  Sales volume AHE
AWAEHA of the (%) (1) of the (%)
Sales income of  corresponding  Percentage of  Sales volume of  corresponding  Percentage of
the Reporting  period in prior ~ the Reporting  the Reporting  period in prior  the Reporting
[ A Region Period year Period (%) Period (kl) year (kl) Period (%)
Wt Shandong Region 22,868,534 21,367,262 68.45 5,566,302 5,486,035 69.52
ELE North China 7,981,434 7,862,659 23.89 1,998,634 2,089,410 24.96
bR South China 3,621,713 3,399,591 10.84 943,489 915,006 11.78
R East China 2,771,451 2,778,540 8.30 791,864 861,860 9.89
KHE South-east China 888,265 916,263 2.66 202,348 226,926 253
RIS Hong Kong, Macau and
W other overseas regions 717,183 721,069 2.15 99,787 111,180 125
R AR Elimination between regions -5,442,785 -5,348,041 -16.29 -1,596,219 -1,618,025 -19.93
A Total 33,405,795 31,697,343 100.00 8,006,705 8,072,393 100.00
i S ) 4 Region division criteria:

A W AR A () Dt 4 T 355 0 268 B e A 8 e
SRS BTG W SE B SRR AT 5 -

The Company sets up different business structures in the
markets throughout the country based on the operation
strategy and development needs in different regional
markets.
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3) EHHHR

Information of distributors

HpE <
Unit: PCS

55 300 A 4 B g
Number of 078 300 Py 8 e 9 300 P AP 8

distributor as at Increased number Decreased number

the end of the during the during the
1 58, 44 i Region Reporting Period Reporting Period Reporting Period
[ N T 5 Domestic market 11,357 2,954 3,423
RRB T B UL Information on the management of distributors:

AT FRNEA -~ = R AR > &
20 ) R B A R > 3R A AR I
Ty FETCy o PR 3t R bR R v B A 3 B X
S FRERT AR ) o R Wb
BB RS E R R R MBFE S - By
B SR AR -

Upholding the concept of “Co-creation, Sharing,
and Win-win results”, the Company carried on the
high-quality development strategy and the product
strategy and unleashed network-based vitality
and aggressiveness. The Company expedited
the reform of the manufacturer-distributor
collaboration and distribution model based on
different local conditions to continuously improve
network operations. The Company accelerated the
digitization of channels, providing more strengths
for distributors to grow and compete in the market
and laying a network-based foundation for high-

quality development.
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A FBAZ B

Analysis of the Company’s income

() HAFFRGESE 5 7l B EB L
Disclosure of composition of the Company’s
principal business by classes

B Tn W ARK
Unit: RMB'000  Currency: RMB
(%) k(%)
Increase/ Increase/
(Decrease) (Decrease)
from the from the (%)
corresponding corresponding Th%(%) Increase/(Decrease) from the
ELON period in BEWA  periodinprior  Gross margin corresponding
Fip8 L] Class Revenue  prior year (%) Cost of sales year (%) (%) period in prior year (%)
RN By levels of products
BRI Tsingtao brand 23,262,985 8.62 12,904,806 115 4453 Hmo.T6ME A A
Up 0.76 percentage point
Fof Other brands 10,142,810 134 7635811 44 un Bt A0WT 45
Up 249 percentage points
Nt Total 33,405,795 - 20,540,617 -
TR By regions
AR Shandong Region 22,868,534 103 14,964 444 504 34.56 B E R A
Up L1 percentage points
iR North China 7,9814%4 151 5,591,960 129 299 Koo 1sHA A A
Up 0.15 percentage point
e South China 3,621,713 6.53 2,455,542 6.9 220 Koo, 16 A4 A
Up 0.16 percentage point
HRE East China 271451 026 1,987,008 346 2830 Wi 37
Up 2.37 percentage points
KA South-¢ast China 888,265 306 638,143 44 28.16 K104 A
Up 1.04 percentage points
WRREMEN  Hong Kong, Macau and 77,183 054 456,266 34 36.38 HmTsHER A
e other overseas regions Up 1.78 percentage points
ks Elimination between regions -5,442,785 -5,552,746

it Total 33,405,795 - 20,540,617
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= B R R AR Bt Je 1wt i BEL 23 Ay

Discussion and analysis of the future
development of the Company

A7 SR IBETHHS e A0 e 5

Industrial Competition Layout and Development
Trend

o ] L T 355 4R R A TR A O M O A R T S -
AR SZAEPE ~ ADERFEE - [TROPARE R
JRPEBE > AT BRI - A BT AR SR H iR o
China’s beer market is the world’s largest market for
beer production and consumption. Affected by factors
such as the economy and population, the industry has
entered a stage of stable development, with an increasing
industrial concentration and an increasingly clear-cut
competitive landscape in each region.

134 g LS i 3 3 008 Ak AT A S AL R T A > DA
JETH TR B - e MU AT S AL -
ABfL - ARELBER - RSEEEENE > BEKRAE
BIRA

Through scientific and technological innovation and
digital transformation and upgrade, domestic beer
enterprises are accelerating the high-end, intelligent,
and green development of the beer industry, improving
production and operation efficiency, and cutting system
operation costs in a bid to meet consumer demand as
starting point.

2235 TR % oAb DA R 1F 2 8 1 Ay 438 b I £ % i it
AT B AE R IS A WA > WL BRI RN R S R BB
ZeAL BRI > S M I 2 % R A o i o A R R
JRFLBE o PRFE RLAF IR S - MR AT 36 R 2 A K T
5 FARE SR TT 22 ] o WL i St B 461 4 T 25 ook 3%
Jee $ Th 2 B ke R T - AR I AR - FORSEREDL
T S A A B A AR 45 5 UM R JE WL 36 s - AR ER
RS R T PR AR BL RT3 R Bh Ak o

The diversification of consumer demand and the change
in consumption habits are causing changes in the structure
of the whole beer industry. Beer consumption channels
and consumption scenarios are presenting a diversified
development. Mid-to-high-end products that better meet
consumer demand have been ushered in development
opportunities and maintained good momentum for
growth. There is substantial room for improvement in the
overall profit level of the beer industry. Beer enterprises
are also beginning to bring relevant diversified
development up to the strategic level. They step into non-
beer businesses by ways such as launching new products,
seeking mergers and acquisitions, and partnering with
other companies, so as to provide new growth drivers for
stable development on a long-term basis.

(=) 2] gt ikt

The Company’s Development Strategy

O] BRE R O v S B > AN A R
b~ ZHAL - R EALRERAL TR > T BT B
R LR~ G - BRI 30 A A A R A
YA A 1 6 R BE S > SRIURTNR A 30 1= SR > T
BIREpoRAME - M PR o AF BEF DRI B
SRR - nbRmAL - B ReAL - Axf B
2 e e R T - R S T R BT IR R
7 SR G IRAIORT AL - FRAUE AR A ) > WO
AR T3 o

The Company steadfastly promotes a high-quality
development strategy. Targeting demand for high-quality,
diversified, featured, and scenario-based consumer
consumption, the Company capitalizes on its platforms
and resources, including its brands, products, technology,
and production bases, channels, and networks that cover
the market nationwide, and adopts active growth tactics
to make improvements while ensuring stable growth and
to improve quality while making improvements. The
Company upholds the principle of promoting quality and
efficiency for the traditional industry through scientific
and technological innovation and shapes new edges for
high-quality development through high-end, intelligent,
and green development. The Company uses advanced
and applicable technologies to explore new paths for
reducing carbon throughout the whole industrial chain,
continues to foster new quality productive forces, and
drives new industrialization through the integration of

digital technologies and the real economy.
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(2)

AT AT 2 A 05 A e 4 12 i dir > DAT R & ~ W%
A~ BIEROUE R B RS - BB E BT
EMAE > BWRITAFR RMEEN > HEITEEM
BEH T 5 WA o B R RV B > HE) AR A
BEAL - Faefh - B EE - RelBRE > HEERE
HERR PR o o AR A M L A e Y A B R Al A
WA 3R > Ol IR SRR R - PO A
R~ G - AURTAESE - RBEBR M R — i
¥* o

The Company takes “Create Happiness for Life” as
its mission and “High Quality, Sustainability, and
Advances with the Times” as its development concept.
The Company is building more competitive product
portfolios to increase its brand influence in all aspects. It
continuously develops the base market strategic belt at
the provincial level, fosters attractive quality, promotes
the large-scale, intelligent, smart, and green development
of production bases, proactively and steadily drives
carbon neutralization, and constantly optimizes value
chain costs etc. By taking these measures, the Company
strives to strengthen and improve the beer business as
its primary business, further accelerates high-quality
coporate development, and expedites the building of a
global top enterprise with “Excellent Products, Excellent
Brands, Leading Innovation, and Modern Governance”.

iyl

Business Plan

O R AFYTAE B X 7 35 1 B R T AR A R - R AR
MR - FEAEEIR T RO S RIS - By
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The Company will grasp favorable opportunities brought
by consumption upgrades in the domestic market,
focus on its primary business of selling beer products,
capitalize on the brand and quality edges of Tsingtao
Beer, proactively drive the upgrading of its product
structure, improve product quality, and step up efforts in
market expansion to achieve sustainable and high-quality
development.
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The Company will take advantage of its production and
sales network that covers major markets in China, as
well as a comprehensive supply chain system, accelerate
the development of “One Vertical and Two Horizontal”
strategic belts, continuously intensify market promotion,
and deepen the building of a market sales network to
consolidate its dominant position on the base market
and expand its market share of the emerging market, and
drive continuous improvement in its market operation
capacity and profitability. In the global market, the
Company will adhere to high quality, high prices, and
high visibility, continue to promote the distribution
coverage and brand communication in the foreign
markets, and constantly enhance the international brand
profile of Tsingtao Beer.
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The Company will continue to implement the brand
strategy of “1+1” (Tsingtao Beer + Laoshan Beer),
promoting continuous optimisation and upgrading
in brand structure, and consolidate and enhance its
competitive edge in mid-to-high-end markets. Focusing
on marketing through sports, music, and experience,
the Company will lead a new marketing trend for
the diversification of consumption scenarios under
the backdrop of consumption upgrading through an
immersive brand promotion model on all fronts, and
further build new business forms, models, and scenarios
to meet consumers’ multi-level demands.
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The Company will strengthen systematic innovation,
and take scientific and technological innovation as
the guide. It will promote digital transformation on
all fronts, upgrade and speed up digitalisation and
intellectualisation of manufacturing, accelerate the
progress of intelligent manufacturing projects, and build
a whole-chain and end-to-end digital ecosystem and a
smart supply chain system to shape new competitive
edges. The Company will steadfastly enable green
transformation through innovation, practice the
environmental concept of “For A Better World”, and
make every efforts to promote environmental protection,
low-carbon management, and a circular economy.
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In 2024, the Company will face multiple pressures and
challenges, including the complicated and changeable
external market environment and slow growth. In
this context, the Company will stay confident under
the Board’s leadership, forge ahead, grasp favorable
opportunities brought by the new round of technological
revolutions and consumption reform, as well as by
continuing trends such as the upgrading, diversification,
and customization of the beer industry, to resolutely
strengthen and optimise its beer business as the primary
business, drive continuous improvement in market
operation capacity and profitability of the Company,
achieve high-quality development, and create higher
values for its shareholders.

Potential Business Risks

R S 1A WL T 3 B 3 R AT RE R BTN £ - SRR ML
AT E R %

In the future, the growth of the domestic beer market
might be affected by uncertainties such as consumption
and climate change.
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With the diversified, customized, and scenario-based
trend of consumption demand for beer in domestic
market, consumers’ demand for high-quality products
will keep growing. Hence, enterprises will continue to
increase spending on the development of mid-to-high-
end products, thereby launching new products with
new packages. They will prioritize the improvement
of product and service quality and build up their brand
image. The current increasing domestic beer market
concentration will further intensify market competition
for domestic mid-to-high-end products, resulting in a
continuous increase in advertising, promotion, and other
related expenses. Changes in costs will also affect the
Company’s future sales volume, revenue, and profits.
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NEETEEFEF A Members of the Tenth Session of the Board:
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Mr. HUANG Ke Xing, aged 61, graduated from the School of Mechanical Engineering of
Shandong University and obtained a Master’s degree in business administration from the Guanghua
School of Management of Peking University. He is qualified as a Senior Engineer. He is currently
Chairman of the Board and Secretary of the Party Committee of the Company and Secretary of the
Party Committee and Chairman of the Board of Directors of Tsingtao Group. He was Assistant to
the President of the Company and Head of Strategic Investment Management Department, Vice
President of the Company, and President and Marketing President of the Company. He has rich
experience in strategy planning, investment management, operation management, marketing and
brand management of beer industry. Mr. Huang’s honors include “National Model Worker”, “National
5.1 Labor Medal”, “Model Worker” of the National Light Industry, “Craftsman of the Great
Country” of the National Light Industry, “Excellent Entrepreneur in Shandong Province of First
Class Merit Award”, “Excellent Entrepreneur in Qingdao”. Mr. Huang is also the Delegate of the
13th Shandong Provincial People’s Congress and Member of the 11th Committee of the Shandong
Provincial Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference.
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Mr. JIANG Zong Xiang, aged 51, graduated from Shandong University of Technology with a
bachelor’s degree and obtained a master’s degree in economics from Nankai University. He is
currently the executive director, deputy secretary of the Party Community and president of the
Company. He served as deputy general manager of Tsingtao Brewery (Wuhu) Co., Ltd, deputy head

of the company’s strategic investment management headquarters, head of information management
headquarters, head of procurement management headquarters of manufacturing center, assistant to
manufacturing president and head of procurement management headquarters of the Company. He has
rich experience in production operation and business management. Mr. Jiang is also the Delegate of
the 14th Shandong Provincial People’s Congress.
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Mr. WANG Rui Yong, aged 58, holds a master’s degree in business administration from Peking
University and is a senior engineer. He is the executive director, a member of the Party Committee
and the vice president of the Company. His previous positions included: the general manager of
Beijing Five Star Tsingtao Brewery Co., Ltd, the general manager of Tsingtao Brewery huaihai
Division, the general manager of Shanghai Tsingtao Brewery Huadong Marketing Co., Ltd General,
the general manager of Tsingtao Brewery Marketing Center in Shandong Province, the assistant
to the President of the Company and the president of Marketing of the Company. He has rich
experience in marketing, production operation and enterprise management. Mr. Wang is also the
Delegate of the 17th Qingdao People’s Congress.
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Mr. HOU Qiu Yan, aged 57, graduated from Shandong University of Technology with a master’s
degree in business administration. He is currently an executive director, a member of the Party
Committee and CFO of the Company. He served as the head of finance department of the Company’s
regional manufacturing factory and sales companies, and deputy director and director of financial
management headquarters of the Company, assistant to the president and the head of financial
management headquarters of the Company. He has been engaged in financial management of listed
companies for a long time and has extensive experience in production and sale and other operation
and financial management of beer companies.
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Mr. XIAO Geng, aged 60, holds a Doctorate degree in economics from the University of California,
Los Angeles. He is currently an independent non-executive director of the Company, Director of the
Policy and Practice Institute of Shenzhen Finance Institute of The Chinese University of Hong Kong

(Shenzhen), Professor of Practice at The Chinese University of Hong Kong (Shenzhen). His other
positions include: member of the HKSAR Chief Executive’s Policy Unit (CEPU) Expert Group;
member of the Expert Group for the Shenzhen Pilot Demonstration Zone; member and vice president
of the Shenzhen Municipal Board for Shenzhen-Hong Kong-Macao Collaboration and Innovation;
President of the Hong Kong Institution for International Finance; independent director of UBS
(China) Limited and Bank of Jinzhou Co., Ltd.; and independent director-designate of Midea Group
Co., Ltd.
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Mr. SHENG Lei Ming, aged 52, holds a Doctorate degree in law from the East China University of
Political Science and Law and is qualified as a lawyer. He is an independent non-executive director
of the Company, Chairman of partners’ meetings of Guantao Law Firm in Beijing and a partner of
Guantao (Shanghai) Law Firm. His other positions include Vice President of All China Lawyers
Association, and independent director of four A-share listed companies, which are Shanghai Zhenhua
Heavy Industries Co., Ltd., Shanghai Foreign Service Holding Group Co., Ltd., KWEICHOW
MOUTALI CO., LTD and Shanghai United Imaging Healthcare Co., Ltd.
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Mr. JIANG Xing Lu, aged 52, holds a Bachelor’s degree from the Law School of Shandong
University. He is currently an independent non-executive director of the Company, General Manager
of Shandong Blue Economy Industry Fund Management Co., Ltd. and Executive Partner of Hainan
Yulin Private Equity Fund Management Partnership (Limited Partnership). He is also an independent
director of Liqun Commercial Group Co., Ltd. and an external supervisor of Bank of Qingdao Co.,
Ltd.
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Ms. Rania ZHANG, aged 46, obtained a PhD in accounting and econometrics from University of
Colorado at Boulder. She is currently an independent non-executive director of the Company, as
well as a professor of accounting, a tutor for PhD students and the director of master and doctoral
programme of the business school at the School of Business of Renmin University of China. Now
she holds a concurrent post as the independent director of Qianneng Hengxin Energy Technology
Co., Ltd.
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Mr. Song Xue Bao, aged 57, obtained a PhD in economics from Renmin University of China.
He is currently an independent non-executive director of the Company, the Associate Professor
and doctoral advisor of Department of Marketing, Tsinghua University School of Economics and
Management, Secretary of the Party branch of the Department. He also serves as an independent
director of Hebei Hengshui Laobaigan Liquor Co., Ltd.
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AAETREFEGHR B/  Members of the Tenth Session of the Board of Supervisors
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Ms. LI Yan, aged 66, graduated from the Central Institute of Finance. She is currently tentative
convener of the Board of Supervisors of the Company, the professor and the doctoral supervisor of
the School of Finance and Taxation of Central University of Finance and Economics, the director
of the Institute of Government Budget, the non-practicing member of the Chinese Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, the director of China Finance Society, the director of the Finance and
Taxation Law Research Society of China Law Society, and an independent director of Qingdao Port
International Co., Ltd., BGT Hotels (Group) Co., Ltd., Beijing Caishikou Department Store Co., Ltd.
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Mr. WANG Ya Ping, aged 59, holds a bachelor’s degree in law from East China University of
Political Science and Law and is a Class I lawyer in China. He is currently an independent supervisor
of the Company and Chairman of Partners’ Meeting of Shandong Guoyao Qindao (Qingdao) Law
Firm. His other titles include Chief Supervisor of Qingdao Lawyers Association and Arbitrator of
Qingdao Arbitration Commission. He concurrently serves as an independent director of Qingdao
Gon Co., Ltd, an independent non-executive director of Ruigang Construction Holdings Co., Ltd and
an independent supervisor of Qingdao Port International Co., Ltd.
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Mr. HUANG Zu Jiang, aged 58, graduated from the major of marine chemistry of the Ocean
University of China, holds a Master’s degree in business administration from the School of
Economics of Nankai University and is qualified as a Senior Engineer. He is Supervisor as
Employees’ Representative of the Company, Assistant to the President of the Manufacturing Center

of the Company, and Secretary of the Party Committee and Director of Factory No. 2 of Tsingtao
Brewery. He was Assistant to the Manufacturing President and Head of Production Management
Headquarters of the Company, Assistant to Marketing President and General Manager of Logistics
Management Headquarters of the Company, and Assistant to Manufacturing President and Head of
Safety and Environmental Protection Headquarters of the Company. He has extensive experience in
production, operations and logistics management.
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Ms. SUN Li Hong, aged 48, graduated from the Major of International Economic Law in
Department of Economic Law at Qingdao University. She is currently Supervisor as Employees’
Representative and Head of Law Affairs Management Department of the Company. She also served
as Deputy Head of Secretarial Office of the Board, and Deputy Head of Law Affairs Department of
the Company with substantial experience in law affairs.
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Mr. MENG Qing Shang, aged 58, graduated from the major of electrical and automation of
Shandong University of Industry and is qualified as a Senior Engineer. He is currently Supervisor
as Employees’ Representative of the Company and Secretary of the Party Committee and Director
of Tsingtao Brewery Factory. He has rich experience in production, operations and enterprise
management.
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Mr. CAI Zhi Wei, aged 56, holds an MBA for senior management personnel at Xiamen University,
Senior Engineer. He is currently President of Marketing Center of the Company. Mr. Cai also served
as Deputy Factory Manager of Tsingtao Brewery No. 2 Factory, General Manager of Tsingtao
Brewery (Xiamen) Co., Ltd., General Manager of Xiamen Tsingtao Brewery South-East Sales
Company Limited, General Manager of Shanghai Tsingtao Brewery East-China Sales Company
Limited, General Manager of Shandong Area of Marketing Center of the Company, Vice President
of Marketing Center of the Company & General Manager of Sales Management Head Department
of Marketing Center, and Executive Vice President of Marketing Center of the Company with
substantial management experience in marketing.
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Ms. XU Nan, aged 56, graduated from Shandong Institute of Light Industry with a bachelor’s degree
in engineering and is a senior engineer. She is currently the vice president, manufacturing president
and chief winemaker of the company. She served as chief brewer and general manager of Tsingtao
Brewery (Shouguang) Co., Ltd, assistant to the manufacturing president of the Company and the
director of Tsingtao Brewery No.2 Factory, assistant to the manufacturing president of the Company
and director of Tsingtao Brewery No.3 Factory, and assistant to the manufacturing president and
head of production technology management headquarters of the Company. She has rich experience in
production operation and quality assurance. Ms. Xu won the honorary title the third session “Chinese
Brewmaster”.
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Mr. LI Hui, aged 45, holds a master’s degree in management from Southeast University. He serves
as Vice President of the Company, General Manager of the innovative marketing headquarters of the
Marketing Center, and General Manager of the market development research headquarters. He was
the Deputy Director of the strategic investment management headquarters of the Company. He has

extensive experience in strategy management and marketing.
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Mr. YUN Shui Yuan, aged 47, holds a bachelor’s degree in management from Zhengzhou Institute
of Textile Technology (now Zhongyuan University of Technology). He serves as Vice President and
Supply Chain President of the Company. His previous positions included: Assistant to the General
Manager of the Marketing Center of Tsingtao Brewery Co., Ltd. in North China, Deputy General
Manager of the Marketing Center in North China, and General Manager of the Marketing Center
in Hebei. He has rich experience in frontline marketing and supply chain management in the beer
market.
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Mr. ZHANG Rui Xiang, aged 59, graduated from Bachelor’s Degree at Shandong Normal
University, Economist.He is currently Board Secretary & Head of Secretarial Office of the Board,
Company Secretary and Authorized Representative of the Company. He also served as Assistant
to Director, Deputy Director, and Director of Secretarial Office of the Board & Representative to
Securities Affairs of the Company with long-term experience in the operation of listing company,

information disclosure and financing in capital market.
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(I) Other Significant Events during the
Reporting Period

1.

Integration and Liquidation of a Subsidiary

The project concerning the integration and
liquidation of Yingcheng Company was considered
and approved by the Board on 24 April 2023.
Procedures for the capital increase of RMBS50
million for Yingcheng Company were completed
in May 2023. The liquidation procedures
commenced on 2 June 2023. So far, procedures for
the termination of all employees’ labor relations
with Yingcheng Company have been completed;
the fixed assets and land have yet to be disposed
of.

Progress of a New Expansion Project in
Subsidiaries

1) Tsingtao Brewery Factory No. 2’s project
concerning production base of 1 million
kiloliters of draft beer was considered
and approved by the Board on 22 March
2023. The project budget is approximately
RMB666.65 million, and the project fund
is allocated by the Company. The original
building has been demolished, and the
construction planning permit has been
obtained.

2) Tsingtao Brewery Factory No. 5°s projects
concerning a production base of 1 million
kiloliters of craft beer and 2,500 tons of
whiskey were considered and approved by
the Board on 22 March 2023. The project
budget is approximately RMB1,358.53
million, and the fund is allocated by the
Company. The project team has been set up,
and construction is expected to commence
in March 2024.
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3) Tsingtao Brewery’s R&D and innovation
base project operations and Phase II
optimization proposal were considered
and approved by the Board on 22 March
2023. The project budget is approximately
RMB201.5 million. The requisite fund is
provided by the Company by increasing
the registered capital of Tsingtao Brewery
Science and Technology Research Center
Co., Led.* (7 & WL A E 0F 38 b0 A7 IR
#]) by RMB100 million, and the remaining
fund is provided by the Company through
entrusted loans. During the Reporting
Period, procedures for the capital increase
have been completed. The R&D and
innovation base is expected to be put into
use within this year.

Upon completion, the above new construction
and expansion projects can further increase the
Company’s capacity for supplying high-end
products. Through the digital and intelligent
upgrading of factories, the projects will meet
market and consumer demands for customized
products.

The Company’s corporate-level reduction
project was considered and approved by the
Board on 25 August 2023. Adjustments to
the shareholding of the Company’s holding
subsidiaries during the Reporting Period:

1) Lianyungang Company: the Company
increased the capital of Lianyungang
Company by RMB212.2 million, from
RMB166,093,523 to RMB378,293,523.
Changes in shareholders: the Company’s
contribution is RMB212.2 million,
accounting for 56.09% of the capital;
Tsingtao Brewery (Shanghai) Investment
Co.,Ltd* (HEME( L) #EF WA
H])’s contribution is RMB166,093,523,
accounting for 43.91% of the capital.

2) Qingdao Beer (Gansu) Agricultural
Reclamation Co., Ltd.* (¥ & M % ( H # )
JE BB A R A H]) (“Gansu Company”):
Tsingtao Brewery Xi’an Hans Group* (&
5 L G T AR A IR A ) transferred
to the Company 50% of Gansu Company’s
shares it held at its net book value. Upon the
transfer, Gansu Company’s share structure
is as follows: the Company holds 50% of
the shares; Qingdao Beer Weinan Co., Ltd.*
(H B A R B AEAF), a subsidiary
of the Company, holds 5.06% of the shares;
and the other three external shareholders
hold 44.94% of the shares.
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Events after the Reporting Period

1

2)

Qingdao Beer (Weifang) Co., Ltd.* (& &
WL (S ) A FR A F])’s 600,000-kiloliter
relocation and new construction project was
considered and approved on 27 December
2023. It is approved that a new branch be
established in Weifang, Shandong, with a
registered capital of RMB300 million. A
new construction project with an annual beer
production capacity of 600,000 kiloliters
is established. The investment budget is
RMB849.23 million. The construction fund
comes from government support grants and
the deficiency comes from the registered
capital of the new company. The name of the
new company is Tsingtao Brewery (Weifang)
Manufacturing Co., Ltd.* (75 & " 38 (¥Edh )
B35 B A7), which was established on
17 January 2024. It is wholly owned by the
Company.

The project concerning the purchase of 20%
of the shares of Anshan Company held by
minority shareholders was considered and
approved by the Board on 4 March 2024.
It is approved that the Company accepted
the transfer of 20% of the shares of Anshan
Company from Bajiaotai Construction
Investment Group Co., Ltd.* (A& /\fi &
BB E S A R EHMEA ) (“Bajiaotai
Construction Company”) for consideration
of RMB18.065 million. The two parties
have entered into a share transfer contract,
and procedures for the change were
completed on 15 March 2024. Upon the
share transfer, the Company holds 80%
of the shares of Anshan Company, and
Bajiaotai Construction Company holds 20%
of the shares of Anshan Company.

(II) During the Reporting Period, the Company was not

involved in any new material litigation or arbitration.
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Auditor’s Report
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PwC ZT Shen Zi (2024) No. 10023
(Page 1 of 5)

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF TSINGTAO BREWERY COMPANY LIMITED,
Opinion
What we have audited

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Tsingtao Brewery Company Limited (hereinafter “Tsingtao Brewery
company’’), which comprise:

. the consolidated and company balance sheets as at 31 December 2023;

. the consolidated and company income statements for the year then ended;

. the consolidated and company cash flow statements for the year then ended;

. the consolidated and company statements of changes in shareholders’ equity for the year then ended; and
. notes to the financial statements.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated and company’s financial
position of Tsingtao Brewery company as at 31 December 2023, and their financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended
in accordance with the requirements of Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises (“CASs”).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with China Standards on Auditing (“CSAs”). Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

We are independent of Tsingtao Brewery company in accordance with the Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants of the Chinese
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“CICPA Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
the CICPA Code.

I DT AT T (HEH R )
PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhong Tian LLP, 11/F PricewaterhouseCoopers Center
Link Square 2, 202 Hu Bin Road, Huangpu District, Shanghai 200021, PRC
T: +86 (21) 2323 8888, F: +86 (21) 2323 8800, www.pwccn.com
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PwC ZT Shen Zi (2024) No. 10023
(Page 2 of 5)

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit is the impairment assessment on goodwill about Shandong Xin Immense Brewery Co., Ltd.
(“Immense Brewery Company”)

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Immense Brewery Company — Impairment assessment on
goodwill (Refer to Note 2(27)(a)(i) and Note 4(16) to the
financial statements)

In connection with the impairment assessment on goodwill of
Immense Brewery Company, we have performed the following
procedures:

Tsingtao Brewery company has acquired 100% equity interest | ¢ Understood management’s internal controls and

in Immense Brewery Company in prior years. The carrying assessment processes related to the assessment of
amount of the goodwill arising from the acquisition of Immense goodwill impairment and assessed the risks inherent
Brewery Company amounted to approximately RMB958.87

million as at 31 December 2023.

in material misstatement by considering the degree of
estimation uncertainty and the level of other inherent risk
factors, including complexity, subjectivity, variability,
Management conducted an impairment assessment of the and management bias and other fraud risk factors;
goodwill formed by the acquisition of Immense Brewery
Company by comparing its recoverable amount of an asset | Assessed the results of prior period assessments of
group containing goodwill with its carrying value. The goodwill impairment to evaluate the effectiveness of
recoverable amount shall be determined based on the higher of management’s process for making estimates;
the net amount of the fair value of the asset group less cost of
disposal and the present value of the estimated future cash flow

of the asset group. Management involved an independent valuer

to evaluate the recoverable amount of the assets group.
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Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

We considered this area as a key audit matter because the
carrying amounts of the goodwill of Immense Brewery
Company are significant to the financial statements and the
reasonableness of the aforesaid judgements and assumptions
would have a significant impact on the result of the impairment
assessment.

. Tested the effectiveness of key internal controls related
to the assessment of goodwill impairment, including
management’s review and approval of the adoption of key
assumptions;

. Evaluated the competency, professionalism and
objectivity of the independent valuer;

. Combining interviews with the management and the
information obtained, we involved internal valuation
experts to assist us in assessing the rationality of the
valuation methodology adopted by the management
and the independent valuers employed by them. By
comparing historical financial data, approved budgets,
industry experience and market forecast, we evaluated
the reasonableness of the key judgments and assumptions
used by the management and the independent valuers
employed by them, including sales growth rate during
the forecast period, perpetual growth rate, gross profit
margin, discount rate and etc.

. Review key assumptions used by the management in
impairment assessment, such as sensitivity analysis of
sales growth rate for the forecast period, perpetual growth
rate, gross profit margin and discount rate, and consider
its potential impact on the results of the impairment
assessment if these assumptions are to be changed within
a reasonable range.

According to the procedures performed, the recognition of
recoverable amount, valuation model, key assumptions and
estimates adopted by the management and the employed
independent valuers, and the results of impairment assessments

made by the management are acceptable.

Other Information

Management of Tsingtao Brewery company is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises all of the

information included in 2023 annual report of Tsingtao Brewery company other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report

thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion

thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider

whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit

or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material

misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Responsibilities of Management and Audit Committee for the Financial Statements

Management of Tsingtao Brewery is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance
with the CASs, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing these financial statements, management is responsible for assessing Tsingtao Brewery’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
management either intend to liquidate Tsingtao Brewery or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Audit committee is responsible for overseeing Tsingtao Brewery’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether these financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with CSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with CSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the
audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances.
. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures

made by management.

. Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on Tsingtao
Brewery’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in these financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause Tsingtao Brewery to cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Tsingtao Brewery to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (continuea)

We communicate with Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that
a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhong Tian LLP Signing CPA
Na Jia (Engagement Partner)

Shanghai, the People’s Republic of China Signing CPA
26 March 2024 Li Lili
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HE MW 4 A R A A TSINGTAO BREWERY CO., LTD.

Consolidated and Company Balance Sheets

As at 31 December 2023

(All amounts in RMB Yuan unless otherwise stated)

As at
Note 4 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
(unless otherwise 2023 2022 2023 2022
ASSETS stated) Consolidated Consolidated Company Company
Current assets
Cash at bank and on hand (1) 19,282,104,642  17,854,931,855 8,876,231,346 9,469,727,256
Financial assets held for trading 2) 1,924,078,158 2,683,817,846 1,100,355,616 1,000,452,055
Notes receivable 3) - 4,500,000 - 1,500,000
Accounts receivable (4),16(1) 100,391,321 119,599,728 1,489,996,291 1,860,654,305
Advances to suppliers ) 210,975,136 281,866,630 84,435,261 144,145,684
Other receivables (6),16(2) 184,367,739 682,770,179 51,819,117 666,706,147
Including: Interest receivable - - - -
Dividends receivable - - 6,800,000 19,000,000
Inventories (7),16(3) 3,539,828,305 4,152,187,132 1,691,282,802 2,167,930,218
Current portion of non-current assets (10) 28,432,377 - - -
Other current assets 8) 4,341,747,852 6,222,809,869 492,047,233 285,825,979
Total current assets 29,611,925,530  32,002,483,239  13,786,167,666  15,596,941,644
Non-current assets
Debt investment 16(4) - - 170,683 5,673,793
Long-term equity investments (9),16(5) 364,736,980 368,128,466  11,460,881,759  11,237,441,541
Other non-current financial assets (10) 1,425,485,550 600,000 - -
Investment properties (11) 44,164,870 29,056,456 25,137,839 26,557,514
Fixed assets (12),16(6) 11,145,718,923  11,009,077,139 2,427,838,479 2,478,302,230
Construction in progress (13) 498,574,959 456,529,051 161,847,027 140,411,513
Right-of-use assets (14) 119,546,878 154,916,167 50,372,171 59,135,860
Intangible assets (15), 16(7) 2,493,069,068 2,557,820,344 548,581,977 514,921,690
Goodwill (16) 1,307,103,982 1,307,103,982 - -
Long-term prepaid expenses (17) 111,107,655 101,670,196 19,183,122 9,651,343
Deferred tax assets (18) 2,025,849,104 2,250,079,564 1,301,856,358 1,453,644,067
Other non-current assets (20) 108,727,850 74,235,192 69,572,073 13,924,336
Total non-current assets 19,644,085,819  18,309,216,557  16,065,441,488  15,939,663,887
TOTAL ASSETS 49,256,011,349  50,311,699,796  29,851,609,154  31,536,605,531
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As at 31 December 2023

(All amounts in RMB Yuan unless otherwise stated)
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As at
Note 4 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
(unless otherwise 2023 2022 2023 2022
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY stated) Consolidated Consolidated Company Company
Current liabilities
Short-term borrowings (21) - 225,411,423 - -
Notes payable (22) 193,668,205 198,056,961 98,099,406 140,524,489
Accounts payable (23) 2,952,827,066 3,463,768,573 3,440,168,162 3,982,543,102
Contract liabilities (24) 7,691,295,634 8,909,252,504 6,197,478,683 7,018,357,260
Employee benefits payable (25) 2,096,904,553 2,180,772,440 897,670,549 888,041,488
Taxes payable (26) 343,503,981 771,894,656 50,894,110 69,320,070
Other payables (27) 3,230,505,907 3,394,613,087 1,173,002,823 1,427,296,715
Including: Interest receivable - - - -
Dividends receivable - 972,844 - -
Current portion of non-current liabilities (28) 50,250,346 49,263,731 23,437,186 19,686,594
Other current liabilities (24) 359,524,000 478,755,359 322,825,851 410,317,189
Total current liabilities 16,918,479,692  19,671,788,734  12,203,576,770  13,956,086,907
Non-current liabilities
Lease liabilities (29) 63,393,018 98,401,477 15,676,430 27,220,061
Long-term payables (30) 16,205,766 16,283,766 - -
Deferred income (31) 2,887,543,652 3,132,390,832 313,334,796 340,710,828
Long-term employee benefits payable (32) 877,476,618 918,404,801 616,771,558 615,130,389
Deferred tax liabilities (18) 238,165,428 202,117,651 - -
Total non-current liabilities 4,082,784,482 4,367,598,527 945,782,784 983,061,278
Total liabilities 21,001,264,174  24,039,387,261  13,149,359,554  14,939,148,185
Equity
Share capital (33) 1,364,196,788 1,364,232,790 1,364,196,788 1,364,232,790
Capital surplus (34), 16(9) 4,207,455,611 4,154,076,977 5,271,029,372 5,216,070,112
Less: Treasury stock (35) (77,643,806) (171,854,660) (77,643,806) (171,854,660)
Other comprehensive income (36), 16(10) (81,061,345) (75,800,581) (87,446,000) (78,756,000)
Surplus reserve (37) 1,400,704,380 1,400,704,380 1,400,704,380 1,400,704,380
General reserve (38) 301,761,292 295,071,942 - -
Undistributed profits (39), 16(11) 20,334,065,296  18,528,390,855 8,831,408,866 8,867,060,724
Total equity attributable to shareholders
of the Company 27,449,478,216  25,494,821,703  16,702,249,600  16,597,457,346
Non-controlling interests 805,268,959 777,490,832 — —
Total equity 28,254,747,175  26,272,312,535  16,702,249,600  16,597,457,346
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 49,256,011,349  50,311,699,796  29,851,609,154  31,536,605,531

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

Head of accounting department:
SUN Zhuohan

Principal in charge of accounting:
HOU Qiuyan

Legal representative:
HUANG Kexing
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HE MW 4 A R A A TSINGTAO BREWERY CO., LTD.

Consolidated and Company Income Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts in RMB yuan unless otherwise stated)

Note 4
(unless otherwise 2023 2022 2023 2022
ITEM stated) Consolidated Consolidated Company Company
Revenue (40),16(12) 33,936,522,741  32,171,565,624  25,403,774,410  23,769,045,630
Less:  Cost of sales (40),(46),16(12),(14) (20,816,889,655) (20,317,934,822) (19,899,038,207) (19,120,720,120)
Taxes and surcharges (41) (2,386,660,732)  (2,390,725,323) (691,028,756) (636,352,310)
Selling and distribution expenses (42),(46),16(14)  (4,708,402,798)  (4,199,502,747)  (3,210,244,246) (2,758,556,297)
General and administrative expenses (43),(46),16(14)  (1,519,063,042) (1,473,368,004) (530,968,316) (523,562,223)
Research and development expenses (44),(46),16(14) (100,637,006) (62,954,899) (100,637,006) (62,954,899)
Finance expenses (45),16(13) 457,124,855 420,805,540 89,819,629 96,412,066
Including: Interest expenses (16,430,590) (9,237,800) (2,197,088) -
Interest income 506,376,003 459,661,656 117,691,823 110,813,417
Add: Other income (49) 391,115,874 543,278,784 34,095,387 103,668,782
Investment income (50),16(17) 172,044,176 169,903,657 1,760,294,094 1,403,992.871
Including: Share of profit of
associates and a joint
venture 15,798,284 19,873,379 15,697,521 19,595,612
Profits arising from changes in fair
value (Losses are listed with “-”) (51),16(18) 230,255,010 164,354,223 133,365,589 125,593,561
Credit impairment losses
(Losses are listed with “-”) (48),16(16) (14,306,494) 11,144,534 (2,698,178) (59,925,797)
Asset impairment losses
(Losses are listed with “-”) (47),16(15) (82,853,720) (26,123,742) (266,617,610) (10,140,786)
Gains on disposals of assets
(Losses are listed with “-”) (52) 178,576,672 (9,517,758) (5,450,844) 236,559
Operating profit 5,736,825,881 5,000,925,067 2,714,665,946 2,326,737,037
Add: Non-operating income (53) 22,623,304 20,345,173 7,929,646 5,013,947
Less: Non-operating expenses (54) (13,041,883) (15,128,954) (5,836,002) (9,594,523)
Total profit 5,746,407,302 5,006,141,286 2,716,759,590 2,322,156,461
Less: Income tax expense (55), 16(19) (1,398,208,378)  (1,201,419,808) (296,923,833) (252,814,686)
Net profit 4,348,198,924 3,804,721,478 2,419,835,757 2,069,341,775
Classified by continuity of operations
Net profit from continuing
operations 4,348,198,924 3,804,721,478 2,419,835,757 2,069,341,775
Net profit from discontinued
operations - - - -
Classified by ownership of the equity
Attributable to shareholders of the
Company 4,267,851,406 3,710,628,593 2,419,835,757 2,069,341,775

Attributable to non-controlling

interests

80,347,518

94,092,885
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Consolidated and Company Income Statements (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts in RMB Yuan unless otherwise stated)

Note 4
(unless otherwise 2023 2022 2023 2022
ITEM stated) Consolidated Consolidated Company Company
Other comprehensive income, net of tax (36), 16(10) (4,872,548) (18,322,498) (8,690,000) (6,351,000)
Other comprehensive income attributable to
shareholders of the Company, net of tax
Items that will not be subsequently
reclassified to profit or loss
Changes arising from remeasurement of
defined benefit plan (9,369,000) (7,457,000) (8,690,000) (6,351,000)
Items that will be subsequently reclassified
to profit or loss
Shares of other comprehensive income
of investees accounted for using the
equity method that will be subsequently
reclassified to profit or loss 193,842 94,081 - -
Currency translation differences 3,914,394 (8,805,122) - -
Other comprehensive income attributable to
non-controlling interests, net of tax 388,216 (2,154,457) — —
Total comprehensive income 4,343,326,376 3,786,398,980 2,411,145,757 2,062,990,775
Attributable to shareholders of the Company 4,262,590,642 3,694,460,552 2,411,145,757 2,062,990,775
Attributable to non-controlling interests 80,735,734 91,938,428 — —
Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share (RMB yuan) (56) 3.139 2.736 — —
Diluted earnings per share (RMB yuan) (56) 3.132 2.728 — —

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

Legal representative:

Principal in charge of accounting:

Head of accounting department:

HUANG Kexing

SUN Zhuohan

HOU Qiuyan
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Consolidated and Company Cash Flow Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts in RMB Yuan unless otherwise stated)

2023 2022 2023 2022
ITEM Note 4 Consolidated Consolidated Company Company
Cash flows from operating activities
Cash received from sales of goods or
rendering of services 37,880,402,381  37,646,617,995  28,412,272,110  27,722,390,271
Refund of taxes and surcharges 20,475,070 95,255,689 8,740,402 21,118,814
Cash received relating to other operating
activities (57)(a) 893,153,991 1,125,550,312 291,853,925 265,430,794
Sub-total of cash inflows 38,794,031,442  38,867,423,996  28,712,866,437  28,008,939,879
Cash paid for goods and services (19,808,796,432) (19,929,376,569) (21,216,030,788) (21,146,250,865)
Cash paid to and on behalf of employees (5,512,802,425)  (5,253,994,081)  (1,967,503,047) (1,916,587,832)
Payments of taxes and surcharges (6,242,281,255)  (5,725,055,540)  (1,814,085,074) (1,836,180,194)
Cash paid relating to other operating
activities (57)(b) (4,452,584,190)  (3,080,226,484)  (3,307,691,538)  (2,149,182,878)
Sub-total of cash outflows (36,016,464,302) (33,988,652,674) (28,305,310,447) (27,048,201,769)
Net cash flows from operating activities (58)(a) 2,771,567,140 4,878,771,322 407,555,990 960,738,110
Cash flows from investing activities
Cash received from the investment (57)(c) 16,567,896,400  16,146,453,730 7,734,600,000 6,476,800,000
Cash received from returns on investments 371,486,434 441,384,826 1,915,452,800 1,527,932,916
Net cash received from disposal of fixed
assets, intangible assets and other long-
term assets 722,373,507 42,140,602 606,342,582 2,693,457
Cash received relating to other investing
activities (57)(e) 376,451,515 336,037,611 4,578,268 2,638,702
Sub-total of cash inflows 18,038,207,856  16,966,016,769  10,260,973,650 8,010,065,075
Cash paid to acquire fixed assets,
intangible assets and other long-term
assets (1,617,742,854)  (1,780,139,656) (535,716,738) (618,236,299)
Cash paid to acquire investments (57)(d) (19,863,002,985) (17,258,725,150)  (9,632,990,000) (8,668,600,000)
Cash paid relating to other investing
activities (57)() (20,433,429) (126,260,121) (4,089,048) (2,246,539)
Sub-total of cash outflows (21,501,179,268) (19,165,124,927) (10,172,795,786)  (9,289,082,838)
Net cash flows from investing activities (3,462,971,412)  (2,199,108,158) 88,177,864  (1,279,017,763)
Cash flow from financing activities
Cash received from borrowings - 228,830,000 - -
Cash received relating to other financing
activities 1,134,071 529,522 268,103 266,397
Sub-total of cash inflows 1,134,071 229,359,522 268,103 266,397
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Consolidated and Company Cash Flow Statements (Coninued)
For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts in RMB Yuan unless otherwise stated)

2023 2022 2023 2022
ITEM Note 4 Consolidated Consolidated Company Company
Cash repayments of borrowings (219,487,500) (270,961,875) - -
Cash payments for distribution of dividends,
profits or interests expenses (2,534,272,032) (1,576,418,087)  (2,466,629,398) (1,505,070,607)
Including: Cash payments for dividends,
profit to minority shareholders
of subsidiaries (56,295,288) (65,221,802) —
Cash payments relating to other financing
activities (57)(2) (115,440,419) (57,692,087) (31,913,449) (30,980,653)
Sub-total of cash outflows (2,869,199,951)  (1,905,072,049)  (2,498,542,847) (1,536,051,260)
Net cash flows from financing activities (2,868,065,880) (1,675,712,527)  (2,498,274,744)  (1,535,784,863)
Exchange effect on cash and cash equivalents 5,684,639 22,166,355 2,712,095 9,542,896
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash
equivalents (58)(a) (3,547,785,513)  1,026,116,992  (1,999,828,795)  (1,844,521,620)
Add: Cash and cash equivalents at beginning
of year 12,839,870,784  11,813,753,792 7,366,468,326 9,210,989,946
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year (58)(c) 9,292,085,271  12,839,870,784 5,366,639,531 7,366,468,326
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
Legal representative: Principal in charge of accounting: Head of accounting department:

HUANG Kexing HOU Qiuyan SUN Zhuohan
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts in RMB Yuan unless otherwise stated)

Attributable to shareholders of the Company

Less: Other Non- Total
Share Capital Treasury comprehensive Surplus General  Undistributed ~conrolling ~ shareholders’
ITEM Note 4 capital surplus stock income reserve reserve profits interests equity
Balance at 1 January 2022 1364354793 3956209113 (273,189.919)  (59,632,540) 1400704380 294853079 16,318,545,092 791,846,744 23,793,691,342
Movements for the year ended 31 December 2022
Total comprehensive income
Net profit - 3710628593 94,092,885 3,804721478
Other comprehensive income (36) (16,168,041) (2,15445T)  (1832249%)
Total comprehensive income for the year (16,168,041) 3,710,628,593 91,938,428 3,786,398,980
Shareholder investment and capital reduction
Repurchase of restricted shares (33),(34), (33) (122,003)  (2462,021) 2,584,024 - -
Share-based payments (34),(35) 20070250 84,267,743 ILIL982 305,449,975
Profit distribution
Appropriation to general reserve (38) - 218863 (218.863) - -
Profit distribution to shareholders (33),39) 14,483,492 - (1,500,564,567)  (66,238,736) (1,552,319,811)
Others (34) - (9,740,365) - (SLI67,586)  (60907,951)
Balance at ended 31 December 2022 1364232790 4154076977 (171,854,660)  (75,800,581) 1,400,704380 295071942 18528390855 777490832 26272312535
Balance at 1 January 2023 1364232790 4154076977 (171854660)  (75,800,581) 1400704380 295071942 18528390855 777490832 26272312535
Movements for the year ended 31 December 2023
Total comprehensive income
Net profit - 4267851406 80347518 4348,198924
Other comprehensive income (36) (5,260,764) 388,216 (4.872,548)
Total comprehensive income for the year (5,260,764) 4267851406 80,735,734 4343326376
Shareholder investment and capital reduction
Repurchase of restricted shares (33),(34), (35) (36,002) (726,520) 762,522 - -
Share-based payments (34),(35) 53,855,539 71,750,719 1,828,483 133,434,741
Others 546,014 546,014
Profit distribution
Appropriation to general reserve (38) - 6,689,350 (6,6089,350) - -
Profit distribution to shareholders (35),(39) 15,697,613 - (2455487015)  (55,332,104) (2,495,122,106)
Others (34 - 19,615 - 219,615
Balance at ended 31 December 2023 1,364,196,788 4207455611 (77,643800)  (81,061,345) 1400,704380 301,761,292 20334065296 805268959 28,254,747,175

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

Head of accounting department:
SUN Zhuohan

Principal in charge of accounting:
HOU Qiuyan

Legal representative:
HUANG Kexing
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Company Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity
For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts in RMB Yuan unless otherwise stated)

Note 16 Less: Other Total

(unless otherwise Share Capital Treasury comprehensive Surplus  Undistributed ~ shareholders’

ITEM stated) capital surplus stock income reserve profits equity
Balance at 1 January 2022 1,364,354,793  4,980,309,993  (273,189,919)  (72,405,000) 1,400,704,380  8,298,283,516 15,698,057,763

Movements for the year ended 31

December 2022
Total comprehensive income

Net profit - - - - - 2,069,341,775  2,069,341,775

Other comprehensive income (10) - - - (6,351,000) - - (6,351,000

Total comprehensive income for the year - - - (6,351,000) - 2,069,341,775  2,062,990,775
Shareholder investment and capital reduction

Repurchase of restricted shares 4(33),(34),(35) (122,003) (2,462,021) 2,584,024 - - - -

Share-based payment (9).4(35) - 238214791 84,267,743 - - - 322482534
Profit distribution

Profit distribution to shareholders (11),4(35) - - 14,483,492 - - (1,500,564,567) (1,486,081,075)
Others (9) - 7,349 - - - - 7,349
Balance at 31 December 2022 1,364,232,790  5,216,070,112  (171,854,660)  (78,756,000) 1,400,704,380  8,867,060,724 16,597,457,346
Balance at 1 January 2023 1,364,232,790  5,216,070,112  (171,854,660)  (78,756,000) 1,400,704,380  8,867,060,724 16,597,457,346

Movements for the year ended 31

December 2023
Total comprehensive income

Net profit - - - - - 2419835757  2,419,835,757

Other comprehensive income (10) - - - (8,690,000) - - (8,690,000)

Total comprehensive income for the year - - - (8,690,000) - 2419835757  2,411,145,757
Shareholder investment and capital reduction

Repurchase of restricted shares 4(33),(34),(35) (36,002) (726,520) 762,522 - -

Share-based payment (9),4(35) - 55,684,022 71,750,719 - - - 133434741
Profit distribution

Profit distribution to shareholders (11),4(35) - - 15,697,613 - - (2,455,487,615) (2,439,790,002)
Others ) - 1,758 - - - - 1,758
Balance at 31 December 2023 1,364,196,788  5,271,029,372  (77,643,806)  (87,446,000) 1,400,704,380  8,831,408,866 16,702,249,600

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

Legal representative: Principal in charge of accounting: Head of accounting department:
HUANG Kexing HOU Qiuyan SUN Zhuohan
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HE MW 4 A R A A TSINGTAO BREWERY CO., LTD.

Notes to Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts in RMB Yuan unless otherwise stated)

1 General information

Tsingtao Brewery Company Limited (the “Company”) was established in the People’s Republic of China on 16 June 1993. The
Company obtained business license as a Sino-foreign joint stock limited company on 27 December 1995. The registered address
and head office address of the Company is Qingdao, Shandong province, the PRC, with a total share capital of RMB482,400,000 at
establishment.

The Company’s H shares have been listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited since 15 July 1993, and
its A shares have been listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange since 27 August 1993. The total share capital upon issue amounted to
RMB900,000,000. Subsequently, the Company increased its total share capital to RMB1,308,219,178 after issuing new RMB ordinary
shares and corporate convertible bonds which were converted into H shares.

Approved by the Circular [2008] No.445 issued by the China Securities Regulatory Commission, the Company issued convertible
bonds with detachable warrants subscription rights on 2 April 2008 at a total size of RMB1.5 billion with the term of 6 years. Upon the
exercise period ended on 19 October 2009, 42,763,617 A shares of the Company were issued. The Company’s total share capital was
increased from was increased from 1,308,219,178 to 1,350,982,795.

In 2020, the Company implemented equity incentives with 13.2 million restricted shares, and the total number of shares of the
Company increased from 1,350,982,795 shares to 1,364,182,795 shares. In 2021, the Company granted 294,000 additional restricted
shares to participants, and repurchased and cancelled 122,002 restricted shares. The Company’s total share capital was increased to
1,364,354,793. In 2022, the Company repurchased and cancelled 122,003 restricted shares. The Company’s total share capital was
decreased to 1,364,232,790. In 2023, the Company repurchased and cancelled 36,002 restricted shares. The Company’s total share
capital was decreased to 1,364,196,788.

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) are principally engaged in the production and distribution of beer
products.

Subsidiaries which are included in the scope of consolidation are disclosed in Note 6. There was no change in consolidated subsidiaries
in the current year compares to the previous year.

These financial statements have been approved for issue by the Company’s Board of Directors on 26 March 2024.

2 Summary of significant accounting policies and accounting estimates

The Group applied the accounting policies and accounting estimates based on its business operations characteristics, including
provision of expected credit loss (“ECL”) of receivables (Note 2(9)), cost formulas (Note 2(10)), depreciation of fixed assets,
amortization of intangible assets and depreciation of right-of-use asset (Note 2(13),(16)and(25)), revenue recognition and measurement
(Note 2(21)), etc.

The areas including significant judgments to determine the critical accounting policies of the Group are disclosed in Note 2(27).
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Notes to Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts in RMB Yuan unless otherwise stated)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies and accounting estimates (continued)
(1) Basis of preparation

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises — Basic Standards,
and the specific accounting standards and other relevant regulations issued by the Ministry of Finance on 15 February 2006 and
in subsequent periods (hereafter collectively referred to as “the Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises” or “CAS”) and
the disclosure requirements in the Preparation Convention of Information Disclosure by Companies Offering Securities to the
Public No.15 — General Rules on Financial Reporting issued by the China Securities Regulatory Commission.

The financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis.

The new Hong Kong “Companies Ordinance” came into effect on 3 March 2014. certain matters relating to financial statement
have been disclosed in accordance with the requirements of Hong Kong “Companies Ordinance”.

(2) Statement of compliance with the Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises

The financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2023 are in compliance with CAS, and truly
and completely present the Consolidated and the Company’s financial position as at 31 December 2023 and their financial
performance, cash flows and other information for the year then ended.

(3) Accounting year
The Company’s accounting year starts on 1 January and ends on 31 December.
(4) Recording currency

The Company’s recording currency is Renminbi (RMB). The recording currency of the Company’s subsidiaries is determined
based on the primary economic environment in which they operate. The recording currency of subsidiaries in Hong Kong,
Macau and Vietnam is Hong Kong Dollar (HKD), Macau Pataca (MOP) and Vietnamese Dong(VND) respectively. The financial
statements are presented in RMB.

(5) Business combinations
(a) Business combinations involving enterprises under common control

The consideration paid and net assets obtained by the Group party in a business combination are measured at the carrying
amount. If the merged party was acquired by the final control party from a third party in the previous year, then the
consideration was measured based on carrying amount of assets and liabilities of the merged party (including the goodwill
arising from acquisition by the final control party) in the final control party’s consolidated financial statements. The
difference between the carrying amount of the net assets obtained from the combination and the carrying amount of the
consideration paid for the combination is treated as an adjustment to capital surplus (share premium). If the capital surplus
(share premium) is not sufficient to absorb the difference, the remaining balance is adjusted against retained earnings.
Costs directly attributable to the combination are included in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.
Transaction costs associated with the issue of equity or debt securities for the business combination are included in the
initially recognized amounts of the equity or debt securities.
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Notes to Financial Statements
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2

6))

Q)

Summary of significant accounting policies and accounting estimates (continued)
Business combinations (continued)
(b)  Business combinations involving enterprises not under common control

The cost of combination and identifiable net assets obtained by the acquirer in a business combination are measured at
fair value at the acquisition date. Where the cost of combination exceeds the acquirer’s interests in the fair value of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets, the difference is recognized as goodwill; where the cost of combination is lower than the
acquirer’s interests in the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets, the difference is recognized in profit or loss
for the current period. Costs directly attributable to the combination are included in profit or loss in the period in which
they are incurred. Transaction costs associated with the issue of equity or debt securities for the business combination are
included in the initially recognized amounts of the equity or debt securities.

(¢c)  Purchase of minority equity in subsidiaries

After the acquisition of the control right over the subsidiary, the Group obtained all or part of the minority equity of the
subsidiary owned by the minority shareholder of the subsidiary. In the consolidated financial statements, the assets and
liabilities of the subsidiary are reflected by the amount continuously calculated from the date of purchase or combination.
The capital surplus shall be adjusted according to the difference between the newly increased long-term equity investment
and the net asset share of the subsidiary calculated continuously from the date of acquisition or merger with the newly
increased shareholding ratio. If the capital surplus (share premium) is not sufficient to offset the difference, the retained
earnings shall be adjusted.

Preparation of consolidated financial statements
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and all of its subsidiaries.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains control and are de-consolidated from the date that
such control ceases. For a subsidiary that is acquired in a business combination involving enterprises under common control,
it is included in the consolidated financial statements from the date when it, together with the Company, comes under common
control of the ultimate controlling party. The portion of the net profits realized before the combination date is presented
separately in the consolidated income statement.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, where the accounting policies and the accounting periods of the Company and
subsidiaries are inconsistent, the financial statements of the subsidiaries are adjusted in accordance with the accounting policies
and accounting period of the Company. For subsidiaries acquired from a business combination involving enterprises not under
common control, the individual financial statements of the subsidiaries are adjusted based on the fair value of the identifiable net
assets at the acquisition date.

All significant intra-group balances, transactions and unrealized profits are eliminated in the consolidated financial statements.
The items which can’t be attributable to the shareholders of the Company in subsidiary’s equity, net profit or loss, and total
comprehensive income of the period, are separately presented in the equity item, in net profit item and total comprehensive
income item of the consolidated financial statement respectively. Elimination of intra-group unrealized profit on sale of assets
by the Company to its subsidiaries should be in full of the net profit attributable to the shareholders, and elimination of intra-
group unrealized profit on sale of assets by subsidiaries to the Company should be allocated between the net profit attributable to
the shareholders and non-controlling interests in the ratio of their interests. Elimination of intra-group unrealized profit on sale
of assets amongst the subsidiaries should be allocated between the net profit attributable to the shareholders and non-controlling
interests, according to the Company’s share interest in the subsidiary of selling party.

If the identification of the same transaction is different between the Group and the Company or the subsidiaries as accounting
entity, the adjustment should be made in the Group’s view.
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)

®

&)

Summary of significant accounting policies and accounting estimates (continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, deposits that can be readily drawn on demand, and short-term highly liquid

investments which are readily convertible to known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Foreign currency translation

(@)

(b)

Foreign currency transactions

Foreign currency transactions are translated into functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions.

At the balance sheet date, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are translated into functional currency using
the spot exchange rates on the balance sheet date. Exchange differences arising from these translations are recognized
in profit or loss for the current period, except for those attributable to foreign currency borrowings that have been taken
out specifically for the acquisition or construction of qualifying assets, which are capitalized as part of the cost of those
assets. Non-monetary items denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at historical costs are translated at the
balance sheet date using the spot exchange rates at the date of the transactions. The effect of exchange rate changes on
cash is presented separately in the cash flow statement.

Translation of foreign currency financial statements

The asset and liability items in the balance sheets for overseas operations are translated at the spot exchange rates on
the balance sheet date. Among the shareholders’ equity items, the items other than “undistributed profits” are translated
at the spot exchange rates on the transaction dates. The income and expense items in the income statements of overseas
operations are translated at the approximate exchange rates of the transaction dates. The differences arising from the above
translation are presented separately in other comprehensive income. The cash flows of overseas operations are translated
at the approximate exchange rates on the dates of the cash flows. The effect of exchange rate changes on cash is presented
separately in the cash flow statement.

Financial instruments

A financial instrument is a contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity meanwhile form a financial liability or equity

instrument of another entity. When the Group becomes a party of the contract, relative financial assets, financial liabilities or

equity instruments are recognized.

(@)

Financial assets
(i)  Classification and measurement
Based on the business mode for management of the Group and cash flow characteristics of contracts, the financial

assets are classified into the following categories: (1) financial assets measured at amortized cost; (2) financial
assets at fair value through other comprehensive income; (3) financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

267
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Notes to Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts in RMB Yuan unless otherwise stated)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies and accounting estimates (continued)
(9) Financial instruments (continued)
(a) Financial assets (continued)
(i)  Classification and measurement (continued)

Financial assets are fairly valued at initial recognition. For financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
related transaction costs are recognized in profit or loss for the current period; for other financial assets, related
transaction costs are recognized in the amount of initial recognition. Accounts receivable or notes receivable arising
from sales of products or rendering of services (excluding or without regard to significant financing components)
are initially recognized at the consideration that is entitled to be charged by the Group as expected.

Debt instruments

Debt instruments held by the Group are instruments that meet the definition of financial liabilities from the
perspective of the issuer, and are measured by the following three ways:

Measured at amortized cost:

The Group’s business mode of managing this type of financial assets is to collect contractual cash flows. The
contractual cash flow characteristics of such financial assets are consistent with basic loan arrangement, which
means the cash flow generated at certain date is only the payment for the principal and the corresponding interest
based on unpaid principal. The interest income from such financial assets is recognized by effective interest method.
These financial assets include cash at bank and on hand, notes receivable, accounts receivable, other receivables
and debt investments. Debt investments due within 1 year (inclusive) at the balance sheet date are listed as the
current portion of non-current assets; at acquiring date, debt investments with maturities within one year (inclusive)
are listed as other current assets.

Measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”)

The Group’s business mode of managing this type of financial assets is to collect contractual cash flows as well
as capture profit by selling. The character of contractual cash flows is consisting with the normal borrowing
arrangement. These financial assets are measured at fair value and movements in the carrying amount are taken
through other comprehensive income but the impairment loss or gain, exchange gain or loss and interest income
using the effective interest rate method are recognized into current profit or loss. These financial assets are listed
as other debt investment. The Group lists other debt investment due within one year (including one year) from the
balance sheet date as non-current assets due within one year; as at acquiring date, other debt investments, that the
due dates are within one year (including one year), are listed as other current assets.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies and accounting estimates (continued)
(9) Financial instruments (continued)
(a) Financial assets (continued)
(i)  Classification and measurement (continued)
Measured at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”):

Those debt instruments held by the Group that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are measured
at FVTPL. At the initial recognition, for eliminating or dramatically reducing accounting mismatch, the Group
specifies parts of financial assets as those measured at fair value through current profit or loss. The Group lists those
expired for more than one year from the balance sheet date and expected to be held for more than one year as other
non-current financial assets, and listed others as financial assets held for trading.

Equity instruments

The Group recognizes its equity instruments that have no control, joint control and significant influence on the
fair value through profit or loss and list them as financial assets held for trading; the equity instruments that are
expected to be held for more than a year from the balance sheet date are listed as other non-current financial assets.

Besides, the Group specifies certain non-tradable equity instrument investments as financial assets that are
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income and presented as other equity instrument investments.
The relevant dividend income of such financial assets is included in the current profit and loss.

(ii)  Impairment

In terms of financial assets measured at amortised cost, investments in debt instruments at fair value through other
comprehensive income, the Group recognizes their loss provision on the basis of ECL.

Considering the reasonable and supportable information that is related to past events, current situation and
forecasting on future economic conditions, without incurring unnecessary additional costs and efforts on the balance
sheet date of the Group, based on the default risk weight, calculates the probability-weighted amount of the present
value of the difference between contractual cash flows receivable and cash flows expected to be received, so as to
recognize the ECL.

For notes receivable, and accounts receivable from sales of goods and rendering of services in the ordinary
course of operating activities, the Group recognises the lifetime ECL regardless of whether a significant financing
component exists.

In addition to the above notes receivable, accounts receivable, at each balance sheet date, the Group separately
calculates the ECL of financial instruments at different stage. Financial instruments whose credit risk did not
increase significantly after the initial recognition belong to stage 1 and the Group calculates their loss provision
based on the ECL in the next 12 months. Financial instruments whose credit risk increased significantly after the
initial recognition without credit impairment yet belong to stage 2 and the Group calculates their loss provision
based on the lifetime ECL. Financial instruments suffering from credit impairment since initial recognition belong
to stage 3 and the Group calculates their loss provision based on the lifetime ECL.

For the financial instruments with low credit risk at the balance sheet date, the Group assumes their credit risk did
not increase significantly after the initial recognition belong to stage 1 and calculates their loss provision based on
the ECL in the next 12 months.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies and accounting estimates (continued)
(9) Financial instruments (continued)
(a) Financial assets (continued)
(ii)  Impairment (continued)

For the financial instruments at stage 1 and stage 2, and those with low credit risk, the Group calculates their
interest income based on their book value before deducting provision for impairment and their effective interest
rate. For the financial instruments at stage 3, the Group calculates their interest income based on their amortised
cost, which is book value less the provision for impairment, and their effective interest rate.

The credit risk characteristics of various financial assets with expected credit losses calculated on single basis are
significantly different from those of other financial assets in this category. When a single financial asset is unable
to assess ECL at a reasonable cost, the Group classified receivables into certain groupings based on their credit risk
characteristics and calculated ECL based on the grouping basis. Basis for grouping is as follows:

Bank acceptance notes combination Banks with low credit risk

Accounts receivable combination Dealers, overdue date as the time for accounting
Accounts receivable combination Subsidiaries, overdue date as the time for accounting
Other receivables combination Guarantee deposits

Other receivables combination Receivables from subsidiaries

Other receivables combination Receivables from other entities

For accounts receivable on the grouping basis and notes receivable formed from daily operations such as sales of
goods and rendering of services, the Group calculates the ECL by referring to historical credit loss experience,
considering current situation and future economic conditions, and based on the exposure at default (“EAD”) and
lifetime ECL ratio. For other receivables on the grouping basis, the Group calculates the ECL by referring to
historical credit loss experience, considering current situation and future economic conditions, and based on the
EAD and the ECL ratio within 12 months or for the lifetime.

The Group recognizes provision for or reversal of losses in profit or loss for the current period. For debt instruments
at fair value through other comprehensive income, the Group recognizes impairment losses or gains into profit or
loss for the current period and adjusts other comprehensive income in the meanwhile.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies and accounting estimates (continued)
(9) Financial instruments (continued)
(a) Financial assets (continued)
(iii)  De-recognition of financial assets

A financial asset is derecognized when any of the below criteria is met: (1) the contractual rights to receive the
cash flows from the financial asset terminate; (2) the financial asset has been transferred and the Group transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset to the transferee; (3) the financial asset has
been transferred and the Group has not retained control of the financial asset, although the Group neither transfers
nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset.

When the investment of other equity instruments is de-recognized, the difference between carrying amount and
the sum of the consideration received and the change of fair value accumulated in the original direct accounting of
other comprehensive income shall be recorded into the retained earnings; when the recognition of other financial
assets is de-recognized, the difference between carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and the
change of fair value accumulated in the original direct accounting of other comprehensive income shall be recorded
into the current profit and loss.

(b)  Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are classified into financial liabilities at amortised cost and financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss at initial recognition.

Financial liabilities of the Group are mainly financial liabilities at amortised cost, including notes payable and accounts
payable, other payables, borrowings and etc. These financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value minus
transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Those with
maturities no more than one year are classified as current liabilities; those with maturities over one year but due within
one year at the balance sheet date are classified as the current portion of non-current liabilities; others are classified as
non-current liabilities.

A financial liability is derecognized or partly derecognized when the current obligation is discharged or partly discharged.
The difference between the carrying amount of the derecognized part of the financial liability and the consideration paid is
recognized in profit or loss.

(c) Equity instrument

An equity instrument is a contract that evidences ownership of a party’s residual interest in assets after deducting all
liabilities.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies and accounting estimates (continued)

(9) Financial instruments (continued)

(d)

Determination of fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of a financial instrument that is traded in an active market is determined at the quoted price in the active
market. The fair value of a financial instrument that is not traded in an active market is determined by using a valuation
technique when it is applicable under current conditions and there are enough available data and other information to
support. Those inputs should be consistent with the inputs a market participant would use when pricing the asset or
liability, and should maximize the use of relevant observable inputs. When related observable inputs can’t be acquired or
are not feasible to be acquired, then use unobservable inputs.

(10) Inventories

(@)

(b)

(©

(@

(e

Classification

Inventories comprise raw materials, packing materials, work in progress and finished goods, and are measured at the lower
of cost and net realizable value.

Cost formulas

Cost is determined using the weighted average method. The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprise raw
materials, direct labor and systematically allocated production overhead based on the normal production capacity.

Basis for determining net realizable values of inventories and method for making provision for decline in the value of
inventories

Provision for decline in the value of inventories is determined at the excess amount of the carrying amounts of the
inventories over their net realizable value. Net realizable value is determined based on the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs to completion and estimated costs necessary to make the sale and
related taxes. For inventories produced and sold in the same region and with the same or similar end-use, the Group
makes a consolidated provision for decline in the value of inventories.

The Group adopts the perpetual inventory system.

Amortization methods of low value consumables and packaging materials

Low value consumables and packaging materials are written off once used and amortised based upon amortization method

respectively.
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(1)

Summary of significant accounting policies and accounting estimates (continued)

Long-term equity investments

Long-term equity investment is comprised of the Company’s long-term equity investments in its subsidiaries, and the Group’s

long-term equity investments in its joint ventures and associates.

Subsidiaries are the investees over which the Company is able to exercise control. A joint venture is a joint arrangement which

is structured through a separate vehicle over which the Group has jointly control together with other parties and has rights to

the net assets of the arrangement based on legal forms, contractual terms and other facts and circumstances. An associate is the

investee over which the Group has significant influence by participating in the financial and operating policy decisions.

Investments in subsidiaries are presented in the Company’s financial statements using the cost method, and are adjusted to the

equity method when preparing the consolidated financial statements. Investments in joint ventures and associates are accounted

for using the equity method.

(@)

(®)

Determination of investment cost

For long-term equity investments acquired through a business combination involving enterprises under common control,
the investment cost shall be the absorbing party’s share of the carrying amount of shareholder’s equity of the party being
absorbed at the combination date; for long-term equity investment acquired through a business combination involving
enterprises not under common control, the investment cost shall be the combination cost.

For long-term equity investments acquired not through a business combination: for long-term equity investment acquired
by payment in cash, the initial investment cost shall be the purchase price actually paid; for long-term equity investments
acquired by issuing equity securities, the initial investment cost shall be the fair value of the equity securities issued.

Subsequent measurement and recognition of related profit and loss

Long-term equity investments accounted for using the cost method are measured at the initial investment costs, and cash
dividends or profit distribution declared by the investees are recognized as investment income in profit or loss.

For long-term equity investments accounted for using the equity method, where the initial investment cost of a long-term
equity investment exceeds the Group’s share of the fair value of the investee’s identifiable net assets at the acquisition
date, the long-term equity investment is measured at the initial investment cost; where the initial investment cost is less
than the Group’s share of the fair value of the investee’s identifiable net assets at the acquisition date, the difference is
included in profit or loss and the cost of the long-term equity investment is adjusted upwards accordingly.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies and accounting estimates (continued)

(11) Long-term equity investments (continued)

(®)

(©

(@

Subsequent measurement and recognition of related profit and loss (continued)

For long-term equity investments accounted for using the equity method, the Group recognizes the investment income
according to its share of net profit or loss of the investee. The Group discontinues recognising its share of net losses of
an investee after the carrying amount of the long-term equity investment together with any long-term interests that, in
substance, form part of the investor’s net investment in the investee are reduced to zero.

However, if the Group has obligations for additional losses and the criteria with respect to recognition of provisions under
the accounting standards in the contingencies are satisfied, the Group continues recognising the expected losses and the
provisions. For changes in shareholders’ equity of the investee other than those arising from its net profit or loss, other
comprehensive income, and profit distribution, the Group records its proportionate share directly into capital surplus. The
carrying amount of the investment is reduced by the Group’s share of the profit distribution or cash dividends declared by
an investee.

Unrealised gains or losses on transactions between the Group and its investees are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s
equity interests in the investees, based on which the investment income or losses are recognised on the Company’s
financial statements. When preparing the consolidated financial statements, for the portion of unrealised gains and
losses attributable to the Group arising from downstream transactions in which the Group invests or sells assets to the
investees, on the basis of the elimination result on the Company’s financial statements, the Group should eliminate the
portion of unrealised revenue and costs or asset disposal gains and losses attributable to the Group, and adjust investment
income or losses accordingly; for the portion of unrealised gains and losses attributable to the Group arising from the
upstream transactions in which the investees invest or sell assets to the Group, on the basis of the elimination result on
the Company’s financial statements, the Group should eliminate the portion of unrealised gains and losses included in the
carrying amount of the relevant assets, and adjust the carrying amount of long-term equity investments accordingly. Any
losses resulting from transactions between the Group and its investees, which are attributable to asset impairment losses
are not eliminated.

Basis for determining existence of control, jointly control or significant influence over investees

Control is the power to govern the financial and operating policies of the investee so as to obtain benefits from its
operating activities and can influence the amount.

Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control over an economic activity, and exists only when the strategic
financial and operating decisions relating to the activity require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not
control or joint control over those policies.

Impairment of long-term equity investments

The carrying amounts of long-term equity investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates are reduced to the
recoverable amounts when the recoverable amounts are below their carrying amounts (Note 2(18)).
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12)

13)

Summary of significant accounting policies and accounting estimates (continued)
Investment properties

Investment properties include leased land use rights and buildings that are held for the purpose of leasing, are measured at the
initial cost. Subsequent expenditures incurred in relation to an investment property are included in the cost of the investment
property when it is probable that the associated economic benefits will flow to the Group and their costs can be reliably
measured; otherwise, the expenditures are recognized in profit or loss in the period in which they are occurred.

The Group adopts cost model for subsequent measurement of all investment properties. Depreciation or amortization of
buildings and land use rights based on their estimated useful lives and net residual values. The estimated useful lives, the
estimated net residual values that are expressed as a percentage of cost and the depreciation (amortization) rates of investment
properties are as follows:

Estimated Estimated Annual

useful lives residual value depreciation rate

Buildings 20 - 40 years 3% to 5% 2.4% to 4.9%
Land use rights 50 years - 2.0%

When an investment property is transferred to owner-occupied properties, it is reclassified as fixed asset or intangible asset at
the date of transfer. When an owner-occupied property is transferred out for earning rentals or for capital appreciation, the fixed
asset or intangible asset is reclassified as investment properties at its carrying amount at the date of transfer. When transfer
occurs, the carrying amount before transfer is used as initial record value after transfer.

The investment property’s estimated useful life, net residual value and depreciation (amortization) method applied are reviewed
and adjusted as appropriate at each year end.

An investment property is derecognized when it is disposed or when it is permanently withdrawn from use and no future
economic benefits are expected from its disposal. The net amount of proceeds from sale, transfer, retirement or damage of an
investment property after its carrying amount and related taxes and expenses is recognized in profit or loss for the current period.

The carrying amount of investment properties shall be reduced to the recoverable amount if the recoverable amount is below the
carrying amount (Note 2(18)).

Fixed assets
(a) Recognition and initial measurement of fixed assets
Fixed assets comprise buildings, machinery and equipment, motor vehicles and other equipment.

Fixed assets are recognized when it is probable that the related economic benefits will flow to the Group and the costs can
be reliably measured. Fixed assets purchased or constructed by the Group are initially measured at cost at the acquisition
date. The fixed assets contributed by the State shareholders at the reorganization of the Company into a corporation entity
are recognized based on the revaluated amounts approved by the state-owned assets administration department.

Subsequent expenditures incurred for a fixed asset are included in the cost of the fixed asset when it is probable that the
associated economic benefits will flow to the Group and the related cost can be reliably measured. The carrying amount
of the replaced part is derecognized. All the other subsequent expenditures are recognized in profit or loss in the period in
which they are incurred.
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Summary of significant accounting policies and accounting estimates (continued)

(13) Fixed assets (continued)

(14)

(b)

(©

(d)

Depreciation methods of fixed assets

Fixed assets are depreciated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost of the assets to their estimated residual
values over their estimated useful lives. For the fixed assets that have been provided for impairment loss, the related
depreciation charge is prospectively determined based upon the adjusted carrying amounts over their remaining useful
lives.

The estimated useful lives, the estimated residual values expressed as a percentage of cost and the annual depreciation
rates of fixed assets are as follows:

Estimated Estimated Annual

useful lives residual value depreciation rate

Buildings 20 - 40 years 3% to 5% 2.4% to 4.9%
Machinery and equipment 5 - 14 years 3% to 5% 6.8% to 19.4%
Motor vehicles 5 - 12 years 3% to 5% 7.9% to 19.4%
Other equipment 5-10 years 3% to 5% 9.5% to 19.4%

The estimated useful lives, the estimated residual value of a fixed asset and the depreciation method applied to the asset
are reviewed, and adjusted as appropriate at each year-end.

The carrying amount of fixed assets shall be reduced to the recoverable amount if the recoverable amount is below the
carrying amount (Note 2(18)).

Disposal of fixed assets
A fixed asset is derecognized on disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. The

amount of proceeds from disposals on sale, transfer, retirement or damage of a fixed asset net of its carrying amount and
related taxes and expenses are recognized in profit or loss for the current period.

Construction in progress

Construction in progress is measured at actual cost. Actual cost comprises construction costs, installation costs, borrowing costs

that are eligible for capitalization and other costs necessary to bring the fixed assets ready for their intended use. Construction

in progress is transferred to fixed assets when the assets are ready for their intended use, and depreciation begins from the

following month. The carrying amount of construction in progress is reduced to the recoverable amount when the recoverable

amount is below the carrying amount (Note 2(18)).
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s)

(16)

Summary of significant accounting policies and accounting estimates (continued)
Borrowing costs

The borrowing costs incurred in the Group that are directly attributable to the acquisition and construction of an asset that
needs a substantially long period of time for its intended use commence to be capitalized and recorded as part of the cost of the
asset when expenditures for the asset and borrowing costs have been incurred, and the activities relating to the acquisition and
construction that are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use have commenced. The capitalization of borrowing costs
ceases when the asset under acquisition or construction becomes ready for its intended use and the borrowing costs incurred
thereafter are recognized in profit or loss for the current period. Capitalization of borrowing costs is suspended during periods in
which the acquisition or construction of a fixed asset is interrupted abnormally and the interruption lasts for more than 3 months,
until the acquisition or construction is resumed.

For the specific borrowings obtained for the acquisition or construction of an asset qualifying for capitalization, the amount of
borrowing costs eligible for capitalization is determined by deducting any interests income earned from depositing the unused
specific borrowings in the banks or any investment income arising on the temporary investment of those borrowings during the
capitalization period.

For the general borrowings obtained for the acquisition or construction of an asset qualifying for capitalization, the amount
of borrowing costs eligible for capitalization is determined by applying the weighted average effective interest rate of general
borrowings, to the weighted average of the excess amount of cumulative expenditures on the asset over the amount of specific
borrowings. The effective interest rate is the rate at which the estimated future cash flows during the period of expected duration
of the borrowings or applicable shorter period are discounted to the initial amount of the borrowings.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets comprise land use rights, trademarks, marketing networks, computer software, technology known-how and
others. All intangible assets are measured at cost. The intangible assets contributed by the State-owned shareholders at the time
of reform of corporate system into a corporation are recognized based on the revaluated amounts approved by the state-owned
assets administration department.

(a) Land use rights

Land use rights are amortised on the straight-line basis over their approved useful period from 30 to 50 years. If the
acquisition costs of the land use rights and the buildings located thereon cannot be reasonably allocated between the land
use rights and the buildings, all of the acquisition costs are recognized as fixed assets.

(b) Trademarks

Trademarks mainly include the “TSINGTAO BEER” trademark which was injected by the founding shareholders into the
Company on 16 June 1993 as their capital contributions. The recorded value of the trademark was assessed based on the
results of the valuation approved by state-owned assets administration department. Based on the forecast of beer industry
and the business position of the Company, the directors are of the view that the “TSINGTAO BEER” trademark has an
indefinite useful life, accordingly, it is not subject to amortization but annual impairment assessments.

Other trademarks were acquired as a result of acquisitions of certain subsidiaries. They are amortised over their estimated
useful lives ranging from 5 to 10 years.
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(16)

Summary of significant accounting policies and accounting estimates (continued)

Intangible assets (continued)

(©

(d)

(e)

(2

(h)

Marketing networks

Marketing networks are the distribution channel identified in the process of business combination of the Company, which
are amortised over their estimated useful lives with a range of 5 to 10 years using the straight-line method.

Computer software

Computer software are amortised over their estimated useful lives ranging from 5 to 10 years.

Technology known-how

Technology known-how is amortised on the straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of 10 years.

Periodical review of useful life and amortization method

For an intangible asset with a finite useful life, review of its useful life and amortization method is performed at each
year-end, with adjustment made as appropriate.

Research and development

Research and development expenditures mainly include expenditures on materials consumed for the implementation of
research and development activities, salaries of employees in the research and development department, depreciation
and amortisation of assets such as equipment and software used in research and development, research and development
testing and research and development technical service fees.

Expenditure on the research phase, such as planned investigation, evaluation and selection for improvement of the beer
technology, is recognized in profit or loss in the period when it is incurred. Expenditure on the development phase, such
as the designing and testing for the final application of the beer technology before the large-scale production, should be
capitalized only if all of the following conditions satisfied:

. The development of the beer technology has been sufficiently proved by the technical team;

. The budget relating to the beer technology improvement has been approved by the management;

. It can be demonstrated that the products due to beer technology improvement have potential market from previous
marketing investigation;

. There are adequate technical and financial resources for improvement of the beer technology and the large-scale
production;

. The expenditure attributable to the improvement of beer technology during its development phase can be liable
measured.

Other development expenditures that do not meet the conditions above are recognized in profit or loss in the period
in which they are incurred. Development costs previously recognized as expenses are not recognized as an asset in a
subsequent period. Capitalized expenditure on the development phase is presented as development costs in the balance
sheet and transferred to intangible assets at the date that the asset is ready for its intended use.

Impairment of intangible assets

The carrying amount of intangible assets is reduced to the recoverable amount when the recoverable amount is below the
carrying amount (Note 2(18)).
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7)

(18)

(19)

Summary of significant accounting policies and accounting estimates (continued)
Long-term prepaid expenses

Long-term prepaid expenses comprise the expenditure for improvements to right-to-use assets, and other expenditures that
have been incurred but should be recognized as expenses over more than one year in the current and subsequent periods. Long-
term prepaid expenses are amortised on the straight-line basis over the expected beneficial period and are presented at actual
expenditure net of accumulated amortization.

Impairment of long-term assets

Fixed assets, constructions in progress, right-of-use assets, intangible assets with finite useful lives, investing properties
measured at cost method and long-term equity investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates are tested for
impairment if there is any indication that the assets may be impaired at the balance sheet date. The intangible assets not ready
for intended use and the intangible assets have indefinite useful life are treated at least annually for impairment, irrespective
of whether there are any indications of impairment. If the result of the impairment test indicates that the recoverable amount
of an asset is less than its carrying amount, a provision for impairment and an impairment loss are recognized for the amount
by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair
value less costs to sell and the present value of the future cash flows expected to be derived from the asset. Provision for asset
impairment is determined and recognized on the individual asset basis. If it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
of an individual asset, the recoverable amount of a group of assets to which the asset belongs is determined. A group of assets is
the smallest group of assets that is able to generate independent cash inflows.

Goodwill that is separately presented in the financial statements is tested at least annually for impairment, irrespective of
whether there is any indication that it may be impaired. In conducting the test, the carrying value of goodwill is allocated to
the related group of assets or group of asset combinations which are expected to benefit from the synergies of the business
combination. If the result of the impairment test indicates that the recoverable amount of an asset group or a group of assets
groups, including the allocated goodwill, is lower than its carrying amount, the corresponding impairment losses is recognised.
The impairment loss is first deducted from the carrying amount of goodwill that is allocated to the group of assets or group of
asset combinations, and then deducted from the carrying amounts of other assets within the group of assets or groups of asset
combinations in proportion to the carrying amounts of assets other than goodwill.

Once the above asset impairment loss is recognized, it will not be reversed for the value recovered in the subsequent periods.
Employee benefits

Employee benefits include short-term employee benefits, post-employment benefits, termination benefits and other long-term
employee benefits provided in various forms of remuneration in exchange for service rendered by employees or compensations
for the termination of employment relationship.

(a)  Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits include employee wages or salaries, bonus, allowances and subsidies, staff welfare,
premiums or contributions on medical insurance, work injury insurance and maternity insurance, housing funds, union
running costs and employee education costs. The employee benefits liabilities are recognized in the accounting period in
which the service is rendered by the employees, with a corresponding charge to the profit or loss for the current period or
the cost of relevant assets. Employee benefits which are non-monetary benefits are measured at fair value.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies and accounting estimates (continued)

(19) Employee benefits (continued)

(®)

Post-employment benefits

The Group classifies post-employment benefits plans as either defined contribution plans or defined benefit plans. Defined
contribution plans are post-employment benefits plan under which the Group pays fixed contributions into a separate fund
and will have no obligation to pay further contributions; and defined benefit plans are supplemental post-employment
benefits plan that are not defined contribution plan. During the reporting period, the Group post-employment benefits
mainly include defined contribution plans such as basic pension, unemployment insurance, enterprise annuity, and which
belong to supplemental post-employment benefits plan.

As at 31 December 2023, regarding the defined contribution plans, the Group had no forfeited contributions (by employers
on behalf of employees who leave the defined contribution plan prior to vesting in such contributions) to reduce the
existing level and future level of contributions. No plan assets have been created for the defined benefit plan. Therefore,
no relevant information about the market value of plan assets, the level of funding, or material surplus or deficiency could
be disclosed.

Basic pension insurance

The employees of the Group participated in the basic social pension insurance organised and implemented by the local
labor and social security departments. The Group pays the basic social pension insurance to related local agencies
monthly, following the demanding proportion and base. When the employees retire, the local labor and social security
departments have obligations to pay the entire basic social pension. When an employee has rendered service to the Group
during the accounting period, the Group should recognize liabilities and costs of assets or expenses.

Enterprise annuity

The Group launched the enterprise annuity plan since 1 October 2023 in accordance with the state’s enterprise annuity
regulations. After implementation of the enterprise annuity plan, the Group accrue annuity for employees who meet
certain criteria according to a certain proportion of total salary apart from basic pension insurance. During the accounting
period in which employees provide services, the amount calculated in line with the above-mentioned proportion is
recognised as liabilities and is included into profit or loss for the current period.

Supplemental post-employment benefits plan.

In addition to the basic social pension plans, the Group also provides supplementary post-employment benefits to those
employees qualified for certain criteria. Such supplementary benefits are classified as defined benefit plans. The defined
benefit obligation recognized in the balance sheet is the present value of the defined benefit obligation, net of the fair
value of plan assets. The defined benefit obligation is calculated by an independently actuary using the Projected Unit
Credit method and applying interests rates of government bonds that have similar currency and terms to maturity to those
of the related pension obligation. The service cost and net interest income related to supplemental post-employment
benefits are recognized as assets or expenses, and actuarial gains or losses arising from re-measurement of net defined
benefit obligation is recognized as other comprehensive income.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies and accounting estimates (continued)
(19) Employee benefits (continued)
(¢c) Termination benefits

The Group provides compensation for terminating the employment relationship with employees before the end of the
employment contracts or as an offer to encourage employees to accept voluntary redundancy before the end of the
employment contracts. The Group recognizes a liability arising from compensation for termination of the employment
relationship with employees, with a corresponding charge to profit or loss at the earlier of the following dates: 1) when
the Group cannot unilaterally withdraw the offer of termination benefits because of an employment termination plan or
a curtailment proposal; 2) when the Group recognizes costs or expenses related to the restructuring that involves the
payment of termination benefits.

Early retirement benefits

The Group offers early retirement benefits to those employees who accept early retirement arrangements. The early
retirement benefits refer to the salaries and social security contributions to be paid to and for the employees who
accept voluntary retirement before the normal retirement date prescribed by the State, as approved by the management.
The Group pays early retirement benefits to those early retired employees from the early retirement date until normal
retirement date. The Group accounts for the early retirement benefits in accordance with the treatment of termination
benefits, in which the salaries and social security contributions to be paid to and for the early retired employees from the
off-duty date to the normal retirement date are recognized as liabilities with a corresponding charge to the profit or loss for
the current period. The differences arising from the changes in the respective actuarial assumptions of the early retirement
benefits and the adjustments of benefit standards are recognized in profit or loss in the period in which they occur.

The termination benefits expected to be paid within one year since the balance sheet date are classified as employee
benefits payable.

(20) Dividends distribution
Cash dividend is recognized as a liability for the period in which the dividend is approved by Annual General Meeting.
(21) Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognized by the Group based on the amount of consideration that is expected to be charged when clients obtain the
control of relative goods and services.

Sale of goods

The Group manufactures and sells beer products to the regional dealers. Based on contracts, the Group delivers beer products
to dealers. After the acceptance of the goods and signing of the goods delivery lists by the dealers, the Group recognizes the net
amount after deducting consideration payable to the customer as revenue. The majority of the Group’s domestic sales are made
on a pre-payment basis or by granting dealers a credit period of 30 - 100 days and there is no significant financing component.

After signing contracts with dealers and receiving orders, the Group recognizes the amount of contract consideration received
from the dealers as contract liabilities before delivering products to dealers.




282

HE MW 4 A R A A TSINGTAO BREWERY CO., LTD.

Notes to Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts in RMB Yuan unless otherwise stated)

2

(22)

Summary of significant accounting policies and accounting estimates (continued)
Government Grants

Government grants are transfers of monetary or non-monetary assets from the government to the Group at nil consideration,
including relocation compensation and financial subsidies, etc.

A government grant is recognized when the conditions attached to it can be satisfied and the government grant can be received.
For a government grant in the form of transfer of monetary assets, the grant is measured at the amount received or to be
received. For a government grant in the form of transfer of non-monetary assets, it is measured at fair value; if the fair value is
not reliably determinable, the grant is measured at nominal amount.

Government grants related to assets are those obtained for forming long-term assets by purchase, construction or acquisition in
other ways. Grants related to income are government grants other than those related to assets.

The Group recognizes government grants related to assets as deferred income and apportions to profit or loss in a systemic
manner over the useful lives of the relevant assets.

For government grants related to income, where the grant is a compensation for related expenses or losses to be incurred in
the subsequent periods, the grant is recognized as deferred income, and included in profit or loss over the periods in which the
related costs are recognized; where the grant is a compensation for related expenses or losses already incurred by the Group, the
grant is recognized immediately in profit or loss for the current period.

The Group presents similar types of government grants consistently in the financial statements.

Government grants that are related to daily activities are included in operating profit, otherwise, they are recorded in non-
operating income or expenses.

The relocation compensations received directly from the government in terms of fiscal budget, which are due to the overall
planning of the town, reservoir construction, shanty areas rebuilding, subsidence area management and other public interests,
are recognized as payables for specific projects. The payables for specific projects, which attributes to the compensations for the
losses on disposal of fixed assets and intangible assets, the expensed expenditure, the downtime losses and the new purchased
and constructed assets after the relocation, in the process of the relocation and rebuilding, are transferred to deferred income and
accounted for in accordance with the regulation of government grant. The excess of relocation compensation over the amount
transferred to deferred income is recognized as capital reserve.
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(23)

(24)

Summary of significant accounting policies and accounting estimates (continued)
Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are calculated and recognized based on the differences arising between the
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts (temporary differences). Deferred tax asset is recognized for the
deductible losses that can be carried forward to subsequent years for deduction of the taxable profit in accordance with the
tax laws. No deferred tax liability is recognized for a temporary difference arising from the initial recognition of goodwill.
Corresponding deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities are not recognised for temporary differences
arising from the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in transactions other than business combinations that affect neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit (or deductible losses) and whose initial recognition of assets and liabilities does not result in
the creation of taxable temporary differences and deductible temporary differences of an equivalent amount. At the balance sheet
date, deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when
the asset is realized or the liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are only recognized for deductible temporary differences, deductible losses and tax credits to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profit will be available in the future against which the deductible temporary differences, deductible
losses and tax credits can be utilized.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for temporary differences arising from investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures, except where the Group is able to control the timing of reversal of the temporary difference, and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. When it is probable that the temporary differences arising from
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures will be reversed in the foreseeable future and that the taxable profit
will be available in the future against which the temporary differences can be utilized, the corresponding deferred tax assets are
recognized.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when:

The deferred taxes are related to the same tax payer within the Group and the same taxation authority; and
. tax payer within the Group has a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities.

Share-based payment

The restricted share incentive plan of the Group refers to share-based payment which settled with the equity instruments of the
Company granted by the Group as consideration to relevant incentive objects.

For equity-settled share-based payment transactions, the Group shall measure the services received, and the corresponding
increase in equity directly, at the fair value of the services received. If the right can be vested immediately after the grant, it
shall be measured at fair value through current profit or loss on grant date, and the capital surplus shall be increased accordingly;
The equity instruments granted do not vest until the counterparty achieve a specified performance condition during the vesting
period, on each balance sheet date of the vesting period, the Group makes the best estimate based on the latest information
of the number of employees available for exercise, or whether the Group meets the required performance conditions. On this
basis, according to the fair value of equity instrument on grant date, the Group shall recognize the services to be rendered by
the counterparty in current profit or loss based on the most likely outcome of exercisable equity instrument during the vesting
period, with a corresponding confirmation of capital surplus.

The Group will not recognize the cost or expense for share-based payments that fail to meet the viable conditions ultimately,
unless the vesting conditions are market conditions or non-viable conditions. No matter whether the market conditions or non-
viable conditions are met, as long as meeting all of the non-market conditions, it will be regarded as the vested right.

283



284

HE MW 4 A R A A TSINGTAO BREWERY CO., LTD.

Notes to Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts in RMB Yuan unless otherwise stated)

2

(24)

(25)

Summary of significant accounting policies and accounting estimates (continued)
Share-based payment (continued)

If the fair value of the equity instruments granted increase after the Group modifies the terms of the share-based payment plan,
the Group shall recognize the increase of services obtained according to the difference between the fair value of the equity
instruments before and after the modification. If the Group modifies the terms of the options in a manner favourable to the
employees, the Group accounts for the options in accordance with the modified terms of the options; if the Group modifies
the terms of the options in a manner unfavourable to the employees, this is not taken into account in the accounting, unless
the Group cancels some or all of the equity instruments granted. If the Group cancels the granted equity instrument, it will be
treated as accelerated exercise on the cancellation date, and the amount that should have been recognized during the remaining
vesting period will be immediately included in the current profit and loss, and the capital surplus will be recognized accordingly.

If the Group needs to repurchase the restricted shares that failed to be unlocked and invalid at the preagreed repurchase price,
the Group shall recognize the liabilities and treasury stocks according to the number of restricted shares and the corresponding
repurchase price.

Lease
Leases is a contract in which the lessor transfers the use rights of assets to the lessee to obtain consideration for a certain period.
The Group as the lessee

The Group recognizes the right-of-use assets at the starting date of the lease term, and recognizes the lease liabilities at the
present value of the outstanding lease payment. Lease payments include fixed payments and payments to be made if it is
reasonably certain that the option to purchase or terminate will be exercised. The variable rent determined according to a certain
proportion of sale shall be recognized in profit or loss instead of being included in the lease payment when actually incurred.
The Group lists the lease liabilities paid within one year (including one year) from the balance sheet date as current portion of
non-current liabilities.

The Group’s right-of-use assets include leased buildings, land use rights, machinery and equipment etc. The right-of-use asset is
initially measured according to the cost, which includes the initial measurement amount of the lease liability, the lease payment
paid on or before the starting date of the lease term, the initial direct expense and etc., and deducts the lease incentive received.
When the Group can reasonably determine the ownership of the leased asset upon expiration of the lease term, depreciation is
recognized within the remaining useful life of the leased asset. If it is impossible to reasonably determine whether the ownership
of the leased asset can be acquired at the end of the lease term, the depreciation is calculated within the shorter period between
the lease term and the remaining useful life of the leased asset. The carrying amount of the right-of-use asset is reduced to the
recoverable amount when the recoverable amount is below the carrying amount.
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Summary of significant accounting policies and accounting estimates (continued)
Lease (continued)
The Group as the lessee (continued)

For short-term leases, whose lease period is no more than 12 months, and low-value asset leases, which the value of brand-new
individual asset is low, the Group chooses not to recognize the right-of-use assets or lease liabilities. The relevant rent expenses
are recognized into the current profit or loss or the cost of relevant assets by straight-line method during each period of the lease
term.

The Group shall treat the lease as a separate item, when the lease is changed and meets the following conditions: (1) The scope
of leasing is expanded by adding the right to use one or more leased assets; (2) the increased consideration is equivalent to the
amount of the separate price of the extended lease scope according to the contract.

When a lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease, the Group re-establishes the lease term on the effective date
of the lease modification and re-measures the lease liability by discounting the modified lease payments using a revised discount
rate, except for contractual modifications that can be accounted for using a simplified method as stipulated by the Ministry of
Finance. Where a lease modification results in a reduction in the scope of the lease or a shortening of the lease term, the Group
reduces the carrying value of the right-of-use asset accordingly and recognises the gain or loss related to partial or complete
termination of the lease in profit or loss for the current period. If other lease modifications result in the remeasurement of the
lease liability, the Group adjusts the carrying value of the right-of-use asset accordingly.

The Group as the lessor

A financial lease is a lease that substantially transfers almost all the risks and rewards related to the ownership of an asset. An
operating lease is a lease other than a financial lease.

When the Group operatingly lease out self-owned buildings, machinery equipments and land use rights, the rental income from
the operating lease shall be recognized in accordance with the straight-line basis over the lease period.

When a lease is changed, the Group regards it as a new lease from the effective date of the change, and treats the amount of
advance or receivable lease payments related to the lease before the change as the amount of the new lease.

Segment information

The Group identifies operating segments based on the internal organization structure, management requirements and internal
reporting system, and discloses segment information of reportable segments which is determined on the basis of operating
segments.

An operating segment is a component of the Group that satisfies all of the following conditions: (1) the component is able to
generate revenues and incur expenses from its ordinary activities; (2) whose operating results are regularly reviewed by the
Group’s management to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and to assess its performance; and (3) for
which the information on financial position, operating results and cash flows is available to the Group. If two or more operating
segments have similar economic characteristics and satisfy certain conditions, they are aggregated into one single operating
segment.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies and accounting estimates (continued)
(27) Critical accounting estimates and judgments

The Group continually evaluates the critical accounting estimates and key judgments applied based on historical experience and
other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable.

(a) Critical accounting estimates and key assumptions

The critical accounting estimates and key assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next accounting year are outlined below:

(i)  Accounting estimates on impairment of goodwill

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any impairment. The recoverable amount of asset group
or group of asset groups is the higher of fair value less the cost of disposal and the present value of the future cash
flows expected to be derived from them. These calculations require use of estimates (Note 4(16)).

If management revises the sales growth rate during the forecast period, perpetual growth rate, gross margin or the
pre-tax discount rate that is used in the calculation of the future cash flows of group of assets and group of asset
combinations, and the revised sales growth rate during the forecasts period is lower than the one currently used, the
revised perpetual growth rate is lower than the one currently used, gross margin is lower than the one currently used
or the revised pre-tax discount rate is higher than the one currently applied, the Group would need to recognize
further impairment against goodwill. If the actual sales growth rate during the forecast period, perpetual growth rate
and gross margin is higher or pre-tax discount rate is lower than management’s estimates, the impairment loss of
goodwill previously provided for is not allowed to be reversed by the Group.

(ii)  Accounting estimates on impairment of fixed assets

According to the accounting policies stated in Note 2(18), the Group tests whether fixed assets have suffered any
impairment on the balance sheet date. The recoverable amounts of the fixed assets is the higher of fair value less
the cost of disposal and the present value of the future cash flows expected to be derived from the asset. These
calculations require the use of accounting estimates.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group recognized impairment losses of 79,527,094 (2022: 26,123,742)
for fixed assets based on such evaluation. As at 31 December 2023, the Group recognized the cumulative provision
for fixed assets impairment amounting to 594,456,776 (31 December 2022: 551,176,919) (Note 4(12)).

If management revises the growth rate, gross margin or the pre-tax discount rate that is used in the calculation
of the future cash flows of group of assets, and the revised growth rate is lower than the one currently used, the
revised gross margin is lower than the one currently used or the revised pre-tax discount rate is higher than the one
currently applied, the Group would need to recognize further impairment against fixed assets. If the actual growth
rate and gross margin is higher or pre-tax discount rate is lower than management’s estimates, the impairment loss
of fixed assets previously provided for is not allowed to be reversed by the Group.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies and accounting estimates (continued)
(27) Critical accounting estimates and judgments (continued)
(a) Critical accounting estimates and key assumptions (continued)
(iii) Accounting estimates on recognition of deferred tax assets

The estimates of deferred tax assets require estimates over future taxable profit and corresponding appl